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9:00 A.M.
7375 Utilities Road, Building 313, Punta Gorda, FL

AGENDA
1. Call to Order: Reminder to turn off your cell phones
2. Invocation: For those who wish to join, please rise for the invocation.
3. Pledge of Allegiance
4. Roll Call
5. Citizen’s Input: Anyone wishing to address the Board during this portion should state their
name for the record. Each citizen is allowed up to two minutes to express their opinion.
6. Additions and/or Deletions to the Agenda
7. Employee Service Recognition

Ms. Desguin

8. Consent Agenda: All matters listed under this item are considered routine and action will be
accomplished by one motion without separate discussion of each item. If discussion is desired
by a Commissioner, item(s) will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered
separately.
Secretary/Treasurer
Minutes Regular Meeting – April 18, 2019
9. Secretary/Treasurer’s Report
a. Accounts Receivables
b. Income Statement
c. Balance Sheet

Mrs. Coppola
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish

10. Liaison Reports
a. Punta Gorda City Council
b. Board of County Commissioners
c. Metropolitan Planning Organization
d. Community
e. State Legislation
f. Legislative Update

Mr. Hancik
Mr. Herston
Mr. Andrews
Mrs. Coppola
Chair Seay
Jerry Paul

11. Attorney’s Report

Attorney Carr

12. CEO’s Report
a. Development Update
b. Marketing Update
c. Aviation Report
d. Leasing Update
e. FAC 2019

Mr. Parish
Mr. Ridenour
Mrs. Miller
Mr. Mallard
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish

13. Old Business
14. New Business
a. Audit Presentation
b. Move Budget Workshop
c. General Aviation Center Restaurant RFP
d. Ground Transportation Concession RFP

Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish
Mr. Parish

15. Citizen’s Input: Anyone wishing to address the Board during this portion should state their
name for the record. Each citizen is allowed up to two minutes to express their opinion.
16. Commissioner’s Comments
a. Aircraft Hanger Development
b. Public Private Partnerships
17. Adjournment

Mr. Hancik
Chair Seay

Agenda items for May 16, 2019 Meeting
A copy of all the attachments are at www.flypgd.com/airport-authority/meeting-minutes-and-agendas/
13. Old Business
14. New Business
a. Audit Presentation – Presented by Tuscan & Company.
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve audit report.
b. Move Budget Workshop – The current Budget Workshop is scheduled for 9 A.M. on
August 1, 2019 but Mr. Parish will be unavailable that week. It is suggested that the Budget
Workshop be moved one week to 9 A.M. on Thursday, August 8 or Friday, August 9. It
cannot be moved a week prior as Mrs. Cauley will be unavailable.
Staff Recommended Action: Board discretion.
c. General Aviation Center Restaurant RFP – The Authority will be seeking potential
Restauranteurs interested in funding, designing, developing, constructing, operating and
maintaining a restaurant, bar and catering service at the Airport’s new General Aviation
Center that will be located on the north end of airport property off Challenger Boulevard.
The Authority will make the Request for Proposals (RFP) available Aug. 1, 2019 and will
be due on Sept. 6, 2019. The proposals will be reviewed by a selection committee and
scored, and then discussed and selected at the Sept.19, 2019 Authority Board meeting.
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve staff to move forward with draft RFP for the
General Aviation Center Restaurant.
d. Ground Transportation Concession RFP – For better customer service and satisfaction,
staff would prefer one single company, in addition to rideshare service provided by Uber
and Lyft, for ground transportation.
Staff Recommended Action: Board approve staff to move forward with draft RFP for a
single ground transportation service.
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1. Call to Order
2.
10

Invocation
Chair Herston gave the invocation.

3. Pledge of Allegiance
4. Roll Call
15
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Present: Chair Seay; Commissioners Andrews, Herston, Hancik, Coppola; CEO Parish;
Attorney Carr; Ms. Hendren; Ms. Desguin; Mr. Laroche; Mr. Mallard; Mr. Ridenour; Mrs.
Cauley; Mrs. Miller; Mrs. Harper, Mr. Hafenbreidel. Others present: Jim Kaletta;
Councilwoman Carey; Gary Harrell; Commissioner Deutsch; Scott Brady; Dave Gammon;
Mark Kistler; Frank Rodriguez; Councilman Cummings; Richard Pitz, others from the private
sector and a member of the press.
5. Citizen’s Input
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Councilman Jaha – Spoke in support of the Intrepid Aerospace project. He commented that
approximately a year ago he was contacted regarding a company that was licensed to do
limited frame maintenance services, that they were looking to expand into the area, and that
he opines it will benefit the region to have an MRO facility at the Airport. He commented that
he met with the office of Economic Opportunity, who connected him with Space Florida, who
would like to be involved with the Airport as they have an interest in doing anything outside
of Brevard County, FL. He commented that it’s ideal to augment funds for building the full
MRO facility through the Atlanta Economic Development Regional Office and Space Florida
and that he’s spoke with Senator Albritton and Representative Grant regarding next years
appropriation cycle. He spoke on a packet of information that he gave to the Board regarding
an example of the placement benefit of a facility located in Lake Charles, Louisiana that has
an Airport of similar size and location. He opined that the example is a very good model in
terms of visioning how an MRO can be integrated into the Airport’s long-term plan and that
he supports the Intrepid Aerospace project.
6. Additions and/or Deletions to the Agenda
7. Employee Recognition

45

On behalf of Gregory “Michael” Thames, Mr. Hafenbreidel accepted a five year of service
award. On behalf of George “Donnie” Rawls, Mr. Laroche accepted a five year of service
award. Both managers spoke highly of their employee.
8. Consent Agenda
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Commissioner Andrews motioned to approve the Consent Agenda. Commissioner
Herston seconded. Motion passed unanimously.
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9. Secretary/Treasurer’s Report
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Mr. Parish reported that everything looks good, the budget estimates continue to be met, and
that as expected, traffic has increased the past two months. He commented that an updated
accounts receivables list has been provided and that everyone on the list has paid at least a
portion of their overdue payments. Regarding the balance sheet, he commented that
depreciation is being covered for the first time and that funds for building repairs and
maintenance continue to rise. Commissioner Herston inquired if the Airport will reimburse a
Commissioner when they attend a county function that involves a fee. Mr. Parish commented
that it depends on what the function is as certain things that benefit the Airport are reimbursed
but the political clubs are not. Commissioner Coppola commented that the County provided
free tickets to the baseball game, which cost her $10 to park, and inquired if the parking is
covered. Mr. Parish commented that the best option to find that answer would be to ask the
Auditor or Legal Counsel. Commissioner Herston inquired as to why the net non-operating
expenses on the January income statement are $1.4 million over budget. Mr. Parish
commented that the Airport received a building at the end of its lease and that the $1.4 million
is the value of the building being added to the books. Commissioner Herston inquired why
the February check register is showing a transfer of $8.5 million dollars. Mr. Parish
commented that money was moved, with each Commissioner’s signature, from SunTrust
Bank to Centennial Bank. He commented that the Airport was receiving 1/10th of a percent in
interest at SunTrust Bank and that the Airport is receiving approximately 2.4 percent through
Centennial Bank in a government insured money market account. He commented that staff
has unsuccessfully been working with SunTrust Bank for years to have the percentage
increased. Attorney Carr commented that SunTrust Bank is being purchased by BB&T.

25
10. Liaison Reports
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a) Punta Gorda City Council – Commissioner Hancik reported that there is nothing relating
to the Airport. Chair Seay inquired if there was anything related to pickleball.
Commissioner Hancik commented that he read in the paper that someone had a stroke due
to the pickleball noise at Gilchrist Park. Chair Seay commented that if the Airport had a
pickleball court, no one would notice the noise.
b) Board of County Commissioners – Commissioner Herston reported that he attended the
City of Punta Gorda meeting, that there was a report from sound experts saying that the
impact of the ball and paddle is what causes people stress and opined that the world needs
a silent pickleball paddle. He commented that he doesn’t have a chance to attend the Board
of County Commissioner meetings as they run long and that he has not heard or has
knowledge of any areas of concern for the Airport.
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c) Metropolitan Planning Organization – Commissioner Andrews reported that he
attended the March 25th MPO meeting that did not include anything Airport specific but
did include issues pertaining to the County and its residents. He commented that all MPO’s
are required to prepare a two-year Unified Work Plan, that the FY 2018-19 / FY 2019-20
plan was approved by the MPO in 2018 and that federal regulations govern the types of
eligible activities for state funding. He commented that a motion to amend the MPO’s
Unified Work Plan to reobligate $39,500 from FY 2018-19 into FY 2019-20 carried. He
reported on the TIP program, the 2045 Long-Range Transportation Plan, the consultant
selection for the TDP update, and the Taylor Road Shared Use Path PD&E Study. He
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commented that he attended the MPO-AC Institute and that the MPO has been a very
enjoyable experience so far.
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d) Community – Commissioner Coppola reported that the Charlotte Sun Newspaper wrote
an article regarding PGD being the third fastest growing Airport in the United States, that
there was a nice article in the “Viewpoint” section of the paper and that the GFWC
Woman’s Club is searching for romance paperback novels to send to women soldiers
oversea. She commented on her attendance at the Charlotte-Desoto Republican Club,
Peace River Republican Club, Republican Executive Committee, an Economic
Development luncheon, her tour of a sewer treatment plant, free tickets she received for
the Charlotte Baseball Park, the Republican Women’s Forum, Piper Road Ribbon Cutting,
Sheriff’s award luncheon, the Thunderbirds reception at AirTrek, and that she celebrated
her birthday by visiting Painting With a Twist and the Escape Room in Punta Gorda.
e) State Legislation – Chair Seay reported that she and Mr. Parish went to Tallahassee to
speak with representatives and FDOT, including Aaron Smith and Nick Harwell to discuss
current and future projects that might qualify for funding. She opined that it was a very
productive meeting and that FDOT is now aware of many projects that will be going on
in the future. She reported that they met with Senator Albritton, Representative Michael
Grant, Dana Young from Visit Florida, Enterprise Florida, and Jerry Paul, whom were all
impressed with the article from the Charlotte Sun Newspaper, to discuss expectations from
the legislation delegation. She commented that legislation has given every indication that
they will be supportive when the Airport is in need of their assistance for Master Plan
projects, mostly due to their being a return on investment. She spoke of her experience
regarding the trip to Tallahassee on Silver Airways and opined that the Airport should
look at intrastate flights out of PGD.
11. Attorney’s Report
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Attorney Carr report that most matters have been closed out, except for one land acquisition
for the property North of runway 22. He reported that he has been in discussion with DOT
and Charlotte County regarding closing Pelican Road, that he is working on the subleasing of
the WMU property, and that there is no pending litigation. Mr. Parish commented that there
may be one pending litigation regarding rodents. Attorney Carr commented that a customer
has threatened to call their lawyer regarding a $220 repair bill for rodent damage to their
vehicle that they allege occurred on Airport property. He commented that he has not received
a lawsuit for the matter yet. Commissioner Coppola inquired if there are any fruit trees on the
property. Chair Seay commented that rodents do get into palm trees. Commissioner Herston
inquired if the closing of Pelican Road extends out to Country Road. Attorney Carr
commented that it does not as it’s just a portion that runs along the IDA property and opines
that he doesn’t think the road has ever been dedicated as an operational road.
12. CEO’s Report
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a) Development Update – Mr. Parish reported that the runway 22 RPZ property acquisition
total land cost was negotiated down from the appraised value, a developers agreement is
being worked on for the runway 15-33 RPZ, staff is working on the budget for the GA
facility as it is currently over budget, the runway 15-33 and wetland mitigation phase one
bidding advertisement will go out Friday, construction design for replacement of Building
207 is ongoing, that the roadway network improvements, terminal curbside and long-term
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parking are still in the development phase and T-hangar door replacement installation is
complete. He commented that the air carrier ramp and pavement sweeper close out reports
were submitted in October, but quarterly reports are still being submitted as required and
the Master Plan is completed as the EA was approved and ALP was signed. He commented
that the PFC Application is in process as the hold up was the approval of the EA and that
the CFC charge will go into effect next month. Commissioner Herston commented that
there was a typo on the front page of the project report packet and inquired as to the total
amount of land for the runway 22 RPZ property acquisition as there are two different
amounts in the project description. Mr. Parish commented that the Airport requires a 45.3acre acquisition but is acquiring additional property for a total of 60 acres. Commissioner
Herston inquired which SWFM MD permit is described under the report for the General
Aviation Facility. Mr. Parish commented that the Airport has a master drainage permit
which generally allows only modifications to the existing permit, but with the GA center,
a full submittal is required. Commissioner Herston inquired if Airport Road listed within
the Roadway Network Improvements is the same as Airport Road on the other side of
Piper Road. Mr. Parish commented that it is Viking Ave until it comes into the terminal
area and changes to Airport Road. He commented that Airport Road on the east side of
Piper Road does not line up with Airport Road on the west side of Piper Road.
Commissioner Herston inquired as to the distance to line them up. Mr. Parish commented
that it’s over 600 feet and that it does line up with Cheney Way. Commissioner Herston
commented that the back page is hard to read, confirmed that the total is $81 million, and
inquired if there are any CFC’s for 2022 or 2024 as they aren’t listed on the chart on the
back page. Mr. Ridenour commented that staff has identified initial projects and that the
plan is to begin collecting the CFC charge, hire an engineering firm, sit down with the
rental car agencies to discuss the projects, and then develop the capital improvement
program for the CFC funds. He commented that he is estimating that the chart will be
updated around July.
b) Marketing Update – Mrs. Miller reported on the many positive articles that have been
written and news stories recorded regarding the economic impact study, reviewed the
marketing report, and discussed the upcoming Congressional Art Competition and
Aviation Appreciation Day. Chair Seay spoke of Mrs. Miller’s good work. Commissioner
Coppola commented that the Flybrary is a fantastic asset. Mr. Parish inquired how many
books the library system reported they restocked so far. Mrs. Miller commented
approximately 1,000 books and magazine in the past two (2) months and reported that she
does have copies of the economic impact study if anyone would like one. Mr. Parish
commented that the economic impact study is on the Airport’s website and on FDOT’s
website. Commissioner Herston inquired as to who the webmaster for the Airport is. Mr.
Parish commented that Mr. Montoya changes the coding and Mrs. Miller and Ms. Hendren
keep it updated. Commissioner Andrews commented that Mrs. Miller does great work.
c) Aviation Report – Mr. Mallard reported on passenger counts, fuel sales and gallons
pumped, aircraft ops, and hangar vacancies.

45

13. Old Business
14. New Business

50

a) Personnel Policy – No Smoking Section – Mr. Parish commented that he would still like
to maintain a Smoke-Free Workplace but would like to eliminate the full no-smoking
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requirement as it has become very problematic to the hiring process. He commented that
many companies are changing their policies as they are also having problems hiring nonsmokers. Chair Seay commented that she does understand the reasoning behind it as
smoking is legal. Regarding the section stating smoking is prohibited on any area
controlled by CCAA, Commissioner Herston inquired if there is any area on Airport
grounds that CCAA does not control. Mr. Parish commented that the Airport does not
prohibit smoking for anyone other than employees, who are not allowed to smoke
anywhere at the Airport, including at the ARFF Station. Commissioner Herston
motioned to approve the update to the Smoke-Free Workplace Policy. Commissioner
Andrews seconded. Motion passed unanimously.
b) Megal Corporation LOI – Mr. Parish commented that Megal Corporation has been
working within the county for many years attempting to find a site, that about a year ago
they viewed many locations on Airport property, and that they have now presented an LOI
to lease land. He commented that there are a few provisions within the document that he
is working through with the Airport’s FAA Attorney to ensure FAA lease requirement are
met. He commented that the lease would include a 12-acre site for $1.50 per square foot,
that 8% of fair market value is approximately $62,700 per year, which will increase
through out the years. He commented that Megal Corporation would like to have the right
to first refusal on additional land around the lake. Chair Seay confirmed that it’s the
Nordell Pond and opined that it is a good use for the pond. Mr. Parish opined that the area
could develop into an industrial complex. Commissioner Herston inquired if there’s water
quality in that area. Mr. Parish commented that there was prior approval from SWFM MD
to use the pond. Commissioner Herston inquired as to the monthly rent amount for the
first 20 years. Mr. Parish commented that the annual rent is $62,726 for the first five years.
Commissioner Hancik commented that Mr. Parish is asking for the Board to execute a
lease that does not yet exist and opined that the final lease should be placed for review by
the Board. Mr. Parish commented that once the lease is finalized, a survey has to be
performed and that the idea was to have that completed within the next 30 days so Megal
Corporation can begin their permitting. He opined that the lease can be approved during a
special meeting or an emergency meeting in the future. Commissioner Hancik commented
that he’d rather utilize the option to approve the lease during a special or emergency
meeting. Chair Seay agreed. Commissioner Herston inquired if there should be a consumer
price index. Mr. Parish explained the rate increase. Commissioner Hancik opined that the
proposed cost of the land lease appears accurate. Commissioner Hancik motioned for
staff to move forward with lease negotiations based on the LOI provided by Megal
Corporation and Board comments, as well as to hold an Emergency Meeting to
approve the final lease. Commissioner Herston seconded. Commissioner Coppola
confirmed that Attorney Carr will review the final lease documents prior to the Emergency
Meeting. Motion passed unanimously. Commissioner Hancik opined that the business
would be a great addition to the Airport.
c) Intrepid Aerospace LOI – Mr. Parish commented that if the Board agrees, he can
negotiate a lease based off the LOI provided by Intrepid Aerospace to bring a final lease
back for approval at an emergency meeting. He opined that he would like to discuss the
terms of this LOI as the terms are not as straight forward as the Megal Corporation LOI.
He commented Councilman Cummings spoke of Intrepid Aerospace during Citizen’s
Input, that Intrepid Aerospace would like to lease approximately 20-acres in the area of
the General Aviation development where the old UPS site was, for a fairly large facility,
and that they would like to build an approximately 160’ x 180’ temporary facility on
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approximately 2.3-acres on the north ramp to allow their work to begin quickly. He
discussed the conditions of the lease, including the lack of income for the first five years
and the upfront cost of the Airport to build the site foundation and parking lot. He opined
that over time, the Airport will make a return on profit and requested Board input as it is
not a simple lease to negotiate. Commissioner Herston confirmed the dimensions of the
site foundation and parking lot and opined that it does not seem like an issue to build and
that he’s concerned about the LOI listing the Airport will provide up to $750,000. Mr.
Parish commented that the Airport will only build the two things they’re asking for, which
is the site foundation and parking lot, and that it is not a blank check. Commissioner
Hancik opined that he is concerned as he does not know who Intrepid Aerospace is and
opined that the company should provide a presentation to the Board as they’re asking for
the Airport to spend money for their business. He inquired as to if the company is
discussing bringing Airbus size aircraft in. Mr. Parish commented that Intrepid Aerospace
has been marketing to airlines that have Boeing 737 or Airbus A320 aircraft, that the
company is concerned about the availability of MRO space in the Miami area, and that the
company has a current user that would like them to perform maintenance on a few MD80 aircraft. Commissioner Hancik opined that it would be a great addition to the Airport.
Commissioner Coppola commented that she would also like to know more about the
company. Commissioner Andrews commented that he did some research about Intrepid
Aerospace but would also like to know more and agreed that it would be a great addition
to the Airport. Commissioner Herston inquired as to the status of the lease at the old UPS
site. Mr. Parish commented that the company currently has a year-to-year lease on the site
as they are developing a new facility on US 17. Commissioner Andrews inquired if the
listed $750,000 is a realistic figure. Commissioner Herston and Mr. Parish opined that it
is way too high. Commissioner Andrews opined that if the cost will be that high, he’d like
to see the up to amount lowered. Commissioner Hancik opined that the matter should be
negotiated, Intrepid Aerospace should provide a presentation, and the final lease should
be brought back for final Board review. Mr. Gammon spoke about the meetings leading
to the LOI that he and Intrepid Aerospace have had with staff, the benefits of having the
company in Charlotte County, and the urgency of construction. Mr. Rodriquez, the vice
president of Intrepid Aerospace, spoke on his experience, background, and company
history. Mr. Parish opined that he’d like to set up one-on-one meetings with individual
Board members and Intrepid Aerospace to discuss concerns and that he strives to have a
final lease to present during the first or second week of May. Commissioner Hancik opined
that it would be better for the Board to hear collectively from Intrepid Aerospace, instead
of one-on-one and that he would like to have a workshop to review numerous projects.
Chair Seay opined it appears the Board is in agreement to welcome Intrepid Aerospace.
Commissioner Coppola confirmed with Mr. Rodriquez that the company consist of Mr.
Rodriquez and two other partners. Chair Seay opined that she’d like to approve the
concept, have staff proceed with negotiations and prepare a lease. Commissioner Herston
motioned to approve the concept and allow Mr. Parish to proceed with negotiations
to present a lease to the Board. Commissioner Andrews seconded. Commissioner
Coppola confirmed that there will be time to review the lease prior to any Emergency
Meeting. Chair Seay inquired if Mr. Rodriquez will be available if any Commissioner has
questions regarding the lease. Mr. Rodriquez gave each member of the Board his business
card so Board members can email him any questions. Motion passed unanimously. Mr.
Parish requested that all Board members include him in any questions emailed to Mr.
Rodriquez so he can ensure all concerns are addressed.
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15. Citizen’s Input
16. Commissioner’s Comments
5

10

Commissioner Coppola – Thanked the Charlotte Sun Newspaper for their positive publicity,
commented that she’d like more details on Intrepid Aerospace and thanked everyone for
attending.
Commissioner Hancik – Commented that there are great opportunities available and that
he’d like to have a workshop to discuss current and future projects.
Commissioner Andrews – Commented on the economic impact study, the MRO opportunity
and his positive experience with his granddaughter using the Airport.

15

20

Commissioner Herston – Thanked staff, commented on the economic impact study and
thanked Mr. Rodriquez for his presentation.
Chair Seay – Thanked staff for their work and suggested incorporating discussion items
supplied in advance by Board members into Commissioner Comments. Mr. Parish
commented that all discussion items will need to be provided to Ms. Hendren approximately
a week and a half before the scheduled meeting. Chair Seay thanked everyone for attending.
17. Adjournment
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Meeting adjourned at 10:59 a.m.
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____________________________________
Pamella A. Seay, Chair

___________________________________
Kathleen Coppola, Secretary/Treasurer

Accounts Receivable Over 60 Days
As of March 31, 2019
0.7

Customer Name
Hertz
Hester Aviation
Jeremy Loy
New World Trade
Gary Wright

0-30 Days

31 - 60 Days

61 - 90 Days

91 and Over

Total Balance at
3/31/19

$6,693.80

$0.00

$6,261.68

$22,653.10 Paid $6,261.68 on 4/16/19

$65.51

$58.85

$58.58

$271.51

$454.45 Paid balance in full on 4/16/19

$116.62

$107.00

$107.00

$328.61

$659.23 Paid balance in full on 4/8/19

$5,335.00

$0.00

$5,340.00

$287.15

$0.00

$0.00

$4,269.30

$0.00

$10,962.15 Paid $5,335.00 on 4/24/19
$4,269.30 Paid balance in full on 5/1/19

SUB-TOTALS
All Other Current Customer Balances

$15,214.75
$124,787.88

$6,859.65
$3,667.70

$9,774.88
$0.00

$7,148.95
$0.00

$38,998.23
$128,455.58

TOTALS

$140,002.63

$10,527.35

$9,774.88

$7,148.95

$167,453.81

A. Pitter

EXPLANATION as of 5/01/2019

$9,697.62

5/2/2019
11:21 AM

Charlotte County Airport Authority
STATEMENTS OF REVENUE, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION (Income Statement)
For the Six Months Ending Sunday, March 31, 2019

March
Actual
OPERATING REVENUES
Fuel and Oil Sales
Industrial and Commercial Park Leases
T Hangar Rentals and Tiedowns
Concessions, Vending and Fees
Airline Related Revenues
Advertising
Auto Parking
Car Rentals,Security & Fuel Fees
Concessions
Food & Beverage
Ground Handling Fuel
Ground Transportation
Terminal Use Fees
LEO Award
Sida Badging
Total Airline Related Revenues
Other Revenues
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries & Wages
Payroll Taxes & Retirement
Personnel Expenses
Cost of Fuel & Oil Sales
Advertising
Bank Charges
Dues & Subscriptions
Insurance
Legal & Professional
Licenses & Permits
Marketing & Promotional
Mowing
Postage
Repairs & Maintenance
Computer Maintenance & Expense
Supplies
Communications
Travel & Auto Allowance
Utilities
Security Expense
Airline Related Expense
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
OPERATING GAIN (LOSS)
NON-OPERATING EXPENSES
Miscellaneous Revenues / (Expenses)
Gain/Loss of Asset Disposal
OPEB Post Retirement Benefit Accrual
Insurance Premium Refund
Interest on Investments
Cost to Finance
Bank Fees
NET NON-OPERATING EXPENSES
GAIN OR (LOSS) BEFORE
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS & DEPRECIATION
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Capital Grants & Contributions
TOTAL CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
INCREASE OR (DECREASE) IN
NET POSITION w/CONTRIBUTIONS
DEPRECIATION
Depreciation
TOTAL DEPRECIATION
INCREASE OR (DECREASE) IN
NET POSITION

YTD

Budget

Variance

Actual

Budget

Variance

$360,363
105,560
64,214
1,605

$327,530
91,770
63,600
1,630

$32,833
13,790
614
-25

$1,743,177
603,463
387,658
9,682

$1,653,220
550,500
382,920
9,740

$89,957
52,963
4,738
-58

4,636
266,571
988,045
23
84,787
15,358
8,811
14,648
14,332
533
1,397,744
1,000
$1,930,486

2,840
224,010
864,840
20
70,070
18,190
1,319
14,090
9,860
400
1,205,639
0
$1,690,169

1,796
42,561
123,205
3
14,717
-2,832
7,492
558
4,472
133
192,105
1,000
$240,317

27,545
1,557,982
3,269,559
136
310,498
82,052
38,493
87,511
72,794
1,618
5,448,188
16,611
$8,208,779

17,040
1,541,570
3,083,270
120
264,110
90,640
7,915
84,540
39,620
2,400
5,131,225
0
$7,727,605

10,505
16,412
186,289
16
46,388
-8,588
30,578
2,971
33,174
-782
316,963
16,611
$481,174

$226,399
48,750
69,593
195,066
18
4,628
3,593
28,636
20,046
1,498
13,876
1,462
519
45,042
10,524
19,326
3,588
2,935
31,642
1,414
214,560
$943,115
$987,371

$235,115
51,389
62,510
198,580
900
4,900
3,590
27,500
15,130
370
16,670
2,000
950
37,570
18,230
27,650
5,850
6,010
32,750
5,660
193,070
$946,394
$743,775

-$8,716
-2,639
7,083
-3,514
-882
-272
3
1,136
4,916
1,128
-2,794
-538
-431
7,472
-7,706
-8,324
-2,262
-3,075
-1,108
-4,246
21,490
-$3,279
$243,596

$1,420,816
288,530
404,896
994,240
1,674
23,656
23,154
166,820
111,103
12,365
85,625
15,552
2,729
258,799
102,111
109,710
21,761
12,706
199,561
14,897
977,465
$5,248,170
$2,960,609

$1,429,030
315,990
414,220
964,160
5,400
20,100
21,540
165,000
130,460
2,680
100,020
12,000
2,900
259,370
80,750
143,660
22,620
20,880
198,970
32,770
1,045,710
$5,388,230
$2,339,375

-$8,214
-27,460
-9,324
30,080
-3,726
3,556
1,614
1,820
-19,357
9,685
-14,395
3,552
-171
-571
21,361
-33,950
-859
-8,174
591
-17,873
-68,245
-$140,060
$621,234

$347,168
0
-537
0
15,317
-7,420
-525
$354,003

$466,680
0
-440
0
160
-7,630
-230
$458,540

-$119,512
0
-97
0
15,157
210
-295
-$104,537

$2,759,085
2,350
-3,225
18,144
37,105
-44,518
-3,111
$2,765,830

$1,454,440
0
-2,640
0
960
-45,780
-1,460
$1,405,520

$1,304,645
2,350
-585
18,144
36,145
1,262
-1,651
$1,360,310

$1,341,374

$1,202,315

$139,059

$5,726,439

$3,744,895

$1,981,544

100,756
$100,756

0
$0

100,756
$100,756

582,455
$582,455

572,893
$572,893

9,562
$9,562

$1,442,130

$1,202,315

$239,815

$6,308,894

$4,317,788

$1,991,106

-259,743
-$259,743

-309,337
-$309,337

49,594
$49,594

-1,664,265
-$1,664,265

-1,856,020
-$1,856,020

191,755
$191,755

$1,182,387

$892,978

$289,409

$4,644,629

$2,461,768

$2,182,861

5/2/2019
11:46 AM

Charlotte County Airport Authority
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Balance Sheet)
3/31/2019

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Net Receivables
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
CAPITAL ASSETS
Land
Buildings
CCAA Master Plan
Capital Improvements
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment
Donated Surplus
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Construction in Progress
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS, NET
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCESPENSIONS
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITES
Accounts and Contracts Payable
Accrued Expenses
Deferred Revenue
Client Deposits
Employee Deferred Compensation Plan
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Estimated Liability for Compensated Absences
State Infrastructure Bank Loan
Net OPEB Obligation
Net Pension Liability
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES-PENSIONS
NET POSITION
RESERVES
Non Catastrophic Exp Reserve
Contaminated/Pollutant Reserve
Insurance Escrow Reserve
Building Reserve
Parking Lot Reserve
Air Traffic/Navigation/Safety Reserve
Rental Car Improvement Reserve
TOTAL RESERVES
Retained Earnings
NET PROFIT / LOSS
TOTAL NET POSITION
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

$11,068,805
2,325,922
108,104
210,212
13,713,043
5,533,331
49,688,625
202,141
39,179,626
5,871,625
31,300
(45,726,165)
8,281,948
63,062,430
1,300,253
$78,075,726

$585,614
377,194
234,076
202,458
(22)
1,399,320
90,895
2,948,324
91,416
2,534,206
5,664,841
7,064,161
303,348
27,112
107,500
216,392
1,609,816
641,058
237,864
46,522
$2,886,264
63,177,320
4,644,632
70,708,217
$78,075,726
5/2/2019
11:26 AM

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
APPROVED FOR COLLECTION & USE
8/1/2017
2,475,793.00
REVISED 11/1/18
73,024.00
PFC

ALLEGIANT'S
CHECK #
454307
457900
462046
464929
468753
470689
473876
476653
480288
4888595
496557
500424
504586
10306
14254
11089
11472
11848
12223

TOTAL APPROVED
PFC
$2.00/PASSENGER FEE
$4.50/ PASSENGER FEE 1/1/19
Received
DATE
10/2/2017
10/24/2017
11/29/2017
12/19/2017
1/25/2018
2/20/2018
4/2/2018
4/30/2018
6/6/2018
7/2/2018
8/2/2018
9/5/2018
10/1/2018
11/5/2018
12/3/2018
1/2/2019
2/5/2018
3/5/2019
4/1/2019

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
APPROVED FOR COLLECTION, NOT APPROVED FOR USE YET
REQUEST FOR FAA DRAWDOWN

2,548,817.00

AMOUNT
PAX Month
57,588.30 31-Aug-17
43,035.30
30-Sep-17
97,095.97
31-Oct-17
100,636.83 30-Nov-17
115,620.75
31-Dec-17
115,420.02
31-Jan-18
129,433.53
28-Feb-18
182,165.76
31-Mar-18
250,517.61
30-Apr-18
176,554.35 31-May-18
166,170.20
30-Jun-18
115,534.30
31-Jul-18
117,467.79 31-Aug-18
120,808.80
30-Sep-18
136,592.67
31-Oct-18
134,619.03 30-Nov-18
111,046.95
31-Dec-18
376,964.91
31-Jan-19
1,359.53
28-Feb-19

8/1/2017
$
PFC
FUTURE USE
ALLEGIANT'S
CHECK #
12223
12594

GRANT

Received
DATE
4/1/2019
4/29/2019

2,750,000.00

AMOUNT
379,864.68
345,792.27

PAX Month
28-Feb-19
31-Mar-19

GRANT
50%
BALANCE

2,548,632.60

BALANCE

INTEREST
Total Revenue Rec'd

184.40
2,548,817.00

INTEREST
Total Revenue Rec'd

TOTAL GRANT
REMAINING

TOTAL COLLECTIONS APPROVED
Total Revenue Rec'd
TOTAL COLLECTIONS APPROVED REMAINING

2,548,817.00
-

5,298,817.00
2,548,817.00
2,750,000.00

TOTAL GRANT
REMAINING

725,656.95
2,750,000.00
2,024,343.05

TOTAL COLLECTIONS APPROVED
TOTAL COLLECTED
TOTAL INTEREST
TOTAL RECEIVED

PAYMENT

725,656.95

5,298,817.00
3,274,289.55
184.40
3,274,473.95

0085 - PFC.xls

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
P R O J E C T LIST B Y PHASE

In Development
CIP No.
TBD

Project Title
Employee Parking Expansion - The project detail report page has been removed due to no activity. Upon
activity, the project will be re-posted and updated.

Property Acquisition
CIP No.
0099
0100

Project Title
Property Acquisition - Runway 22 RPZ
Property Acquisition - Runway 33 RPZ

Design-Permitting
CIP No.
0095
0098
0103

Project Title
Roadway Network Improvements
Terminal Curbside Traffic Improvements
Long-Term Passenger Parking Expansion

Bidding Phase
CIP No.
0096
0092
0104
0101

Project Title
Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension
Wetland Mitigation Phases 1 and 2 of 2
New General Aviation Terminal Facility
Construct Replacement Hangar for Building 207

Closeout Phase
CIP No.
0082
0081
0088

Project Title
T-Hangar Door Replacement
Master Plan Update
Air Carrier Ramp Expansion & Pavement Sweeper

Planning
CIP No.
0093
0102

Project Title
PFC Application #2
Customer Facility Charge

1

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Property Acquisition
PROJECT TITLE
Property Acquisition - Runway 22 RPZ – CIP No. 0099

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of acquiring approximately 45 acres of property within the RPZ and an additional 15 acres of property on the north end
of Runway 4-22. These parcels are not currently within the RPZ but would be encompassed by the RPZ with the proposed 727-foot
extension of Runway 4-22. The FAA’s airport design guidelines recommend that airports own the property underneath approach and
departure areas to the limits of the RPZ, where practicable. The guidelines further recommend that the RPZ be cleared of all above ground
objects where practicable. The purpose of this project is to achieve compliance with FAA guidance for land uses within RPZs.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment (records and site visit) portion of the due diligence items discovered an abandoned above
ground storage tank. As a result, a Phase II Environmental Site Assessment (soil and groundwater testing) scope of work and fee are being
developed. The Seller has been made aware of the findings and FAA’s preferred policy that the site be cleaned before closing.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Acquire Real Property
Due Diligence Items & Attorney Fees
Total

Estimated
Cost
510,000
See Below
TBD

FAA

FAA Coordination Meeting
Airport Attorney Coordination
CCAA Approve Sales Contract
Fully Executed Sales Contract
Title Report, Surveys, Appraisal,
Environmental
Property Closing

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/27/18
Nov/Dec-18
01/17/19
03/25/19
Apr-MayJun-19
Jun/Jul-19

Completed





CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Banks Engineering
Boundary Survey
TBD
Title Report and Closing
Ian Vincent
Environmental – Protected Species Assessment
Southwest Engineering and Design
Environmental – Phase I Site Assessment
Environmental – Phase II Site Assessment
Riverside Realty Services, Inc.
Appraisal
Farr Law Firm
Real Estate Attorney Services

PFC

CCAA
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$4,200

$5,400
$2,300
TBD
$1,500
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C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Property Acquisition
PROJECT TITLE
Property Acquisition - Runway 33 RPZ – CIP No. 0100

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of acquiring avigation easements for approximately 2.7 acres of property that will be within the Runway Protection
Zone (RPZ) on the south end of Runway 33 once it is extended to the south. The FAA’s airport design guidelines recommend that airports
own the property underneath approach and departure areas to the limits of the RPZ, where practicable. The guidelines further
recommend that the RPZ be cleared of all above ground objects where practicable. The purpose of this project is to achieve compliance
with FAA guidance for land uses within RPZs.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The details of the acquisition of the real property for RPZ protection is being included into a master developers’ agreement. The agreement
is being prepared to address other property acquisitions and releases associated with the re-alignment of Woodlawn Drive. The developers
agreement and associated mapping exhibits is expected to be submitted to the Airport Authority in May or June 2019 for review and
approval.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Acquire Real Property
Total

Estimated Cost
20K
20K

FAA

FAA Coordination Meeting
Developers Agreement – CAAA
Approval
Title Report, Surveys, Appraisal,
Environmental as Needed
Property Closing

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/27/18
May/Jun-19

Completed


TBD
TBD

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
TBD
Boundary Survey
TBD
Title Report and Closing
TBD
Environmental
TBD
Appraisal

PFC

CCAA
100%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
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C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Design-Permitting
PROJECT TITLE
Roadway Network Improvements – CIP No. 0095

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project will construct; A right turn lane on Piper Road at Viking Avenue, one additional lane on Viking Avenue between Piper Road and
Golf Course Blvd. and one additional lane on Airport Road between Piper Road and Golf Course Blvd.

STATUS OF PROJECT
No change from April’s Report
Work has been delayed to focus on the Runway 15-33 and New General Aviation Center design effort. In May 2019, work will resume on
the development of the 90% construction plans and specifications. Final plans and specifications are scheduled to be submitted late May or
early June 2019 and be advertised for construction bids. The SWFWMD permit was issued on April 8, 2019.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
78,990 Actual

FAA

500,000
578,990

250,000

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Seek Funding
Secure Funding
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

FDOT SIS

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
05/17/18
05/17/18
05/17/18
05/29/18
May/Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19
Oct-19
Dec-19
Jan-20

Completed





CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Southwest Engineering and Design
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
TBD
Construction

Fee
$78,990

PFC

CCAA
100%
250,000
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C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Design-Permitting
PROJECT TITLE
Terminal Curbside Traffic Improvements – CIP No. 0098

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project will add a fourth lane to the terminal curbside pick-up and drop-off lanes. It includes slight modifications to the short-term
parking lot.

STATUS OF PROJECT
No change from April’s Report
Work has been delayed to focus on the Runway 15-33 and New General Aviation Center design effort. In May 2019, work will resume on
the development of the 90% construction plans and specifications. Final plans and specifications are scheduled to be submitted late May or
early June 2019 and be advertised for construction bids.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design, Permitting
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
34,600
200,000
234,600

FAA

Select Consultant & Approve Scope
and Fee
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Seek Funding
Secure Funding
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18

Completed

08/10/18
May/Jun-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19
Oct-19
Nov-19
Dec-19





CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Southwest Engineering and Design
Engineering Design, Permitting
TBD
Construction

CFC
$100,000

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$34,600
TBD

CCAA
100%
$100,000
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C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Design-Permitting
PROJECT TITLE
Long-Term Passenger Parking Expansion - CIP No. 0103

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
The project consists of design and permitting for approximately 2,500 long term parking spaces and a site grading plan for a future 2-acre
site. The project construction will be phased. Phase 1 is planned to construct approximately 500 spaces. The lot will have its own separate
entrance and exits and provisions will be made for bus shelters and bus access and egress.

STATUS OF PROJECT
A 60% design submittal meeting was held on May 7, 2019. The 90% design is scheduled to be completed in mid-June 2019 and a 90%
design review meeting is scheduled for June 19, 2019. Final construction plans and specifications are scheduled to be submitted in July
2019.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Design, Permitting, Bidding
Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
268,511
2,000,000
2,268,511

FAA

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Consultant Fee
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Seek FDOT Funding
Begin Construction
End Construction
Closeout

CCAA
100%
50%

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
11/15/18
12/10/18
12/20/18
01/02/19
Jul-19
Jul-19
Aug-19
Sep-19
Feb-20
Mar-20

Completed




Future Phases
Approximately
2,000 Spaces

CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Design, Permitting, Bidding
TBD
Construction

CFC
50%

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$268,511
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C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Bidding Phase
PROJECT TITLE
Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension – CIP No. 0096

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of constructing a 593-foot extension on the south end of Runway 15-33 and rehabilitating the existing runway
pavement. In addition, Woodlawn Drive will be re-aligned to be outside the limits of the new Runway Protection Zone (RPZ) on the south
end of Runway 33 once it is extended to the south.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The project construction plans and specifications have been completed. As a result, on April 19, 2019 the project was advertised for
construction bids. A pre-bid meeting was conducted on May 3, 2019 and bids are scheduled to be opened on May 24, 2019, followed by
formal grant application submittals. The SWFWMD permit applications will be submitted in by mid-May 2019.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Rehabilitation of Existing Runway
and Woodland RPZ
Design and Construction
Runway 33 End Extension
Design and Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
$7.3M

FAA
90% Entitlement

$6.0M

50% SIS

13.3M

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Accept FDOT Funding &
Approve Consultant Fee
Secure FDOT Funding
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Submit FAA Grant Application
Secure FAA Funding
Begin Construction in Field
End Construction
Closeout

FDOT
5% JPA

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18
09/30/18
10/23/18

Completed

10/30/18
11/02/18
11/05/18
4/15/19
04/19/19
05/27/19
Aug/Sep-19
Nov-19
Nov-20
Dec-20











CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
EG Solutions, Inc.
Independent Fee Estimate
Kimley-Horn
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
TBD
Construction

Fee
$3,000
$1,342,747

PFC

CCAA
5%
50%
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C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Bidding Phase
PROJECT TITLE
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1 and 2 of 2 – CIP No. 0092

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of the design, permitting and construction required to fill approximately 57 acres of existing wetlands within the
airport operations area. This project also includes the purchase of required wetland mitigation credits. These wetlands were identified in
the Airport’s 2016 Wildlife Hazard Management Plan as having the potential to attract hazardous wildlife. This project is planned to be
constructed as part of the Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension project.

STATUS OF PROJECT
This project is being coordinated with the Runway 15-33 Rehabilitation and Extension as described above. The project construction plans
and specifications have been completed. As a result, on April 19, 2019 the project was advertised for construction bids. A pre-bid meeting
was conducted on May 3, 2019 and bids are scheduled to be opened on May 24, 2019, followed by formal grant application submittals. The
SWFWMD permit applications will be submitted in by mid-May 2019.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Wetland Mitigation Phase 1 & 2

Estimated Cost
5.2M

FAA

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Scope of Work
(Phase 1)
Amendment 1 – Add Phase 2
(Permitting – No Design)
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Complete Initial Permitting
Issue Amendment 2 - Design
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Submit FAA Grant Application
Secure FAA Funding
Begin Construction
End Construction in Field
Closeout

FDOT

2.4M
Entitlement

Completed

09/21/18



11/02/18
11/29/18
01/07/19
04/15/19
04/19/19
05/27/19
Aug/Sep-19
Nov-19
Nov-20
Dec-20











CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Kimley_Horn - Independent Fee Estimate
EG Solutions, Inc. – Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction, Closeout

Fee
$2,000
$240,328

CCAA
2.8M

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
01/18/18
04/05/18
04/19/18

PFC
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C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Bidding Phase
PROJECT TITLE
New General Aviation Center – CIP No. 0104

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of the design, permitting and construction of a new General Aviation (GA) Terminal Facility on the north side of the
Airport, east of the 600 series T-Hangars. The project includes; GA Terminal, Café, Parking, Access Road, Apron, Taxiway and Taxilane
improvements.

STATUS OF PROJECT
The project construction plans and specifications have been completed. As a result, on May 7, 2019 the project was advertised for
construction bids. A pre-bid meeting is scheduled for May 21, 2019 and bids are scheduled to be opened on June 6, 2019, followed by
formal grant application submittals. The SWFWMD permit applications will be submitted by mid-May 2019.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Apron, Taxilane, Taxiway
Design and Construction
Terminal, Café, Parking Lot, Access
Road -Design and Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
10.5M

FAA

5.6M

50% PTGA

16.1M

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description
Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Accept FDOT Funding &
Approve Consultant Fee
Secure FDOT Funding
Submit FAA Grant Pre-Application
Issue Notice to Proceed
Stakeholder Presentation
Design
Advertise for Construction Bids
Submit FAA Grant Application
Secure FAA Funding
Begin Construction in Field
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/16/18
10/17/18
10/23/18

Completed

10/30/18
11/02/18
11/05/18
12/13/18
05/01/19
05/07/19
06/07/19
Aug/Sep-19
Nov-19
Nov-20
Dec-20












CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
Avcon
Independent Fee Estimate
Michael Baker International, Inc.
Engineering Design, Permitting, Bidding,
Construction Services, Closeout
TBD
Construction

FDOT

90%
FAA Supplemental Funding

Fee
$2,600
$1,676,977

PFC
10%

CCAA

50%
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C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Bidding Phase
PROJECT TITLE
Construct Replacement Hangar for Building Number 207 – CIP No. 0101

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
This project consists of the construction of six (6) new replacement hangars for tenants located in Building 207, and four (4) additional
hangars. Building 207 will need to be demolished when the terminal access road is expanded to the north or if this area is designated for
expansion of rental car parking. During the design process, other improvements will be determined. The replacement hangars will be
located west of the New GA Terminal Facility and is planned to be constructed as part of the New GA Terminal Facility project.

STATUS OF PROJECT
This project is being bid as part of the New GA Terminal Facility as described above. The project construction plans and specifications have
been completed. As a result, on May 7, 2019 the project was advertised for construction bids. A pre-bid meeting is scheduled for May 21,
2019 and bids are scheduled to be opened on June 6, 2019. The SWFWMD permit applications will be submitted in by mid-May 2019.

PROJECT FUNDING
Description
Building 207 Replacement Hangar
Design and Construction
Total

Estimated Cost
3.2M

FAA

3.2M

Select Consultant
Develop Scope, Fee, Schedule
CCAA Approve Consultant Fee
Issue Notice to Proceed
Design and Permitting
Advertise for Construction Bids
Begin Construction in Field
End Construction
Closeout

PROJECT SKETCH
Completion
Date
08/02/18
09/27/18
10/23/18
10/23/18
05/01/19
05/07/19
Nov-19
Nov-20
Dec-20

Completed







CONTRACTS
Firm Name
Services Provided
AECOM
Engineering Design, Bidding, Construction Services,
Closeout
TBD
Construction

CFC

CCAA
TBD

PROJECT SCHEDULE
Milestone Description

FDOT

Fee
$121,165

TBD

C A P I T A L I M P R O V E M E N T P R O G R A M R E P O R T – M A Y 2019
PROJECT REPORT

Closeout Phase
0082

T-Hangar Door Replacement

A final inspection was conducted on April 16, 2019 with Airport staff and FDOT. A punch list was developed showing corrections to minor
items such as, touch-up painting, gasket repairs, door latches, and roller replacements for building frames that are not plumb. The work is
scheduled to be completed by mid-May 2019. Final closeout documents are in progress and expected to be submitted to FDOT by the end
of May 2019 to close the grant. This project will be removed from future reports.

0081

Master Plan Update, Airport Layout Plan and Environmental Assessment

On March 28, 2019 the FAA issued the Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI) and Record Decision (RD). This is the environmental
approval of the Airport’s Five-Year Capital Improvement Program, and the final phase of the Master Plan Update project. Over the next few
weeks, the consultant will submit the final deliverable documents and assist with the closeout of the project. This project will be removed
from future reports.

0088

Air Carrier Ramp Expansion & Pavement Sweeper

The new Airport Sweeper vehicle was delivered to the Airport on October 9, 2018 and training was conducted. The sweeper was added to
the ramp grant with the use of remaining grant funding. As a result, the FAA grant closeout documents were submitted to FAA on October
15, 2018.
Calls/E-mails were sent to FAA to check the status of the review of the closeout documents. The documents are still under review;
however, FAA authorized the Airport to draw down ½ of the new pavement sweeper costs, which has been completed.

Planning
0093

Passenger Facility Charge Application No. 2 and Amendment to PFC Application No. 1

PFC Amendment to Application No. 1
In January 2019, the new $4.50 PFC charge took effect.
PFC Application No. 2
The February 12, 2019 application submittal to FAA was deemed incomplete because the environmental decision (FONSI and RD) had not
been issued. Now that the environmental decision has been issued, Appendix “G” of the application has been updated and submitted to
FAA on April 11, 2019. FAA will have up to 90 days to approve or deny.

0102

Customer Facility Charge

In accordance with the approval of Resolution 2019-01 on February 21, 2019, the Customer Facility Charges are scheduled to begin on May
1, 2019 with an initial $3.00 per transaction day rate. In June 2019, a meeting is to be scheduled to begin coordination with rental car
operators on the initial list of projects identified.
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$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
2020 Totals $

$
$
$

$
$
2021 Expenditures Totals $

Rehab Runway 9-27 (MPU #5)
Construct New Taxiway - GA Apron to Taxiway A (MPU #15)

Project List

2022

Rehab Taxiway D (MPU #14)
Rental Cars - Covered Parking

Project List

2021

Reconstruct / Rehabilitate Runway 4-22 (MPU #4) Design
Reconstruct / Rehabilitate Runway 4-22 (MPU #4) Construction
Rental Car Parking - Convert GA Ramp (MPU #30)
Rental Car Parking - Building 207 Demo Area (MPU #31)
Roadway Realignment - Airport (Golf Course to Piper) (MPU#27)
Rental Cars - Landscaping
New Long-Term Parking Lot - Phased Project - Construction
Roadway Network Improvements - Construction
Terminal Curbside Improvements - Construction
New Security Fencing - RW 22 RPZ

Project List

2020

PFC Application No. 2
$
Acquire Property - RW 33 RPZ (MPU #1)
$
Acquire Property - RW 22 RPZ (MPU #2)
$
Roadway Network Improvements - Design
$
Terminal Curbside Improvements - Design
$
New Long-Term Parking Lot - Phased Project - Design
$
Wetland Mitigation – Phase 1 and 2 (MPU #20) (MPU #21)
$
Engineering Fees
$
Runway 15-33 - Rehab/RPZ (MPU #3), (MPU #7), (MPU #9), (MPU #65)
$
Engineering Fees
$
Runway 15-33 - Extension (MPU #3)
$
Engineering Fees
$
New GA Facility - Taxiway/Apron/Self-Serve (MPU #53) (MPU #54) (MPU #61) $
Engineering Fees
$
New GA Facility - Terminal (MPU #58) (MPU #60)
$
New GA Facility - Parking/Access (MPU #58-#60)
$
Engineering Fees
$
Construct Replacement Hangar for Building 207 (#37)
$
2019 Totals $

Project List

2019

8,980,757 $

$

690,226
4,031,619 $
4,721,845 $

COST
ESTIMATE

2,979,790 $
1,000,000
3,979,790 $

COST
ESTIMATE

3,628,457
3,628,457 $

FAA ENTL

FAA DISC

$

-

FAA SUP 1B

-

$
$

$

-

$

$
$

2,681,811 $

FAA SUP 1B

-

FAA SUP 1B

$

FAA DISC

$
$

9,439,592 $

8,460,000
979,592

FAA SUP 1B

2,681,811

FAA ENTL

11,992,351 $

$

3,700,000 $

-

$
$

11,992,351

FAA DISC

FAA DISC

1,412,106 $
2,287,894 $

FAA ENTL

2,250,000
108,148
5,850,000
772,610

FAA ENTL

$
$
$
$

1,569,007 $
15,866,940 $
224,650
756,596
673,306
20,000
2,000,000
500,000
200,000
200,000
22,010,499 $

COST
ESTIMATE

20,000
20,000
600,000
28,990
14,600
268,511
5,000,000
240,328
6,500,000
858,455
5,500,000
484,292
9,400,000
1,088,435
3,000,000
2,000,000
588,541
3,200,000
38,812,152

COST
ESTIMATE

$
$

201,581
201,581 $

FDOT

148,990 $

148,990

FDOT

871,797 $

$
$

78,450 $
793,347

FDOT
5%

367,923 $

325,000
42,923

441867
DPTO- 5%

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
MASTER FINANCIAL SUMMARY

$
$
$

-

$

FDOT SIS
50%

FDOT SIS
50%

-

-

$

$

$
1,250,000 $

1,000,000
250,000

FDOT
50%

2,992,146 $

2,750,000
242,146

441867
SIS - 50%

28,990
14,600
268,511

$
$
$

$

-

FDOT SAFE
50%

-

FDOT SAFE
50%

$

$

$

$
$
100,000 $
100,000 $

-

FDOT SAFE
50%

2,794,271 $

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$

$

-

$
$

-

$

$

$
690,226 $

690,226

CCAA

CCAA

250,000
100,000
100,000
450,000 $

CCAA

3,126,372 $

1,500,000
1,000,000
294,271

20,000

CCAA

$

1,500,000 $
1,000,000 $
294,271 $

444091
DPTO - 50%

20,000

$

$
$
$
$
$

201,581
201,581 $

PFC

$
148,990 $

148,990

PFC

871,797 $

78,450
793,347

PFC

$
7,911,093 $

2,750,000
132,180
325,000
42,923
2,750,000
242,146
940,000
108,844

600,000

PFC

CFC

-

1,000,000
1,000,000

CFC

2,774,552

100,000

224,650
756,596
673,306
20,000
1,000,000

CFC

3,200,000
3,200,000

CFC

Last Updated: 5/08/2019

Terminal Expansion (MPU #22) - Construction P1
Purchase ARFF Vehicle
Construct Perimeter Road P1 (TW D to Henry) MPU #16
Construct Perimeter Road P2A (South Ramp to East Side) MPU#17
Runway 4-22 Extension - EA

Project List

2024

Terminal Expansion (MPU #22) - Design
Roadway Realignments - Terminal Access/Curbside (MPU#26)
Reconfigure Taxiway G (MPU #9)
New Maintenance Building

Project List

2023

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

10,000,000
750,000
158,814
3,045,860
339,313
14,293,987

COST
ESTIMATE
675,000
2,741,274
305,382
3,721,656 $

$
$
$

FAA ENTL

3,579,741 $

3,579,741

FAA ENTL

$

1,500,000
1,514,055
3,977,490 $
1,100,000
8,091,545 $

COST
ESTIMATE

FAA DISC

FAA DISC

-

-

$

$

-

FAA SUP 1B

-

FAA SUP 1B

$
$
$

$

$
$
$

$

152,293
16,966
4,169,259 $

4,000,000

FDOT

198,875
550,000
1,498,875 $

750,000

FDOT

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
MASTER FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FDOT SIS
50%

FDOT SIS
50%

-

-

$

$

-

FDOT SAFE
50%

-

FDOT SAFE
50%

$

$

$

$
$

$
$

2,000,000 $
$
158,814
$
$
2,158,814 $

CCAA

550,000
1,300,000 $

750,000

CCAA

$

152,293
16,966
4,244,259 $

4,000,000
75,000

PFC

198,875 $

198,875

PFC

CFC

-

1,514,055

1,514,055

CFC
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M ARKETING & C OMMUNICATIONS R EPORT | A PRIL 2019
•

News Releases

PGD’S Economic Impact Surpasses $1 Billion

• Photos from PGD were also featured in the
Statewide Executive Summary

PGD BUZZ & ENews

April BUZZ news included:
•

Destination Spotlight: PGD to BNA

•

March Passenger Numbers

•

Friendly Reminder - Animal Policy

Tenant Touchdown & Advisories:
•

Media
Coverage

Join Us for Aviation Appreciation

• April TV & Internet news coverage advertising value
estimated at more than $130K, with potential reach over 9
million people.
• Excellent coverage of PGD’s economic impact in the
Charlotte Sun, ABC-7 and NBC-2
• Summary of April News Coverage

FlyPGD.com
Website Reach

• 99K total web page views in April (30K users)
• Top performing subpages in order for April: arrivals/departures, parking/directions, main
terminal, rental car info, destinations map, employment, dining & transportation services
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Outreach & Events

•
•
•
•
•
•

March 25 – April 5 – TSA PreCheck Mobile Enrollment
April 3 – Leadership Englewood Airport Tour
April 12 – James spoke at Commercial
Investment Professionals SWFL
April 17 – Kaley spoke at Commercial
Real Estate Experts Meeting SWFL
April 24 – Congressional Art
Competition Reception & Flybrary
Photo Op: view photos
Various meetings/outreach: Charlotte
County Chamber, Punta Gorda
Chamber, Tourism Development
Council, Leadership Charlotte and
Economic Development Partnership
Upcoming Events
• May 7 – Aviation Appreciation at EAA
• May 9 – Leadership Charlotte Airport
Tour

Google Search
Engine Reach

•
•

Flybrary Update: Punta Gorda Library
stocked 513 reading items in April

178K Total Google Searches in April
The top locations where customers request directions from are Cape Coral, Punta Gorda,
Fort Myers, North Port, Ft. Myers Beach, Port Charlotte, North Ft. Myers, Venice and
Sanibel
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Social Media

•
•
•

Facebook likes reached 3,445 on April 30
11 posts with daily reaches ranging from 5.5K to 43K in April
Facebook posts with the most positive reactions/engagement were related to economic
impact stories

•

Twitter posts with the most positive reactions/engagement included the NBC-2 Weather
Cam and economic impact stories

Facebook

Twitter

Advertising in
Place

•

•
•

Charlotte Sun Online: new rotating gif ad featured destination
spotlights. Digital ads resulted in 37K impressions and 33 clicks
in April. YourSun.com was the 10th largest referral website for
FlyPGD.com in April.
Outdoor billboards: Punta Gorda, Englewood, Cape Coral, Port
Charlotte, North Port & Venice
Community Guides distributed year-round: Englewood
Chamber, Charlotte County Chamber, Punta Gorda Chamber,
Charlotte County Tourism Bureau’s Adventure Journal

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Total Passengers CY 2012 thru 2019
250,000

200,000
CY 19
CY 18
CY 17

150,000

CY 16
CY 15
CY 14

CY 13

100,000

CY 07

50,000

0
January

March

Total Passengers per year
CY 08
CY 09
CY 10
29,152
9,587
17,283
31,788
9,995
21,991
40,599
15,013
28,534
13,751
19,390
7,759
6,629
9,521
8,238
9,190
10,262
7,652
8,326
5,547
4,830
8,258
7,606
1,077
13,411
17,571
15,180
7,305
19,341
31,763
15180 109,921 129,025 182,423

CY 07
January
February
March
April
May
June
July
August
September
October
November
December
TOTALS

February

April

CY 11
29,628
34,072
44,449
36,394
13,685
14,130
16,292
12,942
9,409
17,783
27,164
35,678
291,626

May

CY 12
33,988
38,695
26,630
9,343
7,486
10,382
18,652
14,131
10,871
11,690
16,720
20,769
219,357

June

CY 13
19,225
20,939
33,779
28,203
28,479
31,915
32,888
22,377
10,559
15,433
39,040
50,774
333,611

July

CY 14
47,091
56,001
76,917
71,894
51,752
52,167
53,826
38,744
26,423
37,083
53,126
63,051
628,075

August

CY 15
CY 16
58,948
76,538
66,254
91,130
93,171
121,695
74,994
98,101
65,759
87,352
78,276
98,430
85,468
106,142
60,240
81,800
38,693
64,226
62,355
89,084
71,025
96,188
81,289
107,617
836,472 1,118,303

September

October

November

CY 17
CY 18
CY 19
105,188 122,901 129,315
109,866 140,076 148,118
141,802 192,947 221,326
120,764 147,871 172,893
97,304 118,050
108,502 135,860
116,799 145,426
88,678 111,335
51,836
74,068
114,113 129,086
110,097 128,121
128,388 131,423
1,293,337 1,577,164 671,652
Overall total: 7,406,146

December

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Avgas Gallons Sold, 2018 VS 2019
30,000

26,827

25,000

20,051

19,775

20,000

16,830

17,169

16,277

FY18

15,000

FY19

10,000
5,000
0

February

March

April

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Jet A Gallons Sold, 2018 VS 2019
70,000

61,898

57,968

60,000

58,827

58,986

51,771

51,156

50,000
40,000

FY18
30,000

FY19

20,000
10,000
0

February

March

April

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Airline Gallons Pumped, 2018 VS 2019
1,800,000

1,583,816

1,600,000

1,391,769

1,400,000
1,200,000

1,328,949
1,099,889

1,010,341 1,060,266

1,000,000

FY18

800,000

FY19

600,000
400,000
200,000
0

February

March

April

Operations Reported By Tower
February
Air Carrier
AirTaxi
Military
GA
Total

March

April

856
185
48
6177
7266

1227
199
48
6878
8352

0
4

0
4

1060
152
37
5972
7221

Hangars
600 Series
200 Series

119
98

0
1 *Held for T-hangar
door replacement

Allegiant Cities Served
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Albany, NY
Allentown, PA
Appleton, WI
Ashville, NC
Belleville, IL
Cedar Rapids, IA
Cincinnati, OH
Cleveland, OH
Columbus, OH
Concord/Charlotte, NC
Dayton, OH
Des Moines, IA
Flint, MI
Ft. Wayne, IN
Grand Rapids, MI
Harrisburg, PA
Huntington, WV
Indianapolis, IN
Kansas City, MO
Knoxville, TN
21 Lexington, KY

22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41

Louisville, KY
Milwaukee, WI
Moline,IL
Nashville, TN
Niagara Falls, NY
Omaha, NB
Peoria, IL
Pittsburg, PA
Portsmouth, NH
Providence, RI
Raleigh/Durham, NC
Rochester, NY
Rockford, IL
Saint Cloud, MN
Southbend, IN
Springfield, IL
Springfield - Branson, MO
Stewart Field, NY
Syracuse, NY
Toledo, OH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH
REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO THE PASSENGER FACILITY
CHARGE PROGRAM AND INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE
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PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE AUDIT GUIDE
INCLUDING THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
ON THE SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES
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Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
Report on Compliance for the Passenger Facility Charge Program
We have audited Charlotte County Airport Authority (the "Authority") compliance with
the types of compliance requirements described in the Passenger Facility Charge Audit
Guide for Public Agencies (the "Guide"), issued by the Federal Aviation Administration
that could have a direct and material effect on the Authority's passenger facility charge
program for the year ended September 30, 2018.
Management's Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grants applicable to the passenger facility charge program.
Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Authority's compliance based on our
audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States;
and the Guide. Those standards and the Guide require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
INTEGRITY ......... SERVICE ......... EXPERIENCE
12621 World Plaza Lane, Building 55 • Fort Myers, FL 33907 • Phone: (239) 333-2090 • Fax: (239) 333-2097

Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
Page 2
the passenger facility charge program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence about the Authority's compliance with those requirements and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance with
the passenger facility charge program. However, our audit does not provide a legal
determination of the Authority's compliance.
Opinion on Passenger Facility Charge Program
In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its
passenger facility charge program for the year ended September 30, 2018.
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of the Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective
internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the
Authority's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could
have a direct and material effect on the passenger facility charge program to determine
the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on compliance for the passenger facility charge program and to test
and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Guide, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority's internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a
control over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course
of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance
with a type of compliance requirement of the passenger facility charge program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement
of the passenger facility charge program will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance
is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a
type of compliance requirement of the passenger facility charge program that is less

Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
Page 3
severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose
described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.
Report on Schedule of Passenger Facility Charges Collected and Expended
We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities of the Charlotte
County Airport Authority as of and for the year ended September 30, 2018, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Charlotte County
Airport Authority's basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated
January 15, 2019, which contained an unmodified opinion on those financial statements.
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial
statements that collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying
schedule of passenger facility charges collected and expended for the year ended
September 30, 2018 (cash basis) is presented for purposes of additional analysis as
required by the Federal Aviation Administration, and is not a required part of the basic
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
In our opinion, the schedule of passenger facility charges collected and expended (cash
basis) reported is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES (PFC) COLLECTED
AND EXPENDED (AS REPORTED TO FAA) - CASH BASIS
Year ended September 30, 2018

Collections
PFCs Collected
Interest Earned

Quarter
Ended
December 31,
2017
$
298,356
6

Quarter
Ended
March 31,
2018
$
231,041
33

Total Collection

$

$

Expenditures on
Approved PFC Projects
Included in
Application No. 1
17-01-C-00-PGD

298,362

298,314
$

298,314

231,074

$
$

231,054
$

231,054

Quarter
Ended
June 30,
2018
562,117
15
562,132

Quarter
Ended
September 30,
2018
$
458,259
3
$

562,150
$

562,150

458,262

458,304
$

458,304

Notes to the Schedule of Passengers Facility Charges Collected and Expended are an integral part of this schedule.
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Cumulative Totals
as of September 30,
2017
$
-

Cumulative Totals
as of September 30,
2018
$
1,549,773
57

$

$

-

$

-

1,549,830

1,549,822
$

1,549,822

Notes to the Schedule of Passengers Facility Charges Collected and Expended are an integral part of this schedule.

CHARLOTTE COUTNY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF PASSENGER FACILITY
CHARGES (PFC) COLLECTED AND EXPENDED - CASH BASIS
Year ended September 30, 2018
General
The accompanying schedule of passenger facility charges (PFC) collected and
expended presents the activity of all passenger facility charges of Charlotte
County Airport Authority pursuant to application 17-01-C-00-PGD. The
Charlotte County Airport Authority is approved for a level of PFC of $2.00 to
a total revenue of $5,225,793 beginning August 1, 2017, and approved for use
of $2,475,793. On November 1, 2018 the FAA approved Amendment #1
to increase the approved collection amount to $5,289,817 and raise the PFC
from $2.00 to $4.50 effective January 1, 2019.
Basis of Accounting
The accompanying schedule of passenger facility charges collected and
expended is presented using the cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of
accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE PROGRAM
Year ended September 30, 2018
Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued
Internal control over financial reporting:
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted?

Passenger Facility Charge Program Section
Internal control over program:
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Type of auditors report issued on compliance for
the passenger facility charge program?
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with the Passenger Facility
Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies?

Unmodified
Yes
Yes

X
X

Yes

X

Yes
Yes

X
X

No

No
None reported

Unmodified

Yes

X

This Schedule encompasses the Charlotte County Airport Authority only, and
is provided as required by the Passenger Facility Charge Program

Section II- Financial Statement Findings
There were no deficiencies, material weaknesses, or instances of
noncompliance related to the financial statements.
Section III- Findings and Questioned Costs - Passenger Facility Charge Program
There were no such findings required to be reported related to the audit of the
Passenger Facility Charge Program.
Section IV- Status of Prior Year Findings
There were no prior year findings.

No
None reported

No
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of the business-type activities of Charlotte
County Airport Authority (the "Authority") as of and for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit
the financial statements of the Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS) or the Health Insurance Subsidy
Pension Plan (HIS) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018. The Authority is required to record its
proportionate share of the FRS and HIS liability in the Authority's government-wide financial statements as of
September 30, 2018 and for the year then ended. Those financial statements (FRS & HIS) were audited by other
auditors whose report thereon has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts
included for Charlotte County Airport Authority's government-wide financial statements, is based on the
report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly,

INTEGRITY ......... SERVICE ......... EXPERIENCE
12621 World Plaza Lane, Building 55 • Fort Myers, FL 33907 • Phone: (239) 333-2090 • Fax: (239) 333-2097
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we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business-type activities of
Charlotte County Airport Authority as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, and the respective changes in financial
position and cash flows thereof, for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Emphasis of Matters
As discussed in Note A, the basic financial statements present only Charlotte County Airport Authority and
are not intended to present fairly the financial position of Charlotte County, Florida, as of September 30, 2018
and 2017, and the results of its operations and the cash flows of its business type activities for the fiscal years
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
As described in Note Q, the Authority adopted the provisions on Governmental Accounting Standards Board
Statement (GASB) No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than
Pensions . As a result of the implementation of GASB No. 75, the Authority reported a restatement for the
change in accounting principle. The auditor's opinion was not modified with respect to this restatement.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis on pages i - xx, Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension
Liability - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of Authority Contributions - Florida
Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension
Liability - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Schedule of Authority Contributions - Health
Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Notes to the Required Supplementary Information and Schedule of
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - GASB No. 75 and Related Notes to the Schedule, as
listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to
the required supplementary information - management's discussion and analysis (MD&A), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Notes to the Required
Supplementary Information and Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - GASB
No. 75 and Related Notes to the Schedule, as listed in the table of contents, in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
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during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on
the required supplementary information - management's discussion and analysis (MD&A), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Florida Retirement System Pension Plan (FRS), Schedule of the
Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS),
Schedule of Authority Contributions - Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan (HIS), Notes to the Required
Supplementary Information and Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios - GASB
No. 75 and Related Notes to the Schedule, as listed in the table of contents, because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Required Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise Charlotte County Airport Authority's basic financial statements. The required supplementary
information other than MD&A - budgetary comparison information is presented for purposes of additional
analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The required supplementary information other than MD&A - budgetary comparison information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the required supplementary information other than MD&A budgetary comparison
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements of Charlotte
County Airport Authority that collectively comprise the Charlotte County Airport Authority's basic financial
statements. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards for the year ended September 30,
2018 as required by the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, "Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards" is presented for purposes of
additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility
of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the accompanying
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards for the year ended September 30, 2018 is fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Authority's basic financial statements. The Exhibit - Management's Response to Independent
Auditor's Report to Management is not a required part of the basic financial statements but is required by
Government Auditing Standards. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on it.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
(MD&A)

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A)
The following management discussion and analysis of the Charlotte County Airport Authority’s
financial performance provides an overview of the financial activities of the Airport for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2018. The information contained in this discussion should be
considered in conjunction with the financial results, footnotes, and supplemental information in
the Airport’s basic financial statements.

Mission Statement
The Charlotte County Airport Authority (the “Airport”) is an independent special district pursuant
to the State constitution and the Laws of Florida, particularly Chapter 98-508 (codification) as
amended by Laws of Florida, Chapter 2011-263, Section 4 and by Chapter 2013-254. It is not a
component unit of Charlotte County. The Airport has jurisdiction, control, supervision and
management of the Airport and surrounding land within its legal boundaries, governed by a five
(5) member elected Board of Commissioners. The Airport is self-supporting, generating its
revenues from aviation and non-aviation leases, concessions, airline revenues and fuel sales. The
Airport facility is located in Charlotte County, Florida and was officially named the Punta Gorda
Airport in 2010.
The Airport strives to ensure the safety and security of the traveling public. It is dedicated to
maintaining a superior and reliable level of Airport services for local residents and tourists and is
committed to supporting the development of air linkages and facilities, which are integral parts of
its future economic growth as well as that of Southwest Florida.
Punta Gorda Airport is the only public use/public owned facility serving both the general aviation
and commercial aviation needs of the community. The Airport is a hub for Allegiant Airlines, a
low-cost carrier that offers direct flights to over 40 destinations. The Airport is open 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week and serves as a base airport for general aviation aircraft owners and operators
in the surrounding area. The Punta Gorda Airport boasts a strong personal and recreational flying
community.
The Airport occupies approximately 1800 acres of land east of I-75, south of US 17, and
approximately two miles south of the Peace River. It’s the highest elevation in Charlotte County,
at 25 feet above sea level. The Airport has within its boundaries a Foreign Trade Zone and three
runways accommodating private and commercial aircraft.
The Airport plays an important role in the enhancement of community services as well. The
Airport is the staging area for the First In Team for disasters and serves the U.S. Forestry Service
as a temporary fire tanker base. The Airport serves as a base of operation for the Charlotte County
Sheriff’s Office and Charlotte County Mosquito Control. The Airport is also home to an active
division of the Civil Air Patrol. The Airport began offering commercial airline passenger service
in 2007.
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GASB 34
The Annual Financial Statement summarizes the activity of all the Airport’s funds. The statements
changed in format as a result of implementing Governmental Accounting Standards Board GASB
34 for the year ended September 30, 2004, the year implementation was required. The discussion
on the implications of GASB 34 can be extensive. For the purposes of this report, a brief overview
is included herein.
In June, 1999, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) - which sets accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (Financial reporting rules) for all
state and local governments - established a new framework for the financial reports of state and
local governments. The new framework or financial reporting model represents the biggest single
change in the history of governmental accounting. GASB 34, known as Statement No. 34: Basic
Financial Statements - and Management’s Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local
Governments, represent a fundamental revision of the current financial reporting model, which has
been in place since 1979.
The GASB 34 model includes new features, such as government-wide financial reporting,
narrative overview, analysis (management’s discussion and analysis - MD&A) and infrastructure
reporting.
Overview of the Financial Statements
The Airport is structured as an enterprise fund. The Airport’s basic financial statements are
prepared on the accrual basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB). Therefore, revenues are recognized when earned, not when received. Expenses are
recognized when incurred, not when they are paid. Capital assets are capitalized and (except for
land and construction in progress) are depreciated over their useful lives. Refer to the notes of the
basic financial statements for a summary of the Airport’s significant accounting policies.
Following this Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) are the basic financial
statements and supplemental schedules of the Airport. This information, taken collectively, is
designed to provide readers with an understanding of the Airport’s finances.
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The Statement of Net Position presents information on all the Airport’s assets, deferred
outflows/inflows, and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position.
Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of the Airport’s
financial position. Below is a comparative of the components of the Airport’s net position.
COMPARATIVE NET POSITION
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Operating Revenues
The following charts show major operating revenue sources and the percentage of operating
revenue for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2018.
OPERATING REVENUES BY CATEGORY
YEAR ENDED 9/30/2018
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In comparison with the previous fiscal year ending September 30, 2017

OPERATING REVENUES BY CATEGORY
YEAR ENDED 9/30/2017
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Other Revenue

The following schedule shows net operating income (loss) before Depreciation for the past five
fiscal years ending September 30, 2018:

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
BEFORE DEPRECIATION
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
DEPRECIATION
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2018

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents information
showing how the Airport’s net position changed during the most recent year. All changes in net
assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of
the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses for some items are reported in this
Statement that will result in cash flows in future periods.
The Statement of Cash Flows relates to the flow of cash and cash equivalents. Consequently,
only transactions that affect the Airport’s cash accounts are recorded in this statement. The
reconciliation is provided at the bottom of the Statement of Cash Flows to assist in the
understanding of the difference between cash flows from operating activities and operating
income.
Budgetary Highlights
September 30, 2018
For the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Airport completed its required audit in a
timely manner.
Original Budget to Actual Variance
Total operating revenues were $14,543,625 which increased $1,552,788 over the original budgeted
amount of $12,990,837. This was mostly due to an increase in Airline Related Revenue.
Total operating expenses were $10,577,608 which was $697,279 more than the original budget
amount of $9,880,329. This was substantially due to pension expense accrual for FRS, along with
an increase in Airline Expenses relative to the increase in Airline Related Revenues.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
GRAPH - COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended September 30, 2014 - 2018
COMPARATIVE OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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Non-Capital Assets
The Airport’s non-capital assets as of September 30, 2018, and 2017 amounted to $12,657,512
and $8,288,522 respectively. This change is the result of an increase in Cash and Cash
Equivalents of $5,275,668 along with a decrease in Grants Receivable of $878,233.
CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
GRAPH - COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF NON-CAPITAL ASSETS
September 30, 2017 & 2018
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Capital Assets
The Airport’s net capital assets as of September 30, 2018, and 2017 amounted to $59,615,334 and
$57,528,350, respectively. This difference of $2,086,984 accounts for a $4,644,803 increase in
construction in progress, a $417,523 net increase in capital assets and an increase in accumulated
depreciation of $2,975,342. Additional information on the Airport’s capital asset activity can be
found in Note E of the Financial Statements.
The Airport primarily acquires its capital assets with proceeds from federal and state grants along
with Airport matching funds. Below is the comparative chart of capital assets as of September 30,
2017 and 2018:
COMPARATIVE CAPITAL ASSETS
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Current Liabilities
As of September 30, 2018, the Airport’s current liabilities totaled $1,828,254 compared to
$1,609,883 in the previous fiscal year.

COMPARATIVE CURRENT LIABILITIES
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Long-Term Liabilities
As of September 30, 2018, the Airport’s long-term liabilities totaled $5,381,838 compared to
$6,060,205 in the previous fiscal year. The decreased amount was the result of a decrease in the
State infrastructure bank loan and a decrease in Net Pension Liability.
COMPARATIVE LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
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Financial Highlights
•

In FY 2018, net position increased by $6,542,003, substantially due to an increase in
Airline Revenue, implementation of Passenger Facility Charges (PFCs), capital grants and
an increase in Net-Operating and Non-Operating Income.

•

Total operating revenues were $14,543,625, an increase of $2,511,400 compared to FY
2017. This increase was mostly due to a $2,117,135 increase in airline related revenue,
and an increase of $312,362 in fuel sales

•

Total operating expenses were $10,577,608, an increase of $1,227,128 in comparison to
FY 2017. The components included increases in personnel expenses, cost of fuel, and
airline related expenses.

*
The Year 2018 in Review
The Board and its staff have made strides in the current fiscal year in an effort to promote the
Airport. The Punta Gorda Airport is one of the most modern airports in Southwest Florida and
continues to improve.

Allegiant Air provides commercial flight service with flights to many Northeast, Midwest, and
Southeast U.S. destinations. They have added many new destinations to and from Punta Gorda.
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Passenger Comparisons for Fiscal Years 2017 & 2018
Fiscal year 2018 recorded a total passenger count of 1,541,132 versus the previous fiscal year of
1,233,628 passengers, an increase of 24.9%. The Authority anticipates a slight increase in
passenger numbers in 2019.

Charlotte County Airport Authority
Total Enplanements FY 2017 vs 2018
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2017
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2018
October
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February
March
April
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August
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Enplaned
Total
42,967
48,651
51,324
52,411
53,428
69,630
64,601
49,611
53,789
58,892
45,310
24,434
615,048
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Total
55,034
55,140
61,718
60,546
67,335
94,795
80,621
60,777
67,469
73,721
57,106
36,473
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Total
46,117
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Totals
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96,188
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Airline
Totals
114,113
110,097
128,388
122,901
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192,947
147,871
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145,426
111,335
74,068
1,541,132
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Many things are happening at the Punta Gorda Airport:

xvi

Aviation Appreciation Day 2018

xvii

FLYPGD TEAM FOR HANDS ACROSS THE
HARBOR 2018
To benefit the Charlotte Harbor Environmental Center

xviii

xix

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget
The Airport is once again looking forward to an exciting year with the continuation of the
commercial airline passenger services. The Fiscal Year 2019 Budget was based on the airline
schedule and the related revenues the Airport will collect and expenses the Airport will incur.
Future Outlook
The Punta Gorda Airport is one of the fastest growing airports in the Country. Increasing numbers
of passengers, more destinations and low fares have resulted from the financial model the Airport
has chosen to follow; ultra-low-cost airport for an ultra-low-cost airline.
The growth in passengers year-over-year from 2016 to 2017 was approximately 18.6%. The
growth in passengers year-over-year from 2017 to 2018 was nearly 25%. While the growth rate
has since tapered off, we feel it will continue to exceed the average national growth rate for the
next few years with the opening of the Sunseeker Resort.
The Airport made substantial progress in 2018, including work on the Airport’s Master Plan
Update and air carrier ramp expansion adjacent to the terminal, along with the final phase of
hydraulic hangar door replacements.
For 2019 and 2020, the Airport’s Capital Improvement Program includes airfield pavement
rehabilitation, reconstruction and extension projects, a new general aviation center located at the
north side of the airport, and mitigation and filling of wetlands.
The Airport is a self-supporting authority that in addition to airline revenues depends on
concessions, fuel sale revenues, along with revenues from rentals of hangars, buildings and land
leases to operate the airport. The Airport hosts approximately 400 based aircraft and has an active
general aviation community. Airport property is home to aviation and non-aviation businesses
currently providing employment to approximately 475 employees.
The Punta Gorda Airport is one of largest generators of economic activity in Charlotte County and
is responsible for more than $1.275 billion in total business sales as measured by the FDOT’s 2018
Statewide Aviation Economic Impact Study. With multiplier impacts, the study attributed 12,392
in total employment and nearly $419 million in labor income to Punta Gorda Airport.
Management will continue to develop strategic partnerships and attract new businesses with the
airport’s great access to air transportation, easy access to Interstate 75 and nearby rail facilities.

Request for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Airport’s finances for all
those with an interest in its finances. Questions concerning any of the information should be
addressed to James W. Parish, Executive Director, Charlotte County Airport Authority, 28000 A1 Airport Road, Punta Gorda, Florida 33982.

xx

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
September 30, 2018 and 2017
2018

2017

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Grant receivables
Other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses

$

11,267,898
222,360
291,171
522,683
49,267
119,556

$ 5,998,222
314,734
1,169,404
314,934
81,868
230,775

12,472,935

8,109,937

184,577

178,585

184,577

178,585

5,533,331
6,585,071

5,533,331
1,940,268

46,688,625
202,141
39,016,070
5,620,696
31,300
(44,061,900)

46,688,625
202,141
38,598,148
5,601,095
51,300
(41,086,558)

CAPITAL ASSETS, NET

59,615,334

57,528,350

TOTAL ASSETS

72,272,846

65,816,872

1,300,253

1,502,446

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
RESTRICTED ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents - tenant deposits
TOTAL RESTRICTED ASSETS
CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings
Airport master plan
Capital improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Donated surplus equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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2018

2017

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Rental and fuel advances
Unearned revenue
Tenant deposits
State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) loan, current portion

$

835,545
36,702
192,766
184,577
578,664

$

643,935
30,680
193,506
178,585
563,177

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

1,828,254

1,609,883

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
State Infrastructure Bank (SIB) loan,
net of current portion
Estimated liability for compensated absences
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

2,658,992
100,448
38,122
2,584,276
5,381,838

3,237,656
90,137
38,094
2,694,318
6,060,205

TOTAL LIABILITIES

7,210,092

7,670,088

303,348

131,574

56,377,678
9,681,981
66,059,659

53,727,517
5,790,139
$ 59,517,656

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted
TOTAL NET POSITION

$

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
2017

2018
OPERATING REVENUES
Fuel and oil sales
Industrial and commercial park rentals
Hangar rentals and tie downs
General-aviation-related concession, vending and fees
Airline-related revenues:
Car rentals
Parking
Other, including LEO and concessions
Other operating revenues

$

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and retirement
Personnel expenses
Cost of fuel and oil sales
Advertising
Marketing and promotional
Bank charges and credit card fees
Dues and subscriptions
Insurance
Legal and professional
Licenses and permits
Mowing
Postage
Repairs and maintenance and equipment fuel
Computer maintenance and expense
Supplies (including vending purchases)
Telephone and communications
Travel and auto allowance
Utilities
Airline expenses
Security
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
BEFORE DEPRECIATION
NET OPERATING INCOME
BEFORE DEPRECIATION
Less: Depreciation
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$

2,962,921
1,094,035
777,209
19,475

$

2,650,559
1,061,173
783,451
19,381

5,421,567
3,069,359
1,068,239
130,820

4,186,254
2,362,611
893,166
75,630

14,543,625

12,032,225

2,980,168
865,443
766,025
1,728,593
632
141,923
46,188
43,378
315,380
162,522
22,864
13,609
8,513
530,521
173,024
274,609
43,274
36,987
408,560
1,968,690
46,705

2,628,900
835,960
620,151
1,495,215
4,405
113,353
47,243
53,022
288,729
219,977
4,797
26,273
5,503
546,304
114,192
230,700
29,668
45,804
389,987
1,603,546
46,751

10,577,608

9,350,480

3,966,017
(3,341,419)

2,681,745
(3,712,009)

624,598

$

(1,030,264)
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2018
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)
from previous page

$

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
PFC's
Interest on investments
Miscellaneous revenue (expense)
Interest expense
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets
Insurance premium refund
Post retirement benefit accrual (expense)
Bank fees
Bad debt expense

624,598

2017
$

(1,030,264)

1,687,426
37,166
184,981
(104,523)
28,963
22,357
(6,449)
(3,209)
(1,248)

5,964
(48,438)
(122,096)
(482,283)
17,684
(6,449)
(2,200)
(1,633)

NET NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)

1,845,464

(639,451)

GAIN (LOSS) BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

2,470,062

(1,669,715)

4,071,941

2,565,997

TOTAL CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

4,071,941

2,565,997

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION

6,542,003

896,282

59,517,656

58,621,374

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Capital grants and contributions

NET POSITION - Beginning
NET POSITION - End of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$

66,059,659

$

59,517,656

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers
Cash received (paid) from customer deposits
Other income received
Cash payments for goods and services
Cash payments to employees
NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND
RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Contributions from government agencies
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Principal payments (SIB)
Interest expense on debt (SIB)
Bank fees
Proceeds from disposition of capital assets
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) CAPITAL
AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest earned on investments

2018

2017

$ 14,432,285
5,992
1,894,764
(7,004,507)
(2,969,857)

$ 11,868,304
25,298
(30,754)
(4,922,705)
(3,729,230)

6,358,677

3,210,913

-

-

4,950,174
(5,444,952)
(563,177)
(104,523)
(3,209)
45,512

2,039,773
(3,848,737)
(548,104)
(122,096)
(2,200)
4,150

(1,120,175)

(2,477,214)

37,166

5,964

NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

37,166

5,964

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

5,275,668

739,663

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING

6,176,807

5,437,144

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ENDING

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$ 11,452,475

$

6,176,807
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2018

2017

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS) TO
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

$

624,598

$ (1,030,264)

Adjustments to reconcile operating revenue (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation

3,341,419

Bad debt expense

(1,248)

Plus non cash disposals

-

3,712,009
(1,633)
202,704

Miscellaneous non-operating net revenue

1,894,764

(30,754)

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable

92,374

(47,496)

(207,749)

(95,015)

32,601

(6,624)

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses

111,219

(27,573)

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses

191,610

188,560

(Increase) decrease in other receivables
(Increase) decrease in inventories

Increase (decrease) in rental and fuel advances
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue
Increase (decrease) in tenant deposits

6,022
(740)

(49,697)
29,920

5,992

25,298

10,311

19,379

257,504

322,099

TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS

5,734,079

4,241,177

NET CASH PROVIDED BY
(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$ 6,358,677

$ 3,210,913

Increase (decrease) in estimated liability
for compensated
absences
- non cash
Increase
in estimated
liability
Net increase (decrease) in pension and OPEB expense - non cash

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Organization and nature of activities
Charlotte County Airport Authority (the "Authority") was authorized under Laws of
Florida, Chapter 65-1357 and Florida Statute, Chapter 332, in 1965. This enabling
act has been amended by subsequent acts of the State of Florida legislature. Two
significant amendments directly affected the operations of the Authority. Laws of
Florida, Chapter 91-399 removed the ability of the Authority to levy ad valorem
taxes. The other, Laws of Florida, Chapter 91-361 had the potential of abolishing
the Authority and transferring its assets and liabilities to Charlotte County. However,
the Charlotte County Board of Commissioners voted on November 12, 1991 to
allow the Authority to remain as an independent elected Authority. Laws of Florida,
Chapter 98-508 codified, reenacted, amended and repealed its prior enabling acts
including a change to its official name to become the Charlotte County Airport
Authority. The Authority was originally known as the Charlotte County
Development Authority. Laws of Florida, Chapter 98-508 (codification) was
amended by Laws of Florida, Chapter 2004-405 to eliminate certain obsolete
requirements and modernize certain other provisions. During July 2010, the
Authority approved a name change of the airport facility (not the Authority itself) to
Punta Gorda Airport. Effective on June 21, 2011, the Authority amended Chapter
98-508, Laws of Florida, via Chapter 2011-263, Laws of Florida, by expanding the
purpose of the Authority to include any airports within the boundaries of Charlotte
County and all facilities, real estate and commerce parks within the Authority's
boundaries. It also revised certain technical definitions and requirements. Chapter
2013-254, Laws of Florida, clarified the manner in which Authority Board Members
are elected. The Authority is governed by an elected five (5) member elected Board
of Commissioners.
Reporting entity
The Charlotte County Airport Authority is financially independent of all other units of
government. It is responsible for financing its own activities and the payment of its
own debt. The Authority's Board members are elected by the voters of Charlotte
County to serve staggered four (4) year terms. The Board has the responsibility to
employ management that is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Authority. The Board has absolute authority over all funds included in the entity.
The Charlotte County Airport Authority is not a component unit of any other
governmental unit.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED

Reporting entity, continued
The Authority has adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement
Number 14, "Financial Reporting Entity" (GASB 14), as amended by GASB
Statement Number 39, "Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component
Units" and GASB Statement Number 61, "The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34". These Statements
require the financial statements of the Authority (the primary government) to include
its component units, if any. Component units are legally separate agencies for which
the primary government is financially accountable for organizations whose exclusion
would cause the financial statements to be misleading because of the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government. Financial accountability
is determined by the primary government's ability to appoint the voting majority of the
entity's Board, impose its will on the Organization, and the existence of a financial
benefit/burden relationship or fiscal dependency. Based on this criteria, there are no
component units included or required to be included in the Authority's financial
statements.
The Charlotte County Airport Authority adheres to the requirements of Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 33 "Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Non-Exchange Transactions." As such, capital grant revenue is
recorded as non-operating revenue and is reflected on the Statements of Revenue,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Prior to implementation of this Statement,
these revenues were required to be recorded directly to equity as part of contributed
capital and, as such, had no effect on the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position.
Accordingly, the Authority recorded non-operating revenues as follows: capital grants
totaling $4,071,941 and $2,565,997 for the years ended September 30, 2018
and 2017, respectively.
The following is a summary of the significant accounting polices used in the
preparation of these financial statements:
The Authority adheres to the requirements of Governmental Accounting Standards
Board Statement Number 34, "Basic Financial Statement and Management's
Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments" (GASB 34).

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED

The government-wide financial statements along with the notes to the financial
statements and the RSI, as noted below comprise the basic financial statements.
The basic financial statements of the Authority are comprised of the following:
- Government-wide financial statements
- Notes to the financial statements
- Required supplementary information other than MD&A
Government-wide financial statements
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position) report information
on all of the activities of the Authority and do not emphasize fund types. These
business-type activities comprise the primary government. Business-type activities
rely on user fees and charges to support its activities rather than taxes and
intergovernmental revenues. The purpose of the government-wide financial
statements is to allow the user to be able to determine if the Authority is in a better or
worse financial position than the prior year.
Government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes
place. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
nonexchange transactions are recognized in accordance with the requirements of
GASB Statement Number 33, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Nonexchange Transactions".
Amounts paid to acquire capital assets are capitalized as assets in the
government-wide financial statements, rather than reported as expenditures.
Proceeds of long-term debt are recorded as liabilities in the government-wide
financial statements, rather than as other financing sources. Amounts paid to reduce
long-term indebtedness of the reporting government are reported as a reduction of
the related liability in the government-wide financial statements, rather than as
expenditures.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED

Government-wide financial statements, continued
The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Net Position demonstrates
the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by program
revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific
function or segment. Program revenues include: 1) charges to customers or applicants
who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a
given function and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital improvements of a particular function.
Program revenues are considered to be revenues generated by such functions as
airline revenue, fuel and oil sales, facility rentals and leases, and concessions.
Budgetary information
As required, the Authority uses only one fund to account for its financial activities.
As such, it is considered a major fund. The Authority has elected to report budgetary
comparison of its major fund as required supplementary information (RSI).
Fund accounting
The Authority's financial practices are based upon fund accounting concepts. A fund
is defined as a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts
recording cash and other financial resources, together with all related liabilities and
fund equity balances and changes therein.
The accompanying financial statements are classified as a proprietary fund type enterprise fund. This fund accounts for all the revenues and cost of services provided
by the Authority.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Business-type activities - proprietary fund type
Enterprise Fund - An enterprise fund is used to account for operations (1) that are
financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises where the
intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or
recovered primarily through user charges; or (2) where the Authority has decided
that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income
is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control,
accountability, or other purposes.
Measurement focus
Proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement
focus. With this measurement focus, assets and liabilities associated with the
operation of these funds are included on the Statements of Net Position. Fund equity
is segregated into net investment in capital assets and retained earnings components.
Proprietary fund-type operating statements present increases (i.e. revenues) and
decreases (i.e. expenses) in total net position.
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the
Authority's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they
are needed.
Basis of accounting
The proprietary fund type is presented on the accrual basis of accounting. Under the
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded in the period earned and expenses
are recorded in the period the liability is incurred.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Budgetary process
The Authority operates under a flexible budget for control purposes. The budget and
amendments, if any, are approved by the Board of Commissioners. The budget is
prepared on a Non-GAAP accrual basis, whereby capital expenditures and debt
principal payments are budgeted as operating expenses.
The annual budget serves as the legal authorization for expenditures. Expenditures
cannot legally exceed the total amount budgeted. All budget amendments, which
change the legally adopted total appropriation, are approved by the Board.
The Authority follows these procedures in establishing budgetary data.
1. During the summer of each year, management submits to the Board of
Commissioners a proposed operating budget for the fiscal year commencing on
October 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the means
of financing them.
2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain citizen comments.
3. The budget is adopted by approval of the Board of Commissioners.
4. Budget amounts, as shown in these financial statements, are as originally adopted
or as amended by the Board of Commissioners.
5. The budget is adopted on a Non-GAAP basis as reflected in the supplementary
information and as noted above.
6. The level of control for appropriations is exercised at the fund level.
7. Appropriations lapse at year-end.
The Board of Commissioners approved budget amendments during the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2018. The budget amendments decreased total budgeted
revenues (operating and non-operating) by $4,399,917 and decreased total
budgeted expenses (operating and non-operating) by $4,399,917.
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, the Authority considers all highly
liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less, when purchased, to be a
cash equivalent, including both restricted and unrestricted cash, in accordance with
Authority policy.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Accounts receivable
Receivables include fuel sales and rental/lease activities from operations by the
Authority. The Authority places customers that have accounts over 90 days past due
on a cash basis and negotiates payment and/or takes legal action for the past due
amounts. The accounts receivable are recorded net of the estimated allowance for
doubtful accounts.
Grants and contracts receivable
Grants and contracts receivable consist of receivables from expenditure
reimbursements filed with State and/or Federal governments. No allowance for
doubtful accounts has been provided, as management believes the balances to be
fully collectible.
Inventories
Inventories consist of fuel and oil held for resale at year end. The inventories are
valued at cost, which approximates market. The method used to determine the value
of the inventory is the FIFO (first in-first out) method.
Capital assets and depreciation
All capital assets acquired by proprietary funds are reported in those funds at
historical cost or estimated historical cost, if actual historical cost is not available.
Donated assets are reported at estimated fair market value at the time received.
Substantially, all infrastructure type capital assets consisting of certain improvements
such as roads, curbs, gutters, drainage systems and lighting systems have been
capitalized.
The Authority follows a policy which calls for capitalization of all capital assets that
have a cost or donated value of $5,000 or more and have a useful life in excess of
one year.
Maintenance, repairs and minor renovations are not capitalized. The acquisition of
land and construction projects utilizing resources received from Federal and State
agencies are capitalized when the related expenditure is incurred.
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017

NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Capital assets and depreciation, continued
For the year ended September 30, 2018, $0 debt-related interest cost was
capitalized as part of the cost of construction. For the year ended September 30,
2017, debt related interest cost of $0 was capitalized as part of the cost of
construction.
Depreciable capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives:
Asset
Buildings
Airport Master Plan
Capital Improvements
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment
Donated Surplus Equipment

Years
10-40
5
3-20
3-20
5-10

Restricted assets
Restricted assets are cash reserves required by the applicable contracts, tenant
deposits, insurance and/or amounts advanced as part of Federal or State Financial
Awards.
Income taxes
The Authority, as a governmental unit, is exempt from income taxes under current
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.
Sick leave and other compensated absences
Accumulated unpaid sick pay and other compensated absences are accrued when
incurred in the proprietary fund. The method of accrual is in accordance with
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement Number 16, "Accounting for
Compensated Absences" (GASB 16). This Standard provides for the measurement
of accrued vacation leave and other compensated absences using the pay or salary
rates in effect at the balance sheet date. It also requires additional amounts to be
accrued for certain salary related payments associated with the payment of
compensated absences such as FICA and retirement benefits.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Encumbrances
Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other
commitments for the expenditure of monies are recorded in order to reserve that
portion of the applicable appropriation, is not employed by the Authority because at
present it is not necessary in order to assure budgetary control or to facilitate
effective cash planning and control.
Capital contributions and restricted net assets
Grants, entitlements or shared revenues which are externally restricted for capital
acquisition or construction are reported as capital contributions on the Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Contributed or donated fixed
assets are also recorded as capital contributions. Restricted net assets represent
those portions of fund equity legally restricted by debt covenants for future debt
service or to fund the cost of capital assets.
Leasing activity
The Authority derives a portion of its operating revenues from the rental and leasing
of land, buildings, and aircraft hangars and tie-down space. The lease agreements
have been determined to be operating leases which are cancellable and substantially,
annually renewable. Therefore, leasing arrangements are reported and reflected in
the financial statements as rental income.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the
current presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the results of
operations or fund equity.
Application of FASB Pronouncements to Proprietary Funds
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 20, "Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Proprietary Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund
Accounting", the Authority has elected not to apply those FASB Statements and
Interpretations issued after November 30, 1989.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Accounting Pronouncement GASB No. 42
The Authority adheres to Government Accounting Standards Board Statement
Number 42, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets
and for Insurance Recoveries" (GASB 42). GASB 42 establishes accounting and
financial reporting standards for impairment of capital assets.
A capital asset is considered impaired when its service utility has declined significantly
and unexpectedly. Governments are required to evaluate prominent events or
changes in circumstances affecting capital assets to determine whether impairment of
a capital asset has occurred. Such events or changes in circumstances that may be
indicative of impairment include evidence of physical damage, enactment or approval
of laws or regulations or other changes in environmental factors, technological
changes or evidence of obsolescence, changes in the manner or duration of a capital
asset, and construction stoppage. A capital asset generally should be considered
impaired if both (a) the decline in service utility of the capital asset is large in
magnitude and (b) the event or change in circumstance is outside the normal life cycle
of the capital asset.
The Authority incurred no capital asset impairment activity for the years ended
September 30, 2018 or 2017.
Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
Operating and non-operating revenues
Operating revenues result from providing private and commercial airline services, and
also from the rental and leasing of land, buildings, and aircraft hangars and tie-down
space. The Authority considers revenues from fuel and oil sales, industrial and
commercial park rentals, hangar rentals and tiedowns, concession and vending, and
airline (primarily car rentals and parking) as operating revenues. All other revenues
are treated as non-operating revenues.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Pensions
In the Statements of Net Position, liabilities are recognized for the Authority's
proportionate share of each pension plan's net pension liability. For purposes of
measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the Florida Retirement System (FRS) and the Health
Insurance Subsidy (HIS) defined benefit plans and additions to/deductions from
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported
by the Plans. For this purpose, benefit payments, (including refunds of employees
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit
terms.
The Authority's retirement plans and related amounts are described in a subsequent
note.
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In addition to assets, the Statements of Net Position report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to future
periods and so will not be recognized an as outflow of resources
(expense/expenditure) until then. The deferred amount on pensions and OPEB is
reported in the Statements of Net Position. The deferred outflows of resources
related to pensions are discussed in a subsequent note.
In addition to liabilities, the Statements of Net Position report a separate section for
deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that
time. The deferred amount on pension is reported only in the Statements of Net
Position. A deferred amount on pension and OPEB results from the difference in the
expected and actual amounts of expenditures, earnings, and contributions. This
amount is deferred and amortized over the service life of all employees that are
provided with these benefits through the pension and OPEB plans except earnings
which are amortized over five to seven years.
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NOTE A - ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES, CONTINUED
Subsequent events
Subsequent events have been evaluated through January 15, 2019, which is the date
the basic financial statements were available to be issued.
NOTE B - CASH AND INVESTMENTS
At September 30, 2018 and 2017, cash and cash equivalents were $11,452,475 and
$6,176,807, including cash on hand of $10,837 and $7,613, respectively. The
carrying amount of $11,452,475 at September 30, 2018 was comprised of
unrestricted cash of $11,267,898 and restricted cash of $184,577. At September 30,
2017, the carrying amount of $6,176,807 was comprised of unrestricted cash of
$5,998,222 and restricted cash of $178,585.
Deposits
The Authority's deposit policy allows deposits to be held in demand deposits, savings
accounts, certificates of deposit and money market accounts. At September 30,
2018 and 2017, all deposits are held in qualified public depositories pursuant to
Florida Statutes Chapter 280, "Florida Security for Public Deposits Act". The
Authority adheres to the requirements of GASB Statement No. 31, "Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools," in
which all investments are reported at fair value. In addition, the Authority abides by
Florida Statute 218.415(17) as its investment policy. All deposits were fully insured
by Federal Depository Insurance or collateralized, in the Authority's name, as
required by Sections 280.07 and 280.08 of the Florida Statutes.
Deposits were as follows at September 30:
Bank
Balance

September 30, 2018
Unrestricted
Depository accounts

$

11,322,293

$

$

11,257,061

11,506,870

$

11,441,638

$

6,995,187

$

5,990,609

$

7,173,772

$

6,169,194

Restricted
Depository accounts - tenant deposits
September 30, 2017
Unrestricted
Depository accounts

Carrying
Amount

184,577

Restricted
Depository accounts - tenant deposits

184,577

178,585

178,585
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NOTE B - CASH AND INVESTMENTS, CONTINUED
Investments

Florida Statutes and the Authority's investment policy authorize investments in direct
obligations of the U.S. Treasury, Federal agencies and instrumentalities, certificates of
deposit, savings accounts with qualified public depositories and the Florida Municipal
Investment Trust Fund. The Authority held no such investments during the years
September 30, 2018 or 2017 or at the respective year ends.
NOTE C - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consists of the following at September 30:
Accounts receivable
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts

$

2018
222,360
-

$

2017
314,734
-

Accounts receivable, net

$

222,360

$

314,734

An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded in the amounts of $0 and
$0 at September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Bad debt expense for the
years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $1,248 and $1,633, respectively.
NOTE D - GRANT RECEIVABLES
Grant receivables consist of the following at September 30:
2017

2018
Federal Awards
U.S. Department of Transportation
Master Plan (AIP 35)
Apron Expansion (AIP 36)
U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Leo Award Program
State Awards
Department of Transportation (FDOT)
Hangar Repair & Door Replacement (GO 592)
Parking Facility Expansion (GOO75)
Master Plan (GOE 19)

$

$

14,291
-

$

117,430
845,712

50,165

41,530

225,921
794
291,171

158,208
6,524
1,169,404

$

Page 21 of 66

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
NOTE E - CAPITAL ASSET ACTIVITY

The following is a summary of changes in capital asset activity for the year ended
September 30, 2018:
Balance
October 1
2017

Additions

Adjustments/
Reclasses

Deletions

Balance
September 30
2018

Capital Assets Not
Being Depreciated:
Land

$ 5,533,331

Construction in Progress

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

5,533,331

1,940,268

5,009,280

-

(364,477)

6,585,071

7,473,599

5,009,280

-

(364,477)

12,118,402

Total Capital Assets
Not Being Depreciated
Capital Assets
Being Depreciated:
Buildings
Airport Master Plan
Capital Improvements

46,688,625

-

-

-

46,688,625

202,141

-

-

-

202,141

38,598,148

53,445

-

364,477

39,016,070

5,601,095

382,227

(362,626)

-

5,620,696

51,300

-

(20,000)

-

31,300

91,141,309

435,672

(382,626)

364,477

91,558,832

Furniture, Fixtures and
Equipment
Donated Surplus Equip.
Total Capital Assets
Being Depreciated
Less Accumulated
Depreciation:
Buildings
Airport Master Plan
Capital Improvements

(14,457,037)

(1,701,343)

(202,140)

-

-

-

(16,158,380)

-

-

(202,140)

(24,098,655)

(1,059,743)

-

-

(25,158,398)

(2,287,596)

(579,203)

346,077

-

(2,520,722)

(41,130)

(1,130)

20,000

-

(22,260)

Total Accum. Depreciation (41,086,558)

(3,341,419)

366,077

-

(44,061,900)

(16,549) $

-

59,615,334

Furniture, Fixtures and
Equipment
Donated Surplus Equip.

Capital Assets, Net $ 57,528,350

$

2,103,533

$

Related Long Term Debt
Net Investment in Capital Assets

(3,237,656)
$ 56,377,678
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NOTE E - CAPITAL ASSET ACTIVITY, CONTINUED

The depreciation expense for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, was
$3,341,419 and $3,712,009, respectively.
At September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority leased to various tenants buildings
with a cost $24,118,539 and $24,118,539 which had accumulated depreciation of
$12,713,643 and $12,036,400 and depreciation expense of $677,243 and $591,156,
respectively, which are included in the totals above.
NOTE F - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
The following is a summary of the Authority's long-term liabilities for the years ended
September 30:
Accrued
SIB Loan
Balance - Sept. 30, 2016

$

4,348,937

$

Line of

Compensated

Net OPEB

Net Pension

Credit

Absences

Liability

Liability

-

$

70,758

Borrowings/Increase (net)

-

-

19,379

GASB no. 75 adjustment

-

-

-

-

-

Principal retired (net)

(548,104)

Balance - Sept. 30, 2017
Borrowings/Increase (net)
Principal retired/decrease (net)

75,294

$

6,449

2,239,021

$

455,297

(43,649)

6,734,010
481,125

-

(43,649)

-

-

(548,104)

3,800,833

-

90,137

38,094

2,694,318

6,623,382

-

-

10,311

28

-

10,339

-

-

-

-

100,448

38,122

2,584,276

-

-

-

-

(563,177)

Balance - Sept. 30, 2018

$

Total

3,237,656

(110,042)

(673,219)
5,960,502

Principal due within
one (1) year
Long Term Portion

(578,664)
$

2,658,992

$

-

$

100,448

$

38,122

$

2,584,276

(578,664)
$

5,381,838
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NOTE F - LONG-TERM DEBT, CONTINUED
Long-term debt is comprised of the following at September 30:

2017

2018
Non-current portion of compensated absences. Employees
of the Authority are entitled to paid scheduled (vacation)
leave based on length of service and job classification.
Net OPEB liability - GASB No. 75 actuarially determined
Net pension obligation - FRS pension plan. This amount is
actuarially determined through calculation based upon the
audited financial statements of the Florida FRS Plan at June
30, 2018 and 2017.
Net pension obligation - HIS plan. This amount is actuarially
determined through calculation based upon the audited
financial statements of the Florida FRS Plan at June 30, 2018
and 2017.
The Authority was approved for a State Infrastructure Bank
Loan (SIB) during the year ended September 30, 2012 in the
amount of $5,800,000 (CFDA 20.205) to finance
improvements and expansion of the airport terminal area
(AIP 32 and 33). This loan was made available as of July 1,
2012 and is collateralized by the revenues of the Authority.
The first draw was received in October 2013. Interest
accrues at 2.75%. The loan requires ten (10) annual
principal plus accrued interest payments beginning on
October 1 following the completion of the project. Loan
payments began on October 1, 2015 and continue until
2025.
Total
Less: current portion
Long-term portion

$

100,448

$

90,137

38,122

38,094

1,751,713

1,837,767

832,563

856,551

3,237,656

3,800,833

5,960,502

6,623,382

(578,664)
$ 5,381,838

(563,177)
$ 6,060,205
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The annual debt service requirements at September 30, 2018, were as follows:
Years Ending
September 30
SIB Loan Payable:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024-2025

Total
Interest

Total
Principal
$

578,664
594,578
610,929
627,729
644,992
180,764

$

Total

89,036
73,122
56,771
39,971
22,708
4,971

$

667,700
667,700
667,700
667,700
667,700
185,735

Total SIB Loan Payable

3,237,656

286,579

3,524,235

Accrued compensated absences
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability

100,448
38,122
2,584,276

-

100,448
38,122
2,584,276

Total Long-Term Debt

$

5,960,502

$

286,579

$

6,247,081

Interest costs of $104,523 were expensed during the year ended September 30,
2018. Interest costs in the amount of $122,096 incurred during the year ended
September 30, 2017 were expensed.
Commitment letter - LOC
Effective April 15, 2016, the Authority signed a Commitment Letter with a financial
institution to establish a $1 million revolving Line of Credit (LOC). The LOC was
available, although the Authority did not activate the LOC. The Authority did not
renew the Commitment Letter upon its maturity on May 31, 2018. The LOC
included a variable interest rate equal to 67% of the 30 day LIBOR rate plus 261
basis points payable monthly. Principal and interest was due in full at maturity. During
the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, no amounts were borrowed on the
LOC. The Authority, however, paid $0 and $2,500 to renew the LOC for the years
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Other post employment benefits
The Authority provides post retirement health care benefits to eligible employees.
Upon retirement from the Authority and becoming a recipient of monies from the
State of Florida Retirement Trust Fund (FRS), eligible retired employees are qualified
for continued health insurance benefits. Eligible retired employees have their medical
insurance premiums paid by the Authority, but are required to reimburse the
Authority a portion of the premiums paid by the Authority on their behalf. For further
details of these benefits, reference the OPEB Note.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN

General Information about the Florida Retirement System
The Florida Retirement System ("FRS") was created in Chapter 121, Florida
Statutes. The FRS was created to provide a defined benefit pension plan ("Pension
Plan") for participating public employees. Substantially, all Authority employees are
participants in the Statewide Florida Retirement System (FRS) under authority of
Article X, Section 14 of the State Constitution and Florida Statutes, Chapters 112
and 121. The FRS was amended in 1998 to add the Deferred Retirement Option
Program ("DROP") under the defined benefit plan and amended in 2000 to provide
an integrated defined contribution plan alternative to the defined benefit plan for FRS
members effective July 1, 2002. This integrated defined contribution pension plan is
the FRS Investment Plan. Chapter 112, Florida Statutes, established the Retiree
Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program, a separate cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan to assist retired members of any State-administered
retirement system in paying the costs of health insurance.
Essentially all regular employees of the Authority are eligible to enroll as members of
the State-administered FRS. Provisions relating to the FRS are established by
Chapters 121 and 122, Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes;
Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and Florida Retirement System Rules, Chapter 60S,
Florida Administrative Code; wherein eligibility, contributions, and benefits are
defined and described in detail. Such provisions may be amended at any time by
further action from the Florida Legislature. The FRS is a single retirement system
administered by the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of
Retirement, and consists of two cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit plans
(Pension and HIS Plans) and other nonintegrated programs. A comprehensive
annual financial report of the FRS, which includes its financial statements, required
supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant information dated June
30, 2018, is available from the Florida Department of Management Services' Web
site (www.dms.myflorida.com).
The Authority's total pension expense was $532,430, $585,560 and $227,135 for
the years ended September 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Authority's
actual total contributions to the Plan was $269,291 for the year ended September
30, 2018. The Authority contributed 100% of the required contributions.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED

FRS Pension Plan
Plan Description. The FRS Pension Plan ("Plan") is a cost-sharing multipleemployer defined benefit pension plan, with a Deferred Retirement Option Program
(DROP) for eligible employees. The general classes of membership are as follows:

Regular Class - Members of the FRS who do not qualify for membership in the
other classes.
Senior Management Service Class (SMSC) - Members in senior management
level positions.
Special Risk Class - Members who are employed as law enforcement officers
and meet the criteria to qualify for this class.
Elected Officials - Members who are elected by the voters within the Authority
boundaries.
Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at six years of creditable
service and employees enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at eight
years of creditable service. All vested members, enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are
eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 62 or at any age after 30 years of
service, except for those members classified as special risk who are eligible for
normal retirement benefits at age 55 or at any age after 25 years of service. All
members enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, once vested, are eligible for
normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of creditable service,
except for members classified as special risk who are eligible for normal retirement
benefits at age 60 or at any age after 30 years of service. Members of both Plans
(Pension and HIS) may include up to 4 years of credit for military service toward
creditable service. The Plan also includes an early retirement provision; however,
there is a benefit reduction for each year a member retires before his or her normal
retirement date. The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, and annual
cost of living adjustments to eligible participants.
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits
employees eligible for normal retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly
benefit payments while continuing employment with an FRS employer. An employee
may participate in DROP for a period not to exceed 60 months after electing to
participate. During the period of DROP participation, deferred monthly benefits are
held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest. The net pension liability does not
include amounts for DROP participants, as these members are considered retired and
are not accruing additional pension benefits.
Benefits Provided. Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age,
and/or years of service, average final compensation, and credit service. Credit for
each year of service is expressed as a percentage of the average final compensation.
For members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is
the average of the five highest fiscal years' earnings; for the members initially enrolled
on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the eight
highest fiscal years' earnings. The total percentage value of the benefit received is
determined by calculating the total value of all service, which is based on retirement
plan and/or the class to which the member belonged when the service credit was
earned. Members are eligible for in-line-of-duty or regular disability and survivors'
benefits. The following chart shows the percentage value of each year of service
credit earned:
Class, Initial Enrollment, and Retirement Age/Years of Service
Regular Class and elected members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011
Retirement up to age 62, or up to 30 years of service
Retirement at age 63 or with 31 years of service
Retirement at age 64 or with 32 years of service
Retirement at age 65 or with 33 or more years of service

%Value
1.60
1.63
1.65
1.68

Regular Class and elected members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011
Retirement up to age 65 or up to 33 years of service
Retirement at age 66 or with 34 years of service
Retirement at age 67 or with 35 years of service
Retirement at age 68 or with 36 or more years of service

1.60
1.63
1.65
1.68

Special Risk Regular
Service from December 1, 1970 through September 30, 1974
Service on or after October 1, 1974

2.00
3.00

Senior Management Service Class
Elected Officers' Class

2.00
3.00
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member is initially enrolled in
the FRS before July 1, 2011 and all service credit was accrued before July 1, 2011,
the annual cost-of-living adjustment is 3 percent per year. If the member is initially
enrolled before July 1, 2011 and has service credit on or after July 1, 2011, there is
an individually calculated cost-of-living adjustment. The annual cost-of-living
adjustment is a proportion of 3 percent determined by dividing the sum of the
pre-July 2011 service credit by the total service credit at retirement multiplied by 3
percent. Plan members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011 will not have a
cost-of-living adjustment after retirement.
Contributions. The Florida Legislature establishes contribution rates for
participating employers and employees. Contribution rates during the year ended
September 30, 2018 were as follows:
Percent of Gross Salary*
Class

Employee

Employer (1)

Employer (3)

Florida Retirement System, Regular
Florida Retirement System, Senior Management Service
Florida Retirement System, Special Risk
Deferred Retirement Option Program - Applicable
to Members from All of the Above Classes
Florida Retirement System, Reemployed Retiree
Florida Retirement System, Elected Official

3.00
3.00
3.00

7.92
22.71
23.27

8.26
24.06
24.50

0.00
(2)
3.00

13.26
N/A
45.50

14.03
N/A
48.70

Notes:
(1) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/17 - 6/30/18.
(2) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class in which reemployed.
(3) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/18 - 6/30/19.
*

As defined by the Plan.
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the Pension Plan. At
September 30, 2018, the Authority reported an FRS pension liability of $1,751,713
for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of September 30, 2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2018.
The Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability was based on the
Authority's 2017-18 fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2017-18 fiscal year
contributions of all participating members. At September 30, 2018, the Authority's
proportionate share was .005815680 percent, which was a decrease of
.039733200 percent from its proportionate share measure as of September 30,
2017.
For the year ended September 30, 2018, the Authority recognized FRS pension
expense of $417,045. In addition, the Authority reported deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the pension from the following
sources:
Deferred Outflows

Deferred Inflows

of Resources

of Resources

Description
Differences between expected
and actual experience

$

Change of assumptions

148,396

$

5,386

572,375

-

-

135,341

209,398

-

45,834

59,778

Net difference between projected and
actual earnings on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between
Authority contributions and proportionate share
of contributions
Authority contributions subsequent to the
measurement date
Total

$

976,003

$

200,505
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
The deferred outflows of resources related to the FRS pension, totaling $45,834
resulting from Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30,
2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to the pension will be recognized in pension expense over
the remaining service period of 6.4 years as follows:
Fiscal Years Ending
September 30
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

$

$

Amount
126,351
126,351
126,351
126,350
160,186
64,075
729,664

Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the July 1, 2018, actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement:

Inflation
Real payroll growth
Salary increases
Investment rate of return

2.60 percent
0.65 percent
3.25 percent, average, including inflation
7.00 percent, net of pension plan
investment expense, including inflation

Mortality rates were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projection Scale BB.
The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2018, valuation were based on the
results of an actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2008 through June 30,
2013.
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was not based on
historical returns, but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic
model. The allocation policy's description of each asset class was used to map the
target allocation to the asset classes shown below. Each asset class assumption is
based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions and includes an adjustment for
the inflation assumption. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic and
geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the
following table:

Asset Class
Cash
Fixed income
Global equity
Real estate (property)
Private equity
Strategic investments
Total

Target
Allocation (1)
1.00%
18.00%
54.00%
11.00%
10.00%
6.00%

Annual
Arithmetic
Return
2.9%
4.4%
7.6%
6.6%
10.7%
6.0%

Compound
Annual
(Geometric)
Return
2.9%
4.3%
6.3%
6.0%
7.8%
5.7%

Standard
Deviation
1.8%
4.0%
17.0%
11.3%
26.5%
8.6%

100.00%

Assumed inflation - Mean

2.60%

1.90%

(1) As outlined in the Plan's investment policy.

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability
was 7.00 percent. The Plan's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to
make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the
long-term expected rate of return.
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FRS Pension Plan, continued
Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the Authority's
proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of
7.00 percent, as well as what the Authority's proportionate share of the net pension
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (6.00 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.00 percent) than the current
rate:
1%

Current

1%

Decrease

Discount Rate

Increase

(6.00%)

(7.00%)

(8.00%)

$ 3,196,949

$ 1,751,713

$ 551,358

Authority's proportionate share of
the net pension liability

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about pension plan's
fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and Other
State Administered Systems Comprehensive Annual Financial Report ("FRS CAFR")
dated June 30, 2018.

The FRS CAFR and actuarial reports may also be obtained by contacting the
Division of Retirement at:
Department of Management Services
Division of Retirement
Bureau of Research and Member Communications
P.O. Box 9000
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000
850-488-5706 or toll free at 877-377-1737
http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/publications
Payables to the Pension Plan. At September 30, 2018, the Authority reported a
payable of $1,837 for the outstanding amount of contributions in the pension plan
required for the year ended September 30, 2018.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED

Health Insurance Subsidy Plan
Plan Description. The Health Insurance Subsidy Plan ("HIS Plan") is a
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan established under
section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees
of State-administered retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs and is
administered by the Division of Retirement within the Florida Department of
Management Services.
Benefits Provided. For the year ended September 30, 2018, eligible retirees
and beneficiaries received a monthly HIS payment equal to the number of years of
creditable service completed at the time of retirement multiplied by $5. The
payments are at least $30 but not more than $150 per month, pursuant to Section
112.363, Florida Statutes. To be eligible to receive a HIS Plan benefit, a retiree
under a State-administered retirement system must provide proof of health insurance
coverage, which can include Medicare.
Contributions. The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS
participating employers as set by the Florida Legislature. Employer contributions are
a percentage of gross compensation for all active FRS members. For the year ended
September 30, 2018, the contribution rate ranged between 1.66 percent and 1.66
percent of payroll pursuant to Section 112.363, Florida Statutes. The Authority
contributed 100 percent of its statutorily required contributions for the current and
preceding three years. HIS Plan contributions are deposited in a separate trust fund
from which HIS payments are authorized. HIS Plan benefits are not guaranteed and
are subject to annual legislative appropriation. In the event the legislative
appropriation or available funds fail to provide full subsidy benefits to all participants,
benefits may be reduced or cancelled.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources
and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to the HIS Plan. At September
30, 2018, the Authority reported a HIS liability of $832,563 for its proportionate
share of the net HIS Plan's net pension liability. The net pension liability was
measured as of September 30, 2018, and the total pension liability was used to
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July
1, 2018. The Authority's proportionate share of the net HIS liability was based on
the Authority's 2017-18 fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2017-18 fiscal
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HIS Plan, continued
year contributions of all participating members. At September 30, 2018, the
Authority's proportionate share was .007866159 percent, which was a decrease of
.000144630 percent from its proportionate share measured as of September 30,
2017.
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the Authority recognized HIS expense
of $115,385. In addition, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:
Deferred Outflows
Description
of Resources
Differences between expected
and actual experience
$
12,746
Change of assumptions
92,591
Net difference between projected and actual
earnings on HIS pension plan investments
503
Changes in proportion and differences between
Authority HIS contributions and proportionate
share of HIS contributions
206,728
Authority contributions subsequent to the
measurement date
11,682
Total

$

324,250

Deferred Inflows
of Resources
$

1,414
88,026

12,617
$

102,057

The deferred outflows of resources related to HIS, totaling $11,682, resulting from
Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as
a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30, 2018.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense over the
remaining service period of 7.2 years as follows:
Fiscal Years Ending
September 30
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter
Total

$

$

Amount
33,998
33,998
33,998
33,987
33,872
40,648
210,501
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HIS Plan, continued
Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the July 1, 2018, actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all
periods included in the measurement:

Inflation
Real payroll growth
Salary Increases
Municipal Bond Rate

2.60 percent
0.65 percent
3.25 percent, average, including inflation
3.87 percent

Mortality rates were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projected Scale BB.
Because the HIS program is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience study
has been completed for the program.
Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total HIS liability was
3.87 percent. In general, the discount rate for calculating the total HIS liability is
equal to the single rate equivalent to discounting at the long-term expected rate of
return for benefit payments prior to the projected depletion date. Because the HIS
benefit is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the depletion date is
considered to be immediate and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to the
municipal bond rate selected by the plan sponsor. The Bond Buyer General
Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index was adopted as the applicable municipal
bond index.

Sensitivity of the Authority's Proportionate Share of the Net HIS Liability
to Changes in the Discount Rate. The following presents the Authority's
proportionate share of the net HIS liability calculated using the discount rate of
3.87 percent, as well as what the Authority's proportionate share of the net HIS
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point
lower (2.87 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.87 percent) than the current
rate:
1%
Decrease
(2.87%)
Authority's proportionate share of
the net HIS liability

$

948,240

Current
Discount Rate
(3.87%)
$

832,563

1%
Increase
(4.87%)
$

736,139
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED

HIS Plan, continued
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the HIS plan's
fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued FRS Pension Plan and
Other State Administered Comprehensive Annual Financial Report ("FRS CAFR")
dated June 30, 2018.

The FRS CAFR and actuarial reports may also be obtained by contacting the
Division of Retirement at:
Department of Management Services
Division of Retirement
Bureau of Research and Member Communications
P.O. Box 9000
Tallahassee, FL 32315-9000
850-488-5706 or toll free at 877-377-1737
http://www.dms.myflorida.com/workforce_operations/retirement/publications
Payables to the Pension Plan. At September 30, 2018, the Authority reported a
payable of $459 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the HIS plan required
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.

FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan
The SBA administers the defined contribution plan officially titled the FRS Investment
Plan (Investment Plan). The Investment Plan is reported in the SBA's annual financial
statements and in the State of Florida Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.
As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect
to participate in the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan. Authority
employees participating in DROP are not eligible to participate in the Investment
Plan. Employer and employee contributions, including amounts contributed to
individual member's accounts, are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in
part on the performance of investment funds. Benefit terms, including contribution
requirements, for the Investment Plan are established and may be amended by the
Florida Legislature. The Investment Plan is funded with the same employer and
employee contribution rates that are based on salary and membership class (Regular
Class, Elected County Officers, etc.), as the FRS defined benefit plan. Contributions
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED

FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan, continued
are directed to individual member accounts and the individual members allocate
contributions and account balances among various approved investment choices.
Costs of administering plan, including FRS Financial Guidance Program, are funded
through an employer contribution of 0.06 percent of payroll and by forfeited benefits
of plan members. Allocations to the investment member's accounts during the
2017-18 fiscal year were as follows:
Percent of Gross Salary*
Class

Employee

Employer (1)

Employer (3)

Florida Retirement System, Regular
Florida Retirement System, Senior Management Service
Florida Retirement System, Special Risk
Deferred Retirement Option Program - Applicable
to Members from All of the Above Classes
Florida Retirement System, Reemployed Retiree
Florida Retirement System, Elected Official

3.00
3.00
3.00

7.92
22.71
23.27

8.26
24.06
24.50

0.00
(2)
3.00

13.26
N/A
45.50

14.03
N/A
48.70

Notes:
(1) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/17 - 6/30/18.
(2) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class in which reemployed.
(3) Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the post employment health insurance subsidy. Also,
employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include .06 percent for administrative costs for
the Investment Plan. Rates for 7/1/18 - 6/30/19.
*

As defined by the Plan.

For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own
contributions and are vested after 1 year of service for employer contributions and
investment earnings. If an accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally
earned under the FRS Pension Plan is transferred to the Investment Plan, the member
must have the years of service required for FRS Pension Plan vesting (including the
service credit represented by the transferred funds) to be vested for these funds and
the earnings on the funds. Nonvested employer contributions are placed in a
suspense account for up to 5 years. If the employee returns to FRS-covered
employment within the 5-year period, the employee will regain control over their
account. If the employee does not return within the 5 year period, the employee will
forfeit the accumulated account balance. For the fiscal year ended September 30,
2018, the information for the amount of forfeitures was unavailable from the SBA;
however, management believes that these amounts, if any, would be immaterial to
the Authority.
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NOTE G - RETIREMENT PLANS - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN, CONTINUED

FRS - Defined Contribution Pension Plan, continued
After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may rollover vested
funds to another qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment
Plan, receive a lump-sum distribution, leave the funds invested for future distribution,
or any combination of these options. Disability coverage is provided; the member
may either transfer the account balance to the FRS Pension Plan when approved for
disability retirement to receive guaranteed lifetime monthly benefits under the FRS
Pension Plan, or remain in the Investment Plan and rely upon that account balance for
retirement income.
The Authority's Investment Plan pension expense which is included in FRS pension
expense totaled $120,210 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.
Payables to the Investment Plan. At September 30, 2018, the Authority reported a
payable of $0 for the outstanding amount of contributions to the Plan required for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.
NOTE H - PENSION PLAN - 457 DEFERRED COMPENSATION
Effective October 1, 2011, the Authority approved an employee benefit plan
whereby, the Authority contributed to the Section 457 Plan on behalf of all Authority
employees. The Authority's required Section 457 contribution for each employee is
equal to the difference between the Authority's FRS contribution rate at June 30,
2011 less the combination of the Authority's FRS contribution rate at July 1, 2011
plus the employee's required FRS three (3) percent contribution rate for each
respective employee. For the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the
Authority contributed $90,391 and $99,704, respectively.
NOTE I - INSURANCE/RISK MANAGEMENT
The Authority directly obtained third party commercial insurance coverage for
property, automobile, general liability, airport liability, directors and officers' and fuel
storage tank insurance and workers' compensation. The Authority paid $296,376
and $288,729 for these coverages for the years ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, respectively.
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NOTE I - INSURANCE/RISK MANAGEMENT, CONTINUED
The Authority also retained third party coverage as a group, for health, accidental
death and disability, EAP, vision, and life through Charlotte County. For the years
ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority paid $672,556 and $589,544,
respectively.
The Authority retains the risk of loss up to a deductible amount with the risk of loss in
excess of this amount transferred to the insurance carrier with limits of liability per
occurrence and in aggregate.
NOTE J - CONTINGENCIES
Litigation
The Authority, from time to time, is involved as a defendant or a plaintiff in certain
litigation and claims arising in the ordinary course of operations. In the opinion of
legal counsel, the range of potential recoveries or liabilities will not materially affect the
financial position of the Authority. At September 30, 2018, no liability has been
accrued for such losses, if any. The Authority intends to vigorously pursue all potential
claims.
State and federal grants
Grant monies received by the Authority are for specific purposes and are subject to
review by the grantor agencies. Such audits may result in requests for reimbursement
due to disallowed expenditures. Based upon prior experience, the Authority does
not believe that such disallowances, if any, would have a material affect on the
financial position of the Authority.
The operations of the Authority are dependent upon the condition of the Authority's
facilities. These facilities are currently being rehabilitated and improved substantially
through the receipt of federal and state funding. Loss or reduction of such funding
may have a material effect on the operations of the Authority.

Page 40 of 66

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017
NOTE K - CONSTRUCTION-RELATED COMMITMENTS

The following is a summary of construction projects contracted by the Authority
and not yet completed at September 30, 2018:
Amounts Paid

Master Plan-AIP 35/GOE19

$

Hangar Repair & Door Replacement -GO 592

Contract

Through

Price

September 30, 2018

1,449,140

$

1,288,548

1,680,000

1,382,298

Terminal Curbside

34,800

4,700

PFC #2

70,000

14,000

Airport Roadway Network Improvements

78,990

45,090

Share Point Intranet

43,800

11,900

261,423

3,692

Wetland Mitigation Phase 1 & 2- AIP 37
$

3,618,153

$

2,750,228

NOTE L - UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS
Unrestricted net assets consist of the following at September 30:
2018
Designated for losses, storm, fire
and vandalism
Designated for insurance escrow
Designated for building
Designated for contaminants and
pollutant assessments
Parking lot reserve
Air Traffic/ Navigation/ Safety
Rental Car Improvement

$

Total Designated
Undesignated
Total Unrestricted Net Assets

$

26,362
208,892
1,359,816

2017
$

24,862
208,892
859,816

107,500
360,621
237,864
42,596

107,500
-

2,343,651
7,338,330

1,201,070
4,589,069

9,681,981

$

5,790,139
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The Authority leases certain facilities (aviation and non-aviation) to vendors and
tenants at Punta Gorda Airport. Such agreements are short-term in nature and
are accounted for as operating leases. The Authority also has entered into lease
agreements with rental car companies that contain contingent rentals. Contingent
rental revenues arise from a percentage of the lessees' gross revenue.
At September 30, 2018, minimum future rentals of operating leases were as follows:
Years Ending
Amount

September 30
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024-2028
2029-2033
2034-2038
Total minimum future revenue

$

$

1,100,560
1,185,421
1,167,303
1,160,103
1,200,469
5,288,318
3,176,745
2,793,491
17,072,410

Substantially all of the Authority's property is used for leasing activities to either
airlines or other tenants/vendors.
NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB)
In accordance with Section 112.0801, Florida Statutes, the Authority provides
medical health plans to employees of the Authority and their eligible dependents, the
Authority is required to provide retirees the opportunity to participate in the group
employee medical health plan. As such, the Authority elected to participate in the
Charlotte County (the "County") group health, life, vision and dental plan. The
Authority, therefore, must offer such coverage to its retirees. The Charlotte County
plan is a defined benefit cost sharing multi-employer plan which is administered by the
County. The Authority is a participant in the Plan. Although not required by Florida
Law, the Authority has opted to pay a portion of the cost of such participation for
retired Authority employees through a single employer defined benefit plan (the
"Plan").
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Plan description
The year ended September 30, 2018, was the Authority's required transition year.
As such, the Authority recorded its net OPEB liability of $38,122 at September 30,
2018 due to implementation of GASB No. 75.
Employees of the Authority who retire after 30 years of service, or after attainment of
age 55, with six years of credited service with the Authority and who were
participants in the existing medical plan at the time of retirement, are entitled to
participate in the Plan. Currently, for retired employees who have completed 20
years of service with the Authority and who are collecting FRS monthly retirement
benefit plans, the medical health benefit under the Plan provides for the Authority to
contribute a per month supplement. The monthly supplement for eligible retirees
retired before October 1, 2008, is $5 per year of service up to $150 per month.
The monthly supplement for eligible retirees retiring on or after October 1, 2008, is
$10 per year of service up to $300 per month. The monthly supplement is applied to
medical health premium costs purchased by the Authority. All supplements cease
when the retiree becomes eligible for Medicare. Dependent coverage is available for
purchase by the retiree at full premium cost.
All retirees and dependents may elect coverage in the dental and/or vision plans
offered by the Plan. However, they must contribute 100% of the active premium
rates.
Membership
As of September 30, 2018, the Authority's membership consisted of:
Active Employees, including the Board
Inactives

Amount
32
1
33
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NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
CONTINUED
Funding policy
Funding for the Plan is on a pay-as-you-go basis from the Authority's assets when
due. There is no separate trust through which benefits for retirees are funded. No
assets are currently accumulated or earmarked for this purpose.
The County had an actuarial valuation performed as of October 1, 2016 using an
October 1, 2017 measurement date, to determine the other postemployment benefits
(OPEB) annual required contribution (ARC) and Plan obligations for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2018.
The District subsidizes the premium rates paid by retirees by allowing them to
participate at blended premium rates for both active and retired employees. These
rates provide an implicit subsidy for retirees because, on an actuarial basis, retiree
claims are expected to result in higher costs to the plan on average than those of
active employees.
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
At September 30, 2018, the Authority's net OPEB liability of $38,122 was
measured as of October 1, 2017, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
October 1, 2016. The following actuarial assumptions and other inputs were applied
to all periods included in the measurement:
Salary Increases
Discount Rate

3.70% - 7.80%
3.50% (2018) (3.10% in 2016)

Annual healthcare cost trend using the Society of Actuaries Long-Run Medical Cost Trend
Getzen Model baseline assumptions with an initial rate of 6.5% per year trending to 4.40% by
2040.
The discount rate was based on the 20 Year Municipal Bond Rate with AA/Aa or higher.
Individual entry age percent of pay actuarial cost method was used.
The FRS salary scale was used as of 2014.
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Generational Healthy mortality Table used for the
October 1, 2016 actuarial valuation.
The actuarial assumptions used in the September 30, 2018 valuation were based on results of an
actuarial experience study performed for the FRS Retirement Plan for 2014.
Price inflation rate of 2.60%

The rationales for selecting each of the assumptions used in the financial accounting
valuation and for the assumptions changes summarized above are to best reflect the
current market conditions and recent plan experience.
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CONTINUED
Demographic Assumptions
Rates of participation used: 50% of participants retiring before age 65 who are
eligible for OPEB supplement and 25% for those not eligible. 10% of all participants
are assumed to elect post age 65 coverage.
Amount

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability
Balance at September 30, 2017
Changes for the year:
Service Cost
Interest
Benefit Changes
Difference Between Expected and Actual Experience
Changes in Assumptions
Contributions from Employer
Net Changes
Balance at September 30, 2018

$

38,094

$

5,300
1,258
(879)
(5,651)
28
38,122

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District as well as what the
District's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that
is 1 percent higher or 1 percent lower than the current discount rate.

OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
2.50%
$
40,338

Current Rate
3.50%
$
38,122

1% Increase
4.50%
$
35,992

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District as well as what the
District's total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare trend
rates that are 1 percent higher or 1 percent lower than the current healthcare trend
rate.

OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
5.5-3.4%
$
34,188

Trend Rate
6.5-4.4%
$
38,122

1% Increase
7.5-5.4%
$
42,901

Page 45 of 66

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2018 and 2017

NOTE N - POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSION BENEFITS (OPEB),
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Changes in the Total OPEB Liability, continued
For the year ended September 30, 2018, the District recognized OPEB expense of
$6,465. At September 30, 2018, the District reported deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:
Deferred
Outflows of
Resources
Differences Between Expected and
Actual Experience
Changes in Assumptions
Net difference between projected
and actual earnings
Employer contribution subsequent
to measurement date
Total

$

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources
-

$

(786)

-

$

-

-

$

(786)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:
Year Ending September 30:
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Total Thereafter

Amount
$

(93)
(93)
(93)
(93)
(93)
(321)

$

(786)

NOTE O - PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGES (PFC)
During the year ended September 30, 2017, the Authority was approved by the
FAA to implement a Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) on commercial airline
passengers using the Authority's facilities at a rate of $2.00 per passenger until such
time that the Authority collects $5,225,793, which is estimated to be in 2022. The
PFC was implemented in August 2017. The first PFC receipts were received by the
Authority during the year ended September 30, 2018 which are accounted for and
reported on a cash basis.
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NOTE P - 401(a) RETIREMENT PLAN
Plan 3 - Plan description and Provisions - 401(a)

The Board of Commissioners established the 401(a) Retirement Plan for the general
executive level employees. The Plan was effective on November 17, 2016. At
September 30, 2018, the Plan had two (2) active participants.
The Authority's total contributions to the Plan for the years ended September 30,
2018 and 2017, were $31,052 and $14,580, respectively.
NOTE Q - CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

During the year ended September 30, 2018, the Authority implemented GASB
Statement No. 75, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions". The implementation of the pronouncement required the
restatement of the Authority's September 30, 2017 governmental activities - net
position as follows:
Governmental Activities
Net Position, as Previously Reported
Cumulative Effect of GASB 75
Other Post Employment Liability (OPEB)
Net Position, As Restated

Amount
$ 59,474,007

43,649
$ 59,517,656

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY
INFORMATION
OTHER THAN MD&A
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND
ACTUAL WITH RECONCILIATION TO GAAP BASIS
Year ended September 30, 2018
Original
Budget
OPERATING REVENUES
Fuel and oil sales
Industrial and commercial park rentals
Hangar rentals and tie downs
General-aviation-related concession, vending and fees
Airline-related revenues:
Car rentals
Parking
Other, including LEO and concessions
Other operating revenues

$ 2,620,540
1,110,192
776,275
16,970

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES
OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and wages
Payroll taxes and retirement
Personnel expenses
Cost of fuel and oil sales
Advertising
Marketing and promotional
Bank charges and credit card fees
Dues and subscriptions
Insurance
Legal and professional
Licenses and permits
Mowing
Postage
Repairs and maintenance and equipment fuel
Computer maintenance and expense
Supplies (including vending purchases)
Telephone and communications
Travel and auto allowance
Utilities
Airline expenses
Security
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
BEFORE DEPRECIATION
NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
BEFORE DEPRECIATION

Less: Depreciation
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)

$

Final
Budget

Actual

Variance

$ 2,962,921 $
1,094,035
777,212
19,475

2,962,921
1,094,035
777,209
19,475

4,794,768
2,727,425
944,667
-

5,421,567
3,069,359
1,070,027
88,224

5,421,567
3,069,359
1,068,239
130,820

(3)
(1,788)
42,596

12,990,837

14,502,820

14,543,625

40,805

3,044,725
573,022
764,761
1,436,392
6,000
200,000
46,831
39,003
293,000
256,897
5,073
24,000
5,864
491,726
155,981
270,639
34,049
74,739
381,797
1,711,393
64,437

2,979,662
607,939
766,025
1,728,593
16,146
118,694
46,188
43,378
315,380
165,029
22,864
13,609
8,513
530,521
164,342
272,679
43,274
36,987
408,560
1,968,690
46,705

2,980,168
607,939
766,025
1,728,593
632
141,923
46,188
43,378
315,380
162,522
22,864
13,609
8,513
530,521
173,024
274,609
43,274
36,987
408,560
1,968,690
46,705

(506)
15,514
(23,229)
2,507
(8,682)
(1,930)
-

9,880,329

10,303,778

10,320,104

(16,326)

3,110,508

4,199,042

4,223,521

24,479

(3,712,000)

(3,341,419)

(3,341,419)

(601,492) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

857,623

$

882,102

$

$

24,479

CHARLOTTE COUNTY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION BUDGET (NON-GAAP BUDGETARY BASIS) AND
ACTUAL WITH RECONCILIATION TO GAAP BASIS - CONTINUED
Year ended September 30, 2018
Original
Budget
OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS),
BROUGHT FORWARD

$

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
PFC's
Grant receipts (contributed capital)
SIB loan proceeds
Interest on investments
Construction in progress
Miscellaneous revenue (expense)
Interest expense
Gain (loss) on disposition of capital assets
Insurance premium refund
Reserves
Net assets carryforward
Capital expenditures
SIB loan principal retirement
Post retirement benefit accrual
Bank fees
Bad debt expense
NET NON-OPERATING REVENUE (LOSS)
NET INCOME (LOSS)

Final
Budget

(601,492) $

1,443,449
6,630,804
2,998
(9,601,070)
(107,023)
(1,005,936)
4,284,438
(474,900)
(563,177)
(5,261)
(2,830)
601,492
$

-

Actual

857,623

$

1,687,426
4,071,941
37,263
(5,009,280)
185,454
(104,523)
28,963
22,357
(1,099,985)
416,385
(519,527)
(563,177)
(6,449)
(1,262)
(3,209)
(857,623)
$

-

882,102

Add: Capital outlay (expenditures)
Construction in progress
SIB Loan principal retirement
Less: SIB loan proceeds
Net change to net OPEB expense
Net change to net pension expense
Increase in Net Position (GAAP Basis)
Net Position - beginning of the year, as restated
Net Position - end of the year

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.

$

1,687,426
4,071,941
37,166
(5,009,280)
184,981
(104,523)
28,963
22,357
(435,674)
(563,177)
(6,449)
(3,209)
(1,248)
(90,726)
$

791,376

$

791,376

Reconciliation:
Net income (Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis)

Variance

435,674
5,009,280
563,177
(814)
(256,690)
6,542,003
59,517,656
$ 66,059,659

24,479

(97)
(473)
1,099,985
(416,385)
83,853
(1,947)
1,961
766,897
$

791,376

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Year ended September 30, 2018
Federal Agency/Pass Through
State Agency/Program Title

Grantor's
Contract
Number

CFDA#
CSFA #

Grant AIP/Financial
Project Number

FEDERAL AWARDS
U.S. Department of Transportation - Federal Aviation Administration
MAJOR (TYPE A) - FEDERAL AWARDS
Terminal Expansion
Master Plan
Apron Extension

20.106
20.106
20.106

NON-MAJOR (TYPE B) - FEDERAL AWARDS
Passed through State of Florida Department of Transportation
SIB Loan
20.205
NON-MAJOR (TYPE B) - FEDERAL AWARDS
U.S. Department of Homeland Security
LEO Award Program
TOTAL FEDERAL FINANCIAL AWARDS

97.090

AIP33 (AQK37)
AIP35 (GOE19)
AIP36 (GO032)

3-12-0067-033-2014
3-12-0067-035-2016
3-12-0067-036-2017

N/A

FM #431903-1

HSTS0216HSLR766 P00004

(1) Includes receivable of $14,291
(2) Outstanding SIB loan balance at 9/30/18 was $3,237,656. Principal was repaid in the amount of $563,177 during the year ended 9/30/18.
(3) Includes receivable of $50,165
(C) Capital Grant (L) Loan Proceeds (O) Operating Grant
Note: The Authority records the Federal LEO grant revenue of $102,310 as airline operating revenue.

Reconciliation to Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position:
Revenue
Federal Capital Grants

$

LEO Award (Operating)

(102,310) (O)

State Financial Assistance
Capital Grants and Contributions

3,444,754 (4)
729,497

$

4,071,941

Page 49 of 66

Program/
Award
Amount

$

6,698,025
1,304,226
3,744,598
11,746,849

Receipts/
Revenue
Recognized

$

5,800,000

$

221,000
17,767,849

Disbursements/
Expenditures

501,978
(C) $
325,327 (1) (C)
2,515,139
(C)
3,342,444

- (2) (L)

$

102,310 (3) (O)
3,444,754 (4)
$

501,978
325,327
2,515,139
3,342,444

Pass Through to
Subrecipients

$

-

-

-

102,310
3,444,754

-

$

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL
AWARDS
Year ended September 30, 2018
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NOTE A - BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards has been prepared on an accrual
basis of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America and is in accordance with the provisions of OMB Uniform
Guidance.
Expenditures reported on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards include
cash disbursements, whether capitalized or expensed, during the fiscal year as well as
grant related amounts recorded as payable at year end. Revenues reported on the
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards include income recognized, including
grant receivables recorded at year end. Cash receipts that were deferred are
footnoted as such.
NOTE B - INDIRECT COSTS
The Authority did not routinely allocate costs to Federal Awards. Costs charged to
such programs were direct costs unless specifically incurred for the program and
allowed and indicated as such.
The Authority has elected not to use the 10% de minimus indirect cost rate allowed
under OMB Uniform Guidance.
NOTE C - MATCH/PARTICIPATION REQUIREMENTS
The Authority received financial assistance under several grants and contracts
requiring local match/participation in the form of cash. A maximum
match/participation amount is established at the time the financial assistance is
awarded. However, revenue is earned on the reimbursement basis and can only be
recognized to the extent of applicable, eligible, and allowable disbursement. The
match/participation requirement is therefore based on a contracted portion of
allowable disbursements.
For the year ended September 30, 2018, the Authority had met its
match/participation requirements.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET
PENSION LIABILITY - FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FRS) PENSION
PLAN (1)
2018
Authority's proportion of the net pension liability

2017

0.005815680%

2016

0.005315291%

2015

0.005782606%

0.005315291%

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability

$

1,751,713

$

1,837,767

$

1,460,113

$

686,541

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

2,980,168

$

2,665,302

$

2,292,120

$

1,743,026

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll

58.78%

68.95%

63.70%

39.39%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

84.26%

83.89%

84.88%

92.00%

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.

SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY CONTRIBUTIONS FLORIDA RETIREMENT SYSTEM (FRS) PENSION PLAN (1)
2018
Contractually required contribution

$

Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contribution

2017

215,433

$

215,433

2016

173,651

$

173,651

2015

177,006

$

128,840

177,006

128,840

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

2,980,168

$

2,665,302

$

2,292,170

$

1,743,069

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee
payroll

7.23%

6.52%

7.72%

7.39%

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.
GASB 68 requires information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled,
governments should present information for only those years for which information is available.
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2014
0.004310256%
$

262,989

$

1,493,081

17.61%

96.09%

2014
$

120,539

120,539
$

-

$

1,493,081

8.07%

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET
PENSION LIABILITY - HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY (HIS) PENSION
PLAN (1)
2018
Authority's proportion of the net pension liability

2017

0.007866159%

2016

0.008010789%

2015

0.006683273%

0.005513890%

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability

$

832,563

$

856,551

$

778,908

$

562,330

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

2,980,168

$

2,665,302

$

2,292,170

$

1,743,069

Authority's proportionate share of the net pension liability
as a percentage of its covered-employee payroll

27.94%

32.14%

33.98%

32.26%

2.15%

1.64%

0.97%

0.50%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.

SCHEDULE OF AUTHORITY CONTRIBUTIONS HEALTH INSURANCE SUBSIDY (HIS) PENSION PLAN (1)
2018
Contractually required contribution

$

Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contribution

2017

53,858

$

2016

46,161

$

46,161

53,858

2015

50,129

$

59,064

50,129

59,064

Contribution deficiency (excess)

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

Authority's covered-employee payroll

$

2,980,168

$

2,655,302

$

2,292,170

$

1,743,069

Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee
payroll

1.81%

1.73%

2.19%

3.39%

Notes: (1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of September 30.
GASB 68 requires information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled,
governments should present information for only those years for which information is available.
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2014
0.004675696%
$

437,189

$

1,493,081

29.28%

0.99%

2014
$

27,119

27,119
$

-

$

1,493,081

1.82%

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
September 30, 2018
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Changes of Assumptions
Actuarial assumptions for both cost-sharing defined benefit plans are reviewed
annually by the Florida Retirement System Actuarial Assumptions Conference. The
FRS Pension Plan has a valuation performed annually. The HIS Program has a
valuation performed biennially that is updated for GASB reporting in the year a
valuation is not performed. The most recent experience study for the FRS Pension
Plan was completed in 2014 for the period July 1, 2008, through June 30, 2013.
Because the HIS Program is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, no experience study
has been completed for that program. The actuarial assumptions that determined the
total pension liability for the HIS Program were based on certain results of the most
recent experience study for the FRS Pension Plan.
The total pension liability for each cost-sharing defined benefit plan was determined
using the individual entry age actuarial cost method. Inflation increases for both plans
is assumed at 2.6%. Payroll growth, including inflation, for both plans is assumed at
3.25%. Both the discount rate and the long-term expected rate of return used for
FRS Pension Plan investments was reduced from 7.10% to 7.00%. The plan's
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount
rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of
return.
Because the HIS Program uses a pay-as-you-go funding structure, a municipal bond
rate of 3.87% was used to determine the total pension liability for the program (Bond
Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index). Mortality assumptions
for both plans were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projection Scale BB
tables.
Florida Retirement System Pension Plan
There were changes in actuarial assumptions. As of June 30, 2018, the inflation rate
assumption remained at 2.6 percent, the real payroll growth assumption was .065
percent, and the overall payroll growth rate assumption remained at 3.25 percent.
The long-term expected rate of return was reduced from 7.10 percent to 7.00
percent.
Health Insurance Subsidy Pension Plan
The municipal rate used to determine total pension liability increased from 3.58
percent to 3.87 percent.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
September 30, 2018

Page 54 of 66

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
In accordance with GASB 68, paragraphs 54 and 71, changes in the net pension
liability are recognized in pension expense in the current measurement period, except
as indicated below. For each of the following, a portion is recognized in pension
expense in the current reporting period, and the balance is amortized as deferred
outflows or deferred inflows of resources using a systematic and rational method over
a closed period, as defined below:
• Differences between expected and actual experience with regard to economic
and demographic factors - amortized over the average expected remaining
service life of all employees that are provided with pensions through the
pension plan (active and inactive employees)
• Changes of assumptions or other inputs - amortized over the average
expected remaining service life of all employees that are provided with
pensions through the pension plan (active and inactive employees)
• Changes in proportion and differences between contributions and
proportionate share of contributions - amortized over the average expected
remaining service life of all employees that are provided with pensions through
the pension plan (active and inactive employees)
• Differences between expected and actual earnings on pension plan investments
- amortized over five years
Employer contributions to the pension plans from employers are not included in
collective pension expense. However, employee contributions are used to reduce
pension expense.
The average expected remaining service life of all employees provided with pensions
through the pension plans at June 30, 2018, was 6.4 years for FRS (6.4 years in FY
17) and 7.2 years (7.2 for FY 17) for HIS.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET OPEB LIABILITY AND
RELATED RATIOS GASB 75
September 30, 2018
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Changes in Employer's Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios as of September 30:
Net OPEB Liability
Service Cost
Interest Cost
Changes in Benefit Terms
Differences Between Expected and Actual Experience
Changes in Assumptions
Benefit Payments
Net Change in total OPEB Liability
Net OPEB Liability - Beginning of Year
Net OPEB Liability - End of Year

$

$

2018
5,300
1,258
(879)
(5,651)
28
38,094
38,122

NOTE: Information for FY 2017 and earlier is not available.

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as of September 30:
2018
Contributions - Employer
Net Investment Income
Benefit Payments
Administrative Expense
Net Change in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Net Position - Beginning of Year
Fiduciary Net Position - End of Year
Net OPEB Liability
Fiduciary Net Position as a % of Total OPEB Liability

$

-

$

38,122
2.33%

Covered-Employee Payroll *
Net OPEB Liability as a % of Payroll *
Expected Average Remaining Service Years of All Participants
*

11

Because this OPEB plan does not depend on salary, no information is provided.

NOTE: Information for FY 2017 and earlier is not available.

Notes to the Schedule:
Benefit Changes

None

Changes of Assumptions
9/30/17
9/30/18

The discount rate was changed as follows:
4.00%
3.50%

Population covered by Plan: 32 active 1 inactive
Plan has no specific trust established and no assets were assigned for OPEB by the Authority.

ADDITIONAL REPORTS

Affiliations
Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Private Companies Practice Section
Tax Division
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF BASIC FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America, the basic financial
statements of the business-type activities of Charlotte County Airport Authority (the "Authority")
which comprise the statement of net position as of September 30, 2018, and the related
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and cash flows for the year then
ended and the related notes to the financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated
January 15, 2019.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Charlotte County
Airport Authority's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on
the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
Charlotte County Airport Authority's internal control. Accordingly we do not express an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Charlotte County Airport Authority's internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the basic financial statements will not be prevented or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
INTEGRITY ......... SERVICE ......... EXPERIENCE
12621 World Plaza Lane, Building 55 • Fort Myers, FL 33907 • Phone: (239) 333-2090 • Fax: (239) 333-2097

Affiliations
Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Private Companies Practice Section
Tax Division
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Independent Auditor's Report on Compliance for Each Major
Program/Project and on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by
the Uniform Guidance
Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
We have audited Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement as applicable, that could have a
direct and material effect on each of Charlotte County Airport Authority's major federal programs
for the year ended September 30, 2018. Charlotte County Airport Authority's major federal
programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule
of findings and questioned costs.
Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grants applicable to its major federal programs.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Charlotte County Airport
Authority's major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements
referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United
States of America; and audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
"Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal
Awards" ("Uniform Guidance"). Those standards, and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types
of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a
major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about
Charlotte County Airport Authority's compliance with those requirements and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
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We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each
major federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Charlotte
County Airport Authority's compliance with those requirements.
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program
In our opinion, Charlotte County Airport Authority complied, in all material respects, with the
types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on
each of its major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2018.
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of Charlotte County Airport Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered Charlotte County
Airport Authority's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have
a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance
for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in
accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the effectiveness of Charlotte County Airport Authority's internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on
a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over compliance that might be deficiencies, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material
weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - FEDERAL AWARDS
Year ended September 30, 2018
Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results
Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued
Internal control over financial reporting:
Control deficiency(ies) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted?

Unmodified
Yes
Yes
Yes

X
X
X

No
No
None reported

Yes

X

No

Yes
Yes
Yes

X
X
X

No
No
None reported

Yes

X

No

Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:
Control deficiency(ies) identified?
Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Material weakness(es) identified?
Type of auditors report issued on compliance for
major programs
Unmodified
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with 2 CFR,
Section 200.516(a)?
Identification of major programs (Type A):
CFDA
Number(s)
20.106
20.106
20.106

Name of Federal Program or Cluster
U.S. Department of Transportation
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 33
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 35
Federal Aviation Administration - AIP 36

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

Threshold used was $750,000.
X

Yes

No

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - FEDERAL
AWARDS, CONTINUED
Year ended September 30, 2018
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Listing of Subrecipients and matching amounts passed-through:
None - not applicable
Section II- Financial Statement Findings
There were no deficiencies, material weaknesses, or instances of noncompliance related to
the financial statements.
Section III- Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs
There were no audit findings related to Federal Awards required to be reported by 2 CFR,
Section 200.516(a).
Section IV- Status of Federal Prior Year Findings
There were no prior year findings.

Affiliations
Florida Institute of Certified Public Accountants
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Private Companies Practice Section
Tax Division
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO MANAGEMENT
Board of Commissioners
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of Charlotte County Airport
Authority (the "Authority") as of and for the year ended September 30, 2018 and have issued our
report thereon dated January 15, 2019.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States of America and Chapter
10.550, Rules of the Florida Auditor General. We have issued our Independent Auditor's Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Compliance and Other Matters based on an
Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards.
Disclosures in that report, which is dated January 15, 2019, should be considered in conjunction
with this report to management.
Additionally, our audit was conducted in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor
General, which governs the conduct of local governmental entity audits performed in the State of
Florida. This letter included the following information, which is not included in the aforementioned
auditor's report:
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether
or not corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations
made in the preceding annual financial audit report. There were no prior year financially
significant comments.
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address in the
management letter any recommendations to improve financial management. One such
recommendation was noted to improve financial management.
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∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we address
noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have an
effect on the financial statements that is less than material but more than inconsequential.
In connection with our audit, we did not have any such findings.
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official
title and legal authority for the primary government and each component unit of the
reporting entity be disclosed in the management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. The Authority discloses this information in the notes to the financial
statements.
∙ Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a., Rules of the Auditor General, requires a statement be included
as to whether or not the local government entity has met one or more of the conditions
described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and identification of the specific
condition(s) met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the Authority did not
meet any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.
∙ Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, we
have applied financial condition assessment procedures. It is management's responsibility
to monitor the Authority's financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was
based in part on representations made by management and the review of financial
information provided by same.
∙ Pursuant to Section 10.554(1)(i)5.c., Rules of the Auditor General, requires a statement
indicating a failure, if any, of a component unit special district to provide financial
information necessary to a proper reporting of the component unit within the audited
financial statements of this entity (F.S. Section 218.39(3)(b)). There are no known
component special districts required to report within these financial statements.
∙ Section 10.556(10)(a), Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the scope of our audit
to determine the entity's compliance with the provisions of Section 218.415, Florida
Statutes, regarding the investment of public funds. In connection with our audit, we
determined that the Authority complied with Section 218.415, Florida Statutes as
reported in our Independent Accountant's Report on Compliance with Section 218.415,
Florida Statutes dated January 15, 2019, included herein.

EXHIBIT

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF NON-CAPITAL ASSETS
September 30, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 2017 & 2018
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COMPARATIVE NON-CAPITAL ASSETS
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF CAPITAL ASSETS, NET
September 30, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 2017 & 2018
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COMPARATIVE CAPITAL ASSETS, NET
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF CURRENT LIABILITIES
September 30, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 2017 & 2018
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COMPARATIVE CURRENT LIABILITIES
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
September 30, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 2017 & 2018
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COMPARATIVE LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF NET POSITION
September 30, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 2017 & 2018
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COMPARATIVE NET POSITION
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
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Years Ended September 30, 2000 - September 30, 2018
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS
Years Ended September 30, 2004 - September 30, 2018
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COMPARATIVE OPERATING ACTIVITIES
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF OPERATING EXPENSES
Years Ended September 30, 2004 - September 30, 2018
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COMPARATIVE OPERATING EXPENSES
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE DEPRECIATION
Years Ended September 30, 2001 - September 30, 2018
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OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE DEPRECIATION
4,500,000
4,000,000
3,500,000
3,000,000
2,500,000
2,000,000
1,500,000
1,000,000
500,000
(500,000)
2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF NET NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
Years Ended September 30, 2001 - September 30, 2018
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NET NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
COMPARATIVE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
Years Ended September 30, 2004 - September 30, 2018
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COMPARATIVE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
ANALYSIS OF OPERATING LOSSES

Total
Operating
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Fiscal
Year

Non
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Operating
Inc (Loss)
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2000

$
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2001

$

(385,859) $
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2002

$

(886,792) $

1,328,009 $

441,217

2003

$

(959,697) $

1,214,322 $

254,625
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$

(1,392,529) $

1,676,417 $

283,888
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2,582,007 $
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$
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$
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2011

$

(2,388,751) $

2,981,949 $

593,198

2012

$
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2,795,810 $

254,875

2013

$

(2,626,534) $

3,021,771 $

395,237

2014

$

(1,607,502) $

2,829,426 $

1,221,924

2015

$

(921,318) $

2,967,210 $

2,045,892

2016

$

(508,967) $

3,104,269 $

2,595,302

2017

$

(1,030,264) $

3,712,009 $

2,681,745

2018

$

624,598 $

3,341,419 $

3,966,017
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CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
28000 AIRPORT ROAD
PUNTA GORDA, FL 33982
941-639-1101

NOTICE OF AVAILABILITY
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS
The Charlotte County Airport Authority will be receiving sealed proposals at the Administrative
Offices, 28000 A-1 Airport Road, Punta Gorda, FL 33982, for:
RFP NO. 2019-###
FULL-SERVICE RESTAURANT & CATERER
AT
PUNTA GORDA AIRPORT
GENERAL AVIATION CENTER
Charlotte County Airport Authority hereby solicits proposals from interested companies or
individuals for the operation of a full-service restaurant and caterer at the new General Aviation
Center to be constructed at Punta Gorda Airport.
NON-MANDATORY PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE: 10:00 a.m (TBD). (EST) August XX,
2019
AUTHORITY COMMISSION MEETING ROOM, 7375 UTILITIES ROAD,
PUNTA GORDA FLORIDA
PROPOSAL DUE DATE: 2:00 p.m. (EST), September 6, 2019
If mailed 28000 A-1 Airport Road, Punta Gorda, FL 33982
If hand delivered Administrative Offices, 8079 Golf Course Blvd., Punta Gorda, FL
Request Proposal Documents by mail at 28000 A-1 Airport Road, Punta Gorda, FL 33982, by email to airport@flypgd.com.

Pamella Seay, Chair
Publish August 1, 2019
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INTRODUCTION
The Charlotte County Airport Authority (“Authority”) seeks Proposals from Operators
(hereinafter “Respondent” or “Respondents”) interested in funding, designing,
developing, constructing, operating and maintaining a restaurant, bar and catering
service (“Restaurant Services”) at Punta Gorda Airport (“PGD”) for a term of ten (10)
years with two five (5) year options, which may be exercised at the Authority’s sole
discretion. Approximately 2,500 square feet of space is available for Restaurant
Services in the Airport’s new General Aviation Center location, as shown in the
Premises Layout Exhibit A-1. https://www.flypgd.com/ga-center-project/
Respondents are encouraged to submit Proposals for the development and operation of
unique concepts that reflect the area, state and region; providing a sense of place
through unique concepts that incorporate state of the art fixtures and furnishings to
create a modern and aesthetically pleasing environment. This Request for Proposals
(“RFP”) will result in a single award for Restaurant Services privileges, as outlined
herein.
GOALS
The Authority’s goals for the Restaurant Services program are summarized below in no
particular order. Respondents are encouraged to consider these goals when preparing
their Proposals:
1) Create an open and inviting restaurant space that will be welcoming to a large
customer base including local residents, nearby/onsite employees, businesses,
general aviation pilots, corporate and private charters, tourists and passengers
traveling commercially.
2) Develop well-designed, high-quality, modern, attractive and durable new facilities
for an estimated 13-person bar, 42-person dining area and limited adjacent
outdoor seating.
3) Develop innovative restaurant designs, signage, and creative
decorations/themes to compliment the outstanding views of the airport’s runways
and general aviation ramp.
4) Offer restaurant, bar and catering menu options with broad appeal to potential
customers.
5) Provide a high level of customer service with competitive pricing, specials and
offerings.

SECTION 1.0 BACKGROUND
PGD is off I-75 on Florida’s southwest coast between Sarasota and Ft. Myers and operates
as a full-service commercial air transportation facility. The Authority owns 1,800 acres
that is also home to approximately 400 general aviation aircraft and helicopters, charter
services, dozens of aviation and non-aviation tenants, organizations and flight schools.
The Authority is building a new 13,000 square-foot General Aviation Center (“GAC”) that will
be located on the north end of airport property off Challenger Boulevard. In addition to the
dining area, the GAC will house an inviting lobby, 10-person conference room, flight
catering staging area, nine leased offices/flight schools, two event rooms, and the
Authority’s Fixed Base Operator (“FBO”) staff which provides fueling, tie-down and groundPage 2 of 22

handling services for private aircraft.

•

Site is located just east of the City of Punta Gorda, now quickly accessible by
both exits 161 and 164 off I-75, as well as US 41 via Airport Road.
• While the GAC site is not walkable from the commercial passenger terminal, it
will have ample free short-term auto parking for the public, commercial
passengers, GA passengers and pilots.
• PGD’s service area encompasses a 60-minute market area, which includes
Sarasota, Punta Gorda, Ft. Myers and Naples. There are over 1.3 million
residents within a 60-minute drive of PGD.
• PGD serves as a low-cost gateway to southwest Florida’s scenic gulf coast,
averaging 20 to 30 Allegiant flights each day.
• PGD’s commercial passenger count for 2018 totaled 1,577,164. This is a 22%
increase in passenger traffic for 2018 compared with 1,293,337 total passengers
in 2017.
• PGD serves a diverse group of users, including airlines, commuter and charter
services, corporate aviation, light aircraft training, and a wide variety of other
business-oriented and private general aviation activities.
• PGD is actively involved in economic development opportunities to attract new
businesses and increase the amount of high paying jobs on site.
• PGD had a total of 84,113 operations (takeoffs and landings) in FY2018,
including:
o Air Carrier - 10,530
o Air Taxi - 1,680
o GA Local - 35,760
o GA Itinerant - 35,711
o Military - 432
• In FY2018 the Authority leased 21 sites to non-aviation tenants, 40 sites to
aviation-related tenants, and 230 T-hangars.
• PGD operates as an Enterprise Fund within the Authority’s budget, is selfsupporting and uses no local taxes.
• Funding to meet the Authority’s annual operating budget is generated by parking
revenue, fuel fees, concession revenues, rental charges for buildings, land, and
other user fees.
• PGD’s regional economic impact reached $1.275 billion in Total Business Sales
according to the FDOT in 2018.
PGD will provide the following complimentary marketing to selected Restauranteur:
•
www.FlyPGD.com website listing, graphics, photos and features
•
Facebook, Twitter and YouTube photos, news, videos and features
•
PGD E-Newsletter with 1,200+ distribution
•
News releases and media relations support
•
Discounted advertising at the commercial passenger terminal
•
Directional signage incorporated into existing structures where appropriate
•
Space for Restauranteur’s branding on new exterior GAC signage structures
•
Other cooperative marketing & co-branded paid advertising opportunities
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Below are PGD’s current restaurant/concessions operators:
Skyview Café PGD, Inc.
Operates adjacent to the commercial passenger terminal and is open to the public
approximately six days a week until 1:30 p.m.
The Junction operated by Faber, Coe & Gregg
Operates post-security in the commercial passenger terminal and provides
merchandise, food and beverages. Faber also operates vending machines in ticketing
and baggage claim areas.
SECTION 2.0 STATEMENT OF WORK/SPECIFICATIONS
2.1

Summary
The Charlotte County Airport Authority, owner and operator of Punta Gorda
Airport (“PGD” or “Airport”), seeks to enhance PGD’s customer service offerings
and maximize revenue. The Authority’s selection committee will review
responses to this RFP and recommend Proposals. The Authority may award one
contract (the “Agreement”) to provide a full-service food, bar and catering
services at the GAC.

2.2

Minimum Provisions
The RFP Respondents must have a minimum of three (3) years’ experience
within the past ten (10) years in the following: funding, designing, developing,
constructing, operating, managing and maintaining one or more restaurant or
concessions operations in a shopping center, airport, transportation center, mall,
street location, or other prominent location for the category/type of Restaurant
Services proposed. Respondents must have the ability to provide all services
proposed directly or contract with other companies to operate some portion of the
available space. Respondents must demonstrate the required experience for the
operations proposed. Demonstrated experience in establishing, operating and
maintaining a financially successful restaurant or concession operation in an
airport environment is strongly encouraged, but not mandatory.

2.3

Project Description.
Respondents shall submit a proposal to fund, design, develop, construct, operate
and maintain the restaurant operations and dining area in the GAC as outlined in
Exhibit A-1. The RFP should include respondent’s plan for providing catering
services for special events and meetings on site in the adjacent event rooms,
and/or approved lobby and outdoor spaces. Respondent’s plan should include
provision of “to go” orders that can be picked up by customers, and consideration
of delivery service to locations/workplaces on airport property, or within close
proximity.

2.4

Build-Out
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The Authority will deliver the Premises “AS IS” with no alterations or
improvements to the shell and core. The Selected Restauranteur, at its sole
expense, shall be responsible for all interior design, development, construction,
furnishings, equipment and improvements to the space provided, herein after
referred to as the “Build-Out”. The Selected Restauranteur shall ensure that the
build-out design and interior finishes compliment the GAC, is aesthetically,
functionally, and operationally consistent with the overall design of the GAC. All
applicable construction, design and finish materials by the Selected
Restauranteur shall meet the applicable requirements of Charlotte County and be
subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the sample agreement.
https://www.flypgd.com/ga-center-project/

SECTION 3.0 REQUIRED SERVICES
The Selected Restauranteur shall have the right and obligation to operate and maintain,
at its own expense, the restaurant, bar and catering services, as proposed.
Respondents meeting the minimum qualifications are invited to submit a proposal.
The space allotted for each location shall remain as it has been categorized, but the
Respondent has the latitude to suggest what it believes is the best concept for the
space. In the Respondent’s description of the suggested alternative, justification must
be provided supporting the rationale for selecting the proposed concept.
The management and operation of Restaurant Services proposed must ensure
customer satisfaction, maximize revenue performance and meet the following
obligations stated herein.
3.1

Food and Beverages
Restauranteur shall operate the Restaurant Services including all services
reasonably necessary for such operation and shall be authorized and obligated
to offer the following:
Grant of Use
Restauranteur shall, at a minimum, provide:
a) Menu offerings that cover the full spectrum of meals (breakfast, lunch,
dinner), and portion-appropriate menu items for children.
b) Offerings that incorporate the use of healthier, freshly prepared offerings,
use sustainable supplies, and distinctive products and services to the
greatest extent possible.
c) Menu offerings should include provisions to address special dietary needs
for customers who are vegetarian, vegan, lactose intolerant, gluten free
etc., to the greatest extent possible.
d) Full alcoholic beverage service including cocktails, beer and wine.
e) Provide catering services for pre-arranged breakfast, lunch and dinner
parties in adjacent event rooms as requested with reasonable notice
between the hours of 7 a.m. and 9 p.m.
f) Provide “to go” orders that can be picked up by customers upon request.
g) Restaurant Services at a minimum of seven days a week serving two
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meals daily. Restauranteur will consistently communicate its hours of
operation, and as changes in hours are scheduled.
h) Potential restaurant hours for breakfast, lunch and dinner are from 7 a.m.
to 9 p.m. Restauranteur has the option to extend the hours of its catering
services and/or keep the Premises open later or earlier for special events,
or as the Restauranteur or Authority reasonably determines.
Restauranteur must be flexible enough to extend hours and additional
staff to accommodate air charter delays, occasional flight diversions, and
business fluctuations with reasonable notice.
3.2

Supplies, Materials and Equipment
The Selected Restauranteur will be required to furnish all services, labor,
materials, equipment, tools, insurance, bonds, permits, and fees (if any)
necessary to make ready the Premises and render the services as set forth in
this Request for Proposal. The Selected Restauranteur shall be required to
construct all improvements and install all furnishings, equipment, fixtures, and
materials that may be required for its operation.
The Selected Restauranteur will make all required mechanical and electrical
installations and connections. All installations shall be in accordance with plans
submitted to and approved by The Authority. All mechanical and electrical
installations, connections and capital improvements shall become the property of
The Authority upon installation, excepting only plug-in connections.
The Airport will provide infrastructure for Wi-Fi, water, sewage, gas, electrical
services and heating/cooling to the restaurant areas. The Restaurant will be
metered separately for these services and setup their own utilities service
accounts.
The Selected Restauranteur shall be required to honor at least three (3) major
credit cards.
A.

3.3

Capital Investment
Although there is no minimum Capital Investment identified, Respondents
are encouraged to make a substantial Capital Investment to reasonably
meet the goals of this solicitation. Proposals must provide for fixtures,
materials and finishes that are high quality, modern and commercially
durable in areas exposed to high traffic and substantial wear and tear.

Operations
The management, maintenance and operation of Restaurant Services within the
Premises are the sole responsibility of the Selected Restauranteur.
Restauranteur is expected to make marketing, advertising and promotional
expenditures and efforts in addition to complimentary marketing provided by
PGD.
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The Authority retains the right to:
a. Sell or give away its own merchandise, coffee, beverages, ice, light snacks
such as candy bars or other “vending machine” type foods to its customers
and employees.
b. Operate vending machines outside of the Restaurant or designated dining
areas.
c. Schedule food trucks, other food vendors or caterers, for special events and
meetings as needed.
3.3.1 Contract Term
The Term of the Agreement shall be ten (10) years from the date of the full
execution of the Agreement by The Authority (hereinafter
“Commencement Date”). The Agreement shall be subject to two five (5)
year renewals at the option of the Authority, upon written notice to the
Restauranteur by The Authority at least ninety (90) days prior to the end of
the fifth year of the Term.
3.3.2 Renewal Refurbishment
If the five (5) year renewal option is granted, the Restauranteur will be
required to refurbish the public areas (“Renewal Refurbishment”) of the
Premises at a minimum investment of five dollars ($5) per square foot in a
design and theme approved in writing by the Executive Director. The
Authority reserves the right to waive a portion of the Renewal
Refurbishment, if the Executive Director in his sole discretion deems that a
lesser capital investment is sufficient to repair and refurbish the Lease
Premises.
3.3.5 Hours of Operation
The Premises must be open seven days a week serving at a minimum two
meals daily between the hours of 7a.m. and 9 p.m. Selected
Restauranteur must also provide bar and catering services for prearranged breakfast, lunch and dinner parties as requested up to seven
days a week. Restauranteur has the option to extend its catering services
and/or keep the Premises open later or earlier on the weekends, for
special events, or as the Restauranteur or Authority reasonably
determines.
3.3.6

Revenue Control
The Selected Restauranteur shall submit with its proposal, technical
specifications of the type of Point of Sale (POS) system to be installed in
the Premises. All business transactions, which occur in the Premises,
must be completed by a register transaction and a receipt must be offered
to each customer.

3.3.7

Concession Fee
The Selected Restauranteur shall pay to the Authority a Concession Fee
for the rights and privileges granted herein. The annual Concession Fee,
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to be paid in monthly installments and subject to an annual reconciliation,
shall be the greater of the Minimum Annual Guarantee (“MAG”) or the
Percentage Fee, as adjusted, in accordance with the Sample Agreement,
Attachment #.
Each Respondent must propose the percentage of its actual Gross
Receipts that it agrees to pay for use of the Premises ("Percentage Fee").
The minimum Percentage Fee that may be proposed by Respondents for
this Concession is ten percent (10%).
The term Gross Receipts as used herein shall mean the aggregate
amount of Restauranteur’s receipts from all sales made at or on the
Premises, whether for cash or credit, regardless of when, or if, such
amounts are actually collected. However, Gross Receipts shall not
include:
1)
2)
3)
4)

5)
6)

7)

Any taxes imposed by law;
The amounts of any gratuities paid or given by patrons or
customers to Restauranteur’s employees;
Receipts from the sale or trade-in value of any furniture, fixtures, or
equipment used in the Premises and or owned by Restauranteur;
Receipts in the form of refunds from or the value of merchandise,
supplies, or equipment, returned to shippers, suppliers, or
manufacturers;
Restauranteur’s Airport approved merchandise and meal discounts;
Receipts from the sale at cost of uniforms or clothing to
Restauranteur’s employees where such uniforms or clothing are
required to be work by such employee; or
Receipts of proceeds from any insurance loss recovery for
furniture, fixtures or equipment used in the Premises and/or owned
by Restauranteur.

SECTION 4 – PRE-PROPOSAL CONFERENCE & AIRPORT TOUR

4.0

Non-Mandatory Pre-Proposal Conference and Airport Tour. Therefore,
prospective Respondents MAY attend this conference in person.
A Non- Mandatory Pre-Proposal Conference is scheduled for:
Date: 8/XX/19
Time: 10:00 a.m., Local Time
Location: Punta Gorda Airport, CCAA Commission Meeting Room,
7375 Utilities Road, Punta Gorda, FL

4.1

The purpose of the Non-Mandatory Pre-Proposal Conference is to provide
Respondents with detailed information concerning this solicitation, to address
questions and concerns and show Respondents the available lease spaces.
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4.2

Respondents are cautioned that in no event shall failure to familiarize themselves
with the requirements of this solicitation or to resolve ambiguous or inconsistent
terms or conditions of this solicitation or proposed contract constitute grounds for
a claim of any kind after contract award.

SECTION 5.0 PERFORMANCE SECURITY (BOND)
5.0
A Performance Bond for the initial contract year shall be required of the Selected
Restauranteur as a guarantee that all provisions of the Proposal and attached
specifications shall be met.
The required Performance Bond, in the amount of five thousand dollars ($5,000)
is to be posted with the Authority within ten (10) business days after Proposal
award by The Authority. For contract years two (2) through ten (10) and the
extension option, the Performance Bond shall equal ten (10) percent of the
Minimum Annual Guarantee, which shall be adjusted annually, as set forth in the
Sample Agreement, Attachment #.
5.1

Performance Bonds should be submitted in the form of a Certified Check,
Cashier’s Check, Irrevocable Letter of Credit, or other type security in a form
acceptable to the Authority.

SECTION 6.0 PROPOSALS RESPONSE REQUIREMENTS
6.0

A prospective Respondent’s response to this RFP should include the following
information at a minimum. Please note that Proposals should address the
requirements in a clear and concise manner in the order stated herein.
Proposals must be tabbed as follows and must include the
information/documents specified in the applicable tab. Proposals that do not
adhere to the following format or include the requested information/documents
may be considered incomplete and; therefore, unresponsive by the Authority.

6.1

The Authority reserves the right to seek additional/supplemental representation on
specific issues as needed.

6.2

Respondents shall construct their Proposals in the following format and a tab
must separate each section. Do not submit PART 1 (Written Proposal) and
PART 2 (Percentage Fee Proposal) together. Place in separate sealed
envelopes.
PART 1 - (NO-COST). Do not include any pricing in any portion of PART 1.
TAB 1 - EXECUTIVE SUMMARY (5 points)
Present in brief, concise terms, a summary level description of the contents of
the Proposal and the company and its capabilities. Respondents should provide
the names of the person(s) who will be authorized to make representations for
the Respondent, their title(s), address(es), and telephone and fax number(s).
The summary must be limited to a maximum of two pages and the signer of the

Page 9 of 22

Proposal must declare that the Proposal is in all respects fair and in good faith
without collusion or fraud and that the signer of the Proposal has the authority to
bind the principal Respondent.
A submittal letter signed by an authorized agent of the Restauranteur, as listed
on the Florida Department of State, Division of Corporations’ Sunbiz report
available at www.sunbiz.org (“Sunbiz”), shall be required. If anyone other than
the officers listed on the Sunbiz website will be signing this Proposal, a
memorandum of authority signed by an officer of the Restauranteur allocated in
authorization shall be required. If Restauranteur is not currently registered to do
business in the State of Florida, include documentation designation of contracting
authority. The memorandum of authority shall be on the Restauranteur’s
letterhead and shall clearly state the name, title and contact information for the
individual designated by the Restauranteur.
Include designation of the legal entity by which the business operates (i.e., sole
proprietorship, partnership, limited liability corporation, etc.) including
documentation from the appropriate state’s agency regarding Restauranteur’s
legal entity type. For non-Florida businesses, submit documentation from the
state in which the business was formed and documentation from the State of
Florida providing authorization to perform business in the state of Florida.
TAB 2 – COMPANY EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES (0 - 15 points)
Each Respondent must provide a brief outline, not to exceed 8 pages, of the
Respondent’s organizational structure, history in the retail and food and
beverage business, qualifications, key managers and employees, and other
information that the Respondent deems pertinent to an evaluation of its ability to
provide exemplary Restaurant services at the GAC. Respondent must provide
the resume(s) of the manager(s) and representative(s) responsible for day to day
operations and maintenance.
Respondents must describe customer service standards, programs, training and
initiatives. Explain complaint resolution policies and provide a copy of any rules
and regulations and operations standards, policies and procedures, and other
operational requirements. Describe routine procedures for maintaining
restaurant standards to the highest level, including, but not limited to cleanliness
of the location, cleanliness of fixtures, and the orderly and adequate display of
décor and glassware.
Respondents must identify all locations in which it has operated over the last ten
(10) years. Specifically note locations where the Respondent has three (3) years
within the last ten (10) years in the management of the Restaurant Services or
Concessions categories proposed. Please also denote any and all locations
operated, if any, that were in an airport. Response should be limited to no more
than one (1) page per location. Include the following information:
Experience Relevant to the Restaurant Services Proposal
a) Facility Name and Location
b) Term of Operation for all locations (commencement and termination dates)
c) A description of the Scope of Work
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d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)

Merchandise and/or Menu Items offered
Gross receipts for each location operated during the last three (3) years
Number of employees per location
Terms of basic financial arrangement, i.e., lease arrangement, ownership etc.
Days and hours of operation
If at an airport, include:
• Basic financial arrangement with airport operator including, but not limited
to, minimum annual guarantee, percentage payments, storage rental and
total capital investment
• A letter of reference on the reference’s company letterhead, including a
contact name, title, address, email address, and telephone number

The aforementioned entities may be contacted by the Authority to obtain
information regarding the Respondents operation and performance, including but
not limited to such subjects as effectiveness and quality of the operation, the
record of the customer complaints, financial status, timeliness of payments and
overall satisfaction with performance.
If, during the past ten (10) years, Respondents have had any agreement or
contract canceled for cause, including either failure to perform or participation in
illegal activity, provide full details regarding such cancellation. Failure to disclose
any such cancellation which may subsequently be discovered by the Authority may
be grounds for immediate disqualification.
If, during the past ten (10) years, Respondent has been party to a dispute with a
public agency which was resolved either through litigation or negotiation and which
involved either apparent scandal or inadequate revenue control procedures,
provide full details regarding such dispute. Failure to disclose any such dispute
which may subsequently be discovered by The Authority may be grounds for
disqualification.
TAB 3 – PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AND CONCEPT(S) (0-30 POINTS)
Respondents shall submit a Proposal to complete the Build-Out, operate, maintain
and manage the proposed Restaurant Operations and dining locations, as set forth
in Exhibit A-1, attached hereto. Respondents must describe their proposed
operation(s) including, but not limited to the following:
a) Conceptual Themes: Each Respondent must describe its vision for the
space(s), including the following:
1) Written description of the restaurant’s (s) overall design
concept, including the rationale and justification for selecting the
proposed concept(s) and how the concept(s) will enhance the
GAC, appeal to the public, and maximize sales.
2) Concepts proposed for each area including graphic layout
and/or photographs of all restaurant and bar concept(s)
proposed, detailing facility design, dominant design themes,
menus and/or merchandise lists for each concept, and proposed
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3)

4)

5)

6)

signage in sufficient detail to enable evaluation of the quality
and design of the proposed improvements;
Describe the overarching image for each location. Descriptions
should include the overall look and feel of the location; the
overall floor plan, customer flow within the space, as well as
planned materials and finishes of the interior, exterior and
furnishings. Detailed design plans and renderings will not be
required until after execution of the awarded Agreement(s).
The extent to which the Goals, outlined on page 2, will be
incorporated into the Restaurant and incorporate local, regional
and state influences. Demonstrate an understanding of the local
and national market trends, as well as trends in aviation,
airports and travel hubs, and how those trends will be integrated
into the overall concept.
Information regarding the general theme, concept themes, color
schemes, furniture designs, fixtures, unique features, signs and
graphic elements proposed.
Indicate any storage requirements and estimated square
footage required for each location proposed.

b) Construction Schedule: Describe the plan to assume the location(s),
complete Build-Out, install equipment, stock merchandise and open for
business, in accordance with the Construction Schedule identified in
the Proposed Agreement, Attachment #.
c) Architectural Team: Identify the architectural design team to be utilized,
specifying prior experience in the design of restaurant or operations for
the category(s) proposed (including resumes and project experience).
d) Marketing Plan: In addition to the complimentary marketing provided
by PGD, please include:
1) Your marketing plan to attract and retain a large customer base
including local residents, nearby/onsite employees, businesses,
general aviation pilots, corporate and private charters, tourists
and passengers traveling commercially.
2) Describe the creative elements, slogans and messaging you
would use to capitalize on the outstanding views of the general
aviation ramp and runways.
3) Outline the monthly marketing budget and which traditional, web
and social media platforms you plan to leverage.
TAB 4 – FINANCIAL CAPABILITY (0-25 POINTS)
The Respondent shall provide a financial profile and business plan including the
following:
1) Financial Statements: A complete copy of Respondent’s audited
financial statements prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted
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Accounting Principles for the three (3) most recent fiscal years,
showing complete operations and a statement of any significant
financial events occurring subsequent to the closing date of the most
recent financial statement. The financial statements shall be audited
statement certified by a Certified Public Accountant (CPA). If audited
financial statements are not available, reviews, or compilations by a
CPA may be submitted.
b) Capital Investment: Estimated project costs and the total projected
capital investment for the initial Build-Out. The Capital Investment shall
not include financing costs, interest, and inventory. Expenditures for
architectural services, engineering services, materials, and
construction may be counted toward the Capital Investment. The
attached Project Capital Cost Analysis Worksheet (Attachment B)
should be used to calculate fees associated with the improvements
and amount to be invested. Respondents should complete a separate
form for each Package proposed. Respondents proposing on one or
more Packages may be awarded all or part of their Proposals, based
upon individual scoring for each Package.
c) Capital Investment Funding Strategy: Financing plan and capital
sources to make the initial improvements and operate the business to
include the following:
1) Additional information and verification of availability of
resources required for the project as well as any additional
information that may be required depending on the facts and
circumstances of Respondents’ business situation,
2) Current balance sheet,
3) Disclose any and all pending litigation, liens, filings,
bankruptcies, and bond cancelations by the
corporation/partnership and major stakeholders, disclose any
judgments in the last five (5) years, and
4) Disclose any outstanding debt, taxes, fines or liens owed.
d) Revenue Control:
1) Proposed cash handling procedures
2) Technical specifications of the type of Point of Sale (POS)
system to be installed in the Premises
TAB 5−CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY DOCUMENTS
Complete and return the listed forms contained in the Attachments, as indicated
below:
• Attachment A: Representations and Certifications (Complete & Return)
• Attachment B: Project Capital Cost Analysis Worksheet (Complete & Return)
TAB 6 − EXCEPTIONS
If the Respondent has any exceptions to any content contained in the RFP or its
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attachments, including the Proposed Agreement, include a detailed explanation
under Tab 6.
PART 2 – PERCENTAGE FEE PROPOSAL
TAB 1 - PERCENTAGE FEE PROPOSAL (25 Points)
In a separate, sealed envelope, provide an ORIGINAL, so identified and six (6)
complete copies of your Percentage Fees Proposal. The Proposals must include
a minimum percentage of Gross Receipts that equals or exceeds the ten percent
(10%). The Percentage Fee Proposal must be signed and dated by an authorized
representative of the Respondent.
6.3 Proposals must be submitted as follows:
6.3.1 All Proposals must be delivered to the Charlotte County Airport Authority at
the address below no later than 2:00 P.M. EST on September 6, 2019.
Late Proposals will be rejected. Failure to comply with this or any other
paragraph of the Request for Proposals shall be sufficient reason for
rejection of the Proposal.
Please provide one (1) electronic copy (USB flash drive or CD) and mark six
copies of the written proposal envelope(s) as follows: FULL-SERVICE
RESTAURANT & CATERER AT PUNTA GORDA AIRPORT’S GAC Written
Proposal
Do not open Until 2:00 P.M. EST, September 6, 2019
Request for Proposals No. 2019-XXX
Please provide one (1) electronic copy (USB flash drive or CD) and mark six
copies of the Fee Proposals envelope(s) as follows: FULL-SERVICE
RESTAURANT & CATERER AT PUNTA GORDA AIRPORT’S GAC
Percentage Fee Proposal
Do not open Until Qualified.
Request for Proposals No. 2019-XXX
Please address the envelope(s) as follows:
Charlotte County Airport Authority
Administration Building
8079 Golf Course Blvd. (Corner of Viking Avenue and Piper Road)
Punta Gorda, FL 33982
or mail to:
Charlotte County Airport Authority 28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, FL 33982
6.3.2 The front of each Proposal envelope/container shall contain the following
information for proper identification:
•
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the name and address of the Respondent

•
•
•

the word "Proposal" and the RFP number
the time/date specified for receipt of Proposals
the number of each envelope/container submitted (i.e. "1 of 3, "2 of 3", "3 of
3")

6.3.3 ALL PROPOSALS MUST BE RECEIVED ON OR BEFORE THE TIME
AND DATE INDICATED ON THE RFP DOCUMENT. The responsibility for
submitting the Proposals to the Charlotte County Airport Authority on or
before the above stated time and date is solely that of the Respondent. The
Authority will in no way be responsible for delays in mail delivery or delays
caused by any other occurrence. LATE PROPOSALS WILL NOT BE
ACCEPTED.
6.3.4 All Proposals must be in writing. Non-responsive Proposals may not be
considered. The signer of the Proposals must declare that the Proposals
are in all respects fair and in good faith without collusion or fraud and that
the signer of the Proposals has the authority to bind the principal
Respondent.
6.3.5 The Authority shall not be liable for any costs incurred by a Respondent. All
Respondents are encouraged to provide a simple, straightforward, and
concise description of their ability to meet the Authority’s goals and
objectives of the RFP.
SECTION 7.0 TIME SCHEDULE
The proposed time schedule is as follows:
Release of RFP .............................................................. ### 2019
Non-Mandatory Pre-Proposal Conference ……………...### 2019 @ 10:00 AM –
Punta Gorda Airport, CCAA Commission Meeting Room
Deadline for requests for clarification, questions, etc…..### 2019 @ 4:30 PM EST
Deadline for submission of Proposals ............................ ### 2019
Anticipated Selection ...................................................... ### 2019
Anticipated Contract Award ............................................ ### 2019
Anticipated Contract Execution…………………………….TBD

SECTION 8.0 EVALUATION CRITERIA
Evaluation of Proposals will be performed using the following criteria and weighted
values:
Criteria

Maximum Rating Points

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

5

COMPANY EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES

15
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(0 - 15 points)
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AND CONCEPT(S)
(0-30 POINTS)

30

FINANCIAL CAPABILITY (0-20 POINTS)

25

Cost/Fee Proposals (0 - 25 POINTS)

25

Maximum Points Allowed

100

SECTION 9.

CONTRACT AWARD

9.1 The Authority reserves the right to incorporate the Selected Restauranteur’
Proposals into a contract. Failure of a Restauranteur to accept this obligation
may result in the cancellation of any award.
9.2 The Selected Restauranteur will be required to assume responsibility for all
services offered in their Proposals. The Authority will consider the Selected
Restauranteur to be the sole point of contact with regard to contractual
matters, including payment of any or all charges.
9.3 Copies of the recommended ranking and award for each Package will be
available for review.
SECTION 10. RIGHT OF REJECTION:
The Authority reserves the right to waive any informality in any Proposals, to reject
any or all Proposals in whole or in part, with or without cause, and/or to accept the
Proposals that in its judgment will be in the best interest of the Authority and its
citizens.
SECTION 11. REQUESTS FOR CLARIFICATIONS. INTERPRETATIONS &
ASSISTANCE
All questions concerning this Request for Proposals must be directed through:
Kaley Miller
TELEPHONE: (941) 639-1101
E-MAIL: kmiller@flypgd.com
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 Airport Road A-1, Punta Gorda, FL 33982
All telephone conversations are to be considered unofficial responses and will not
be binding. Questions, verifying the Request for Proposals' content, if appropriate,
will be responded to in writing. The written response will be the Authority’s official
response and will be mailed to all Respondents that requested the Request for
Proposals. Deadline for question/clarification submittal is August XX, 2019.
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SECTION 12.0 GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
12.1

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY “AGREEMENT”
12.1.1 In connection with work performed under a Charlotte County Airport
Authority contract, the Respondent agrees, upon receipt of a written
award or acceptance of a contract, to support and abide by the
Authority’s Equal Opportunity Pledge.
12.1.2 By submitting a Proposals in response to this solicitation, the Respondents
agrees to –
• Not discriminate against any employee or job applicant because
of their race, creed, color, sex, marital status or national origin;
• Post a copy of this pledge in a conspicuous place, available to all
employees and job applicants.
• Place or cause to be placed a statement in all solicitations or
advertisement for job applicants, including subcontracts, that the
Respondent is an “Equal Opportunity Employer”.

12.2 PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES
As required by Florida State Statute 287.133, (2 (a), A person or affiliate who
has been placed on the convicted vendor list following a conviction for a
public entity crime may not submit a proposal on a contract to provide any
goods or services to a public entity, may not submit a proposal on a contract
with a public entity for the construction or repair of a public building or a
public work, may not submit Proposals on leases of real property to a public
entity, may not be awarded or perform work as a contractor, supplier,
subcontractor, or consultant under a contract with any public entity, and may
not transact business with any public entity in excess of the threshold
amount provided in s.287.017 for CATEGORY TWO for a period of 36
months from the date of being placed on the convicted vendor list. Any
person must notify the Authority within 30 days after a conviction of a public
entity crime applicable to that person or to an affiliate of that person.
12.3 INDEMNIFICATION
The Restauranteur shall indemnify and save harmless the Authority, its
officials and employees, from all losses, damages, costs, expenses, liability,
claims, actions, and judgments of any kind whatsoever brought or asserted
against, or incurred by, the Authority, including without limitation attorney’s
fees and costs of litigation, to the extent that the same arise out of or are
caused by any act or omission of the Restauranteur, its subcontractors, or by
the employees, officers, directors, or agents of the Restauranteur, or its
subcontractors.
12.4 ISSUANCE OF ADDENDA
12.4.1 If this solicitation is amended, the Authority will issue an appropriate
addendum to the solicitation. If an addendum is issued, all terms and
conditions that are not specifically modified shall remain unchanged.
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12.4.2 Respondents shall acknowledge receipt of each addendum to this
solicitation using one of the following methods:
• By signing and returning the addendum;
• By signed letter;
• By email acknowledgement from a verifiable email address
12.4.3 The Authority must receive the acknowledgment by the time and date,
and at the location specified for receipt of Proposals.
12.5 PAYMENT:
12.5.1. Prompt Pay Policy
It is the policy of the Authority to fully implement the provisions of the
State of Florida Prompt Payment Act. For more information, please
refer to Florida State Statute 218.7.
12.5.2. Withholding Payment
In the event a contract is canceled under any provision herein, The
Authority may withhold from the Restauranteur any monies owed
on that or any contract, an amount sufficient to compensate for
damages suffered because of the violation resulting in cancellation.
12.6 INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS:
Prior to commencing work, the Restauranteur shall procure and maintain at
Restauranteur’s own cost and expense for the duration of the “Agreement”
the following insurance against claims for injuries to person or damages to
property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the
work or services hereunder by the Selected Restauranteur, his agents,
representatives, employees or Subcontractors. The cost of such insurance
shall be included in the Selected Restauranteur's Proposals.
12.6.1 Selected Restauranteur shall maintain limits no less than:
Commercial General/Umbrella Liability Insurance - $2,000,000 limit per
occurrence for property damage and bodily injury. The service provider
should indicate in its Proposals whether the coverage is provided on a claimsmade or preferably on an occurrence basis. The insurance shall include
coverage for the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Premise/Operations
Explosion, Collapse and Underground Property Damage Hazard (only
when applicable to the project)
Products/Completed Operations
Contractual
Independent Contractors
Broad Form Property Damage
Personal Injury

Business Automobile/Umbrella Liability Insurance - $1,000,000 limit per
accident for property damage and personal injury.
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•
•
•

Owned/Leased Autos
Non-owned Autos
Hired Autos

Workers’ Compensation and Employers’/Umbrella Liability Insurance -Workers’ Compensation coverage with benefits and monetary limits as set
forth in Chapter 440, Florida Statutes. This policy shall include
Employers’/Umbrella Liability coverage for $1,000,000 per accident. Workers’
Compensation coverage is required as a condition of performing work or
services for The Authority whether or not the Contractor or Vendor is
otherwise required by law to provide such coverage.
12.6.2 Other Insurance Provisions
12.6.2.1 Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverage’s

•

•
•

The Authority members, officers, agents, employees and volunteers are
to be covered as additional insureds as respects: liability arising out of
activities performed by or on behalf of the Selected Restauranteur;
products and completed operations of the Selected Restauranteur;
premises owned, leased or used by the Selected Restauranteur or
premises on which Selected Restauranteur is performing services on
behalf of the Authority. The coverage shall contain no special limitations
on the scope of protection afforded to the Authority, members of The
Authority boards, officers, agents, employees and volunteers.
The Selected Restauranteur's insurance coverage shall be primary
insurance as respects the Authority boards, officers, agents, employees
and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by the
Authority boards, officers, agents, employees and volunteers shall be
excess of Selected Restauranteur's insurance and shall not contribute
with it.
Any failure to comply with reporting provisions of the policies shall not
affect coverage provided to the Authority members of its boards, officers,
agents, employees and volunteers.
Coverage shall state that Selected Restauranteur's insurance shall apply
separately to each insured against whom a claim is made or suit is
brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer's liability.

12.6.2.2 Workers' Compensation and Employers’ Liability and Property
Coverage’s
The insurer shall agree to waive all rights of subrogation against the
Authority member of its boards, officers, agents, employees and
volunteers for losses arising from activities and operations of Selected
Restauranteur in the performance of services under this “Agreement”.
12.6.2.3 All Coverage’s
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•

•

•

•

Each insurance policy required by this clause shall be endorsed to state
that coverage shall not be suspended, voided, canceled, reduced in
coverage or in limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice has
been given to the Authority.
If Selected Restauranteur, for any reason, fails to maintain insurance
coverage which is required pursuant to this “Agreement”, the same shall
be deemed a material breach of contract. The Authority, at its sole
option, may terminate this “Agreement” and obtain damages from the
Selected Restauranteur resulting from said breach.
Alternatively, the Authority may purchase such required insurance
coverage (but has no special obligation to do so), and without further
notice to Selected Restauranteur, the Authority may deduct from sums
due to Selected Restauranteur any premium costs advanced by the
Authority for such insurance.
The Authority named as "additional insured" as its interest may appear.

12.6.2.4 Deductibles and Self-Insured Retention’s
Any deductibles or self-insured retention’s must be declared to and
approved by the Authority. At the option of the Authority, the insurer
shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retention’s
as respects the Authority members of its boards, officers, agents,
employees and volunteers; or the Selected Restauranteur shall
procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses, related
investigation, claim administration and defense expenses.
12.6.2.5 Acceptability of Insurers
Insurance is to be placed with Florida admitted insurers rated B+X
or better by A.M. Best's rating service.
12.6.2.6 Verification of Coverage
Selected Restauranteur shall furnish the Authority with certificates
of insurance and with original endorsements affecting coverage
required by this clause. The certificates and endorsements for
each policy are to be signed by a person authorized by that insurer
to bind coverage on its behalf. The certificates and endorsements
are to be received and approved by the Authority before work
commences.
12.6.2.7 Subcontractors
Selected Restauranteur shall include each of its subcontractors as
insureds under the policies of insurance required herein.
12.7

CONFIDENTIALITY
12.7.1
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By submitting a proposal in response to this solicitation, a

Respondent acknowledges that the Authority is a governmental
entity subject to the Florida Public Records Law (Chapter 119,
Florida Statutes). The Respondent further acknowledges that any
materials or documents provided to the Authority may be "public
records" and, as such, may be subject to disclosure to, and copying
by, the public unless otherwise specifically exempt by statute.
Should a Respondent provide the Authority with any materials
which it believes, in good faith, contain information which would be
exempt from disclosure or copying under Florida law, the
Respondent shall indicate that belief by typing or printing, in bold
letters, the phrase "Proprietary Information" on the face of each
affected page of such material. The Respondent shall submit to the
Authority both a complete copy of such material and a redacted
copy in which the exempt information on each affected page, and
only such exempt information, has been rendered unreadable. In
the event a Respondent fails to submit both copies of such
material, the copy submitted will be deemed a public record subject
to disclosure and copying regardless of any annotations to the
contrary on the face of such document or any page(s) thereof.
12.8

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
(a)
Right to Protest. Any prospective bidder, or respondent may protest the
provisions of a Invitation for Bids (IFB) or Request for Proposals (RFP).
i

Protest of Specifications or Proceedings Prior to Bid Opening

Any actual or prospective bidder, or contractor, who is aggrieved in
connection with the solicitation of a contract or bid, may protest on the
grounds or irregularities in specifications or bid procedure.
ii Protest of Recommended Award
Any actual bidder or respondent, who is aggrieved in connection with the
evaluation of bids, the evaluation of Proposals, or the staff
recommendation regarding award of a contract, provided that such bidder
or respondent would have been awarded the contract but for the
aggrieved action, may protest such evaluation or award recommendation.
(b)

Filing a Protest. A written protest shall be considered filed, for purposes
of this procedure when all related items are actually delivered to and
received by the Authority. All protest shall be directed to the attention of
the Executive Director of the Authority.
i For protest related to the specifications or proceeding of an IFB or
RFP, a formal written protest must be filed no later than 72 hours
(excluding weekends and holidays) prior to the scheduled bid opening
date. Failure to timely file the written protest including the required protest
bond/cashier’s check, shall constitute a waiver of such protest.
ii
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For protest related to the evaluation of bids, evaluation of Proposals, or

staff recommendation regarding award of a contract, a written notice of
intent to protest must be filed with the Authority within 72 hours (excludes
weekends and holidays) after posting of the intended recommendation
regarding award, and a written protest, must be filed with the Authority no
later than 4:30 p.m., ET, on the seventh (7th) calendar day following the
date on which the written notice of intent to protest was filed. A weekend
commences at 12:00 a.m., ET, on Saturday and ends at the same time on
the following Monday. A holiday begins at 12:00 a.m., ET, on the
observed holiday and ends at the same time on the following day. Such
written protest shall state, with particularity the facts and grounds upon
which the protest is based, and shall include references to applicable
laws, statutes, ordinances, policies, or other authority on which the protest
is based. Failure to timely file either the notice of intent or the written
protest including the protest bond/cashier’s check, shall constitute a
waiver of such protest.
(c)

Protest Bond. Any person who files a formal written protest, shall post
with the Authority, at the time of filing the formal written protest, a cashier’s
check or bond payable to the Authority in an amount equal to 1 percent of
the Authority’s estimate of the total volume of the contract or $10,000,
whichever is less.

(d)

Final Decision. The Authority’s Attorney or designee shall consider each
protest and shall render a final determination. If the decision of the
Authority’s Attorney or designee upholds the action taken by The
Authority, then the Authority shall retain the amount in payment of a
portion of the cost and expense, including but not limited to, time spent by
Authority staff in responding to the protest and in conducting the
evaluation of the protest. If the decision of the Authority’s Attorney or
designee does not uphold the action taken by the Authority, then the
Authority shall return that amount, without deduction, to the person or
entity filing the protest.

(e)

Stay of Procurement During Bid Protest
In the event protest is filed in accordance with the bid protest procedures
herein, the Authority shall not proceed further with the solicitation or award
of the contract until the Authority’s Attorney or designee has rendered a
written decision regarding the protest or until the Executive Director or
designee makes a written determination that continuation of the process
and award of a contract without delay is necessary to protect the
substantial interest of the Authority.
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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS
for
GROUND TRANSPORTATION CONCESSION
at the
PUNTA GORDA AIRPORT
for the
CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
The Charlotte County Airport Authority (hereinafter, the "Authority") invites qualified
and interested parties to submit proposals to provide ground transportation services,
comprising both taxi and shuttle service as hereinafter defined, to the public at large
between the Punta Gorda Airport (hereinafter, the "Airport") and various points and
locations in Charlotte, Sarasota, Desoto, and Lee Counties and other destinations as
requested by patrons of the Airport. The selected proposer will provide the taxi and shuttle
service pursuant to a concession to be granted by the Authority (hereinafter, the
"Concession"). Proposers wishing to submit qualifying proposals will strictly follow the
requirements and instructions of this Request for Proposals (“RFP”).
I.

BACKGROUND
A.

THE AIRPORT

The Airport is located along the Interstate-75 (I-75) corridor, 3 miles east of the City
of Punta Gorda and roughly 25 miles north of Fort Myers. It occupies approximately 1,800
acres, a passenger terminal building and other facilities. The passenger terminal building is
served by one scheduled passenger airline. This airline operates over approximately 500
flights per month to and from the Airport. In calendar year 2018, the Airport served over
1.5 million total passengers. The Airport is considered an origination and destination
(“O&D”) airport and virtually all of these passengers arrived at and left the Airport by
ground transportation. Table 1 below shows the Airport’s historical enplaned and deplaned
passengers for calendar years 2013 through 2018.
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TABLE 1
HISTORICAL PASSENGER, GROSS REVENUE, &
TRANSACTIONS ACTIVITY
Fiscal
Year
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018

Enplaned
166,062
314,244
418,017
548,605
616,318
786,911

Deplaned
167,549
313,831
418,455
549,510
621,841
790,253

Total
333,611
628,075
836,472
1,098,115
1,238,159
1,577,164

% Inc/Decr
from prior yr
52.09%
88.27%
33.18%
33.69%
15.65%
21.95%

For historical gross revenue and transaction history by month, see Exhibit “C”.
B.

EXISTING GROUND TRANSPORTATION CONCESSION

Ground transportation services at the Airport are currently provided by various ground
transportation companies (“Incumbent Concessionaires”) pursuant to concession agreements
(“Agreement”) which will expire at the close of business on September 30, 2019. The
Incumbent Concessionaires operate from assigned premises indicated on Exhibit “A” to this
RFP.
C.

NEW GROUND TRANSPORTATION CONCESSION

The Authority intends to award the Concession to the qualified ground transportation
company (“Operator”) which demonstrates, to the Authority’s satisfaction, the capability and
expertise necessary to operate the Concession to the satisfaction of Authority and the public
and which makes the most favorable proposal to the Authority as determined by it in its sole
and absolute discretion.
D.

POINTS OF SERVICE AND FARES

The Operator shall provide taxi and shuttle service to all points as requested by Airport
patrons (“Pickup and Discharge Points”) for flat rate fares proposed by the Operator and
approved by the Authority. Exhibit “B1 - B2” to this RFP is the current table of destinations
identified by the Incumbent Concessionaires and the fares presently approved by the
Authority (“Base Fares”).
As previously stated, the ground transportation services shall comprise both taxi and
shuttle service. “Taxi” means any transportation in which the Operator agrees to transport
one or more persons in the same vehicle to the same destination in Exclusive Ride Service.
“Exclusive Ride Service” means when the passenger or party is delivered to his, her or their
destination without intermediate stops and with exclusive occupancy of the vehicle. When
more than two persons are in a taxi the Operator may charge such passengers an additional
fee. “Shuttle” means transportation in which one or more persons are transported to the
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same or different destinations in Shared Ride Service. “Shared Ride Service” means when no
passenger or party has the right to exclusive occupancy of the vehicle. Any passenger
desiring Shared Ride Service shall not wait longer than thirty (30) minutes for such service.
Shuttle service may involve intermediate stops between the origin and destination for each
individual or party in the Shuttle.
Proposers are urged to familiarize themselves with the geography of the Airport’s
service area and to determine the adequacy of the Base Fares. Proposers should include in
their proposal’s modifications to the Base Fares they would require in order to operate the
Concession. The Base Fares shall remain in effect unless they are changed upon award of
the Concession or until they are changed upon written request of Concessionaire and
approved by the Authority. All proposed changes shall be in writing, with appropriate
supporting justification and filed in advance with the Authority for approval. The Authority,
after consideration of all relevant factors, shall in its sole discretion determine the
reasonableness of any such fares.
E.
REVIEW OF PICKUP AND DISCHARGING POINTS BY CHEIF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The various locations of the Pickup and Discharge Points shall be subject to the
approval, disapproval or withdrawal of approval by the Authority. The Authority, in its sole
judgment, shall have the right to determine the adequacy of service to and the number and
specific locations of Pickup and Discharge Points to be served and, from time to time during
the term of the awarded Agreement, require the Concessionaire to adjust its service
patterns accordingly.
F.

MINIMUM LEVELS OF SERVICE

The selected Concessionaire will at a minimum be required to meet each flight
scheduled to arrive or depart the Airport and provide a minimum level of service as shall be
mutually agreed upon from time to time between the Concessionaire and the Authority.
Such minimum level of service shall include a maximum wait period of thirty
(30) minutes for those passengers who desire Shared Ride Service.
The Authority retains the right at any time during the term of the Agreement to
obtain ground transportation from any available source whenever, due to any cause, the
selected Concessionaire is unable to render prompt and adequate transportation service
needed by the public to or from the Airport.
G.

COMPENSATION

As compensation to the Authority for the rights and privileges granted, rate
modification at the Authority’s discretion, the Concessionaire shall pay the following:
1.

Concession Fees.
Three dollars ($3.00) per ride / Taxis
Six dollars ($6.00) per ride / Shuttle
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2.
Loading Areas. There is no charge for the use of loading and unloading areas
to the Concessionaire. Currently, the Concessionaire is assigned to a staging area, if in the
future additional parking areas are required for its business, the Authority may provide such
area at a reasonable cost and in such location as determined by the Authority.
H.

MOTOR VEHICLES

Concessionaire may use a variety of passenger motor vehicles as may be required to
best serve the public in its desire for ground transportation between the Airport and various
locations in the Airport service area. Proposers should include in their proposals a
description of the number, make, type, age and condition of the minimum amount of motor
vehicles it will assign to the ground transportation service. The Authority shall have the right
to specify the number of vehicles in each classification to be operated under the provisions
of this Concession.
Concessionaire shall at all times keep its motor vehicles in a good state of repair,
clean and neat in appearance. All vehicles used must be heated and air conditioned.
Any vehicle not meeting this standard must be removed from service. This requirement shall
be satisfied upon the initiative of Concessionaire but may be mandated by the
Authority.
I.

BACKGROUND IS CONTEXT ONLY

This Background section is provided to set the context in which the Authority intends
to select the Concessionaire. The details of the proposal process, the Concessionaire
selection process and the concession contract to be awarded to the successful proposer are
set forth with particularity in the following sections of this RFP and the Schedules, Exhibits
and Appendix hereto (hereinafter, the "Proposal Documents"). Interested persons and
proposers must refer to the entirety of the Proposal Documents for detailed instructions to
guide them in conforming to the proposal requirements and selection process.

II.

PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS

The Concession will be awarded, and proposals are solicited under the following
guidelines, limitations, terms and conditions:
A.

CRITERIA FOR AWARD

The Concession will be awarded to a financially responsible proposer which, in the
sole and absolute discretion of the Authority, demonstrates, on the form of Qualification
Affidavit included as Schedule I hereto, and in the proposer’s Operating Plan submitted with
its proposal, superior qualifications in providing high levels of customer service in the
operation of a ground transportation concession in a passenger airport environment. The
selection shall be made using the following criteria:
□
Demonstrated experience and reputation of proposer in providing taxi,
limousine, shuttle and other ground transportation services;
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□

□
□

Demonstrated reputation of proposer in providing such services in an
airport environment in a courteous and timely manner and with a high
degree of customer service;
The fares, routes and schedules shown in proposer’s Operating Plan;
The level of customer service that proposer intends to provide to the traveling
public using the Airport and methods for assuring the implementation of its
programs as described in proposer’s Operating Plan;
Demonstration of proposer’s ability to meet passenger demands for service
including ability to meet any and all late arrivals daily;
The qualifications of proposer’s management team;
The extent to which the proposal helps the Authority meet the requirements
imposed upon it under 49 CFR 23 subpart F to provide business opportunities
at the Airport to socially and economically disadvantaged persons
(“Disadvantaged Business Enterprise”);
Financial condition of proposer;
Satisfactory completion of the Proposal Documents.

B.

PROPOSAL

□
□

□
□
□

Proposals, one (1) unbound original, four (4) copies, and one (1) electronic PDF
version must be submitted in a sealed envelope of the proposal forms: Schedule I,
“Qualification Affidavit”, and Schedule II, “Proposal Form”. Additional pages as necessary,
including acknowledgment of any addenda which may be issued, should also be included.
As discussed in Paragraph II “H” herein, the required Proposal Guaranty shall be included
with the proposal in the form of a cashier’s check or Proposal Guaranty Bond in the form
set forth in Schedule III of this RFP.
The sealed envelope containing the proposal shall be plainly marked
“PROPOSAL FOR GROUND TRANSPORTATION CONCESSION at the PUNTA
GORDA AIRPORT”, together with proposer's name, return address and phone
number.
C.

CONCESSION AGREEMENT

The successful proposer, pursuant to this RFP, will be required to enter into a three
(3) year Ground Transportation Concession Agreement substantially in the form of the
Appendix hereto, by which the proposer will be awarded concession rights and the use of
the ground transportation facilities at the Airport. The Airport will retain an option at its sole
discretion to extend the term for two additional one-year terms.
D.

QUESTIONS AND INQUIRIES

The Authority will accept questions and inquiries in writing. Any response by
Authority to a request for clarification will be issued in the form of a written addendum to
this RFP, which will be sent to all of those entities that have expressed a written interest in
this RFP by emailing Sandy Cauley at scauley@flypgd.com.
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E.
INTERPRETATION OF DOCUMENTS
Every request for interpretation as to the meaning of any provision of any Proposal
Documents shall be made in writing and delivered to:
Ms. Sandy Cauley, A.A.E.
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gora, Florida33982
Or via email at scauley@flypgd.com
and must be received on or before June 17, 2019. Every interpretation made to proposers
will be made in the form of an addendum, which, if issued, will be sent by email to all
parties that that have expressed a written interest in this RFP, on or before June 24, 2019.
In case any proposer fails to acknowledge receipt of any such addendum in the space
provided in the Proposal Form, its proposal will, nevertheless, be construed as though the
addendum had been received and acknowledged, and submission of a proposal shall
constitute acknowledgment of the receipt of same. Only an interpretation or correction
stated in a written addendum shall be binding. THE AUTHORITY SHALL NOT BE
RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY ORAL REPRESENTATIONS OR INTERPRETATIONS.
F.

PROPOSAL DEADLINE

The proposal must be properly addressed and received at the Administration Offices
of the Charlotte County Airport Authority whose mailing address is 28000 A-1 Airport Road,
Punta Gorda, Florida, 33982 and is physically located at 8079 Golf Course Blvd., Punta
Gorda, Florida 33982 no later than 2:00 P.M. (local time), July 8, 2019, after which time
the proposals submitted shall be opened. There will be a public opening of the proposals.
G.

PROPOSING ENTITY

In submitting the proposal, the proposer should note that distinctions are made in the
form of execution and supporting information required, depending upon whether the
proposer is an individual, a partnership, a corporation or a limited liability company. The
proposer must supply all information required for the applicable type of entity. If the
proposer is a joint venture or a partnership, the Qualification Affidavit must be submitted
separately for each participant in the joint venture or partnership, except that the submission
of financial information may be limited to the assets of the joint venture or partnership, if so
indicated, in the discretion of the proposer.

H.
PROPOSAL GUARANTY
Each proposal must be accompanied by a Proposal Guaranty made payable to the
Charlotte County Airport Authority in the form of a cashier's check or a Proposal Guaranty
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Bond identical to the form of Schedule III to this RFP. Cash will not be accepted as a
Proposal Guaranty. The Proposal Guaranty so furnished shall be in the amount of Five
Thousand Dollars ($5,000.00) and shall be submitted with the understanding that it shall
guarantee that the proposal will not be withdrawn for a period of ninety (90) days after the
scheduled closing time for the receipt of proposals as specified in Paragraph II F above; and
that if the proposal is accepted the proposer will enter into an agreement with the Authority
in the form contained in the Proposal Documents and will furnish a Performance Guaranty,
as required in Paragraph II H hereof, deliver such agreement as required by the RFP to the
Office of the Authority within ten (10) days of notification by the Authority of its selection as
the successful proposer.
I.

WITHDRAWAL OF PROPOSAL

No proposal may be withdrawn after it is filed unless the proposer makes a request in
writing and such a request is received prior to the time set for opening of proposals. No
proposal may be withdrawn after the scheduled proposal closing time for a period of ninety
(90) days. The Authority reserves the right to reject any or all proposals.

J.

TENTATIVE AWARD OF CONCESSION

The Authority will appoint a Selection Committee to review the proposals submitted
and to recommend a proposal for selection and such other matters or actions as it might
determine appropriate. Proposer may be required to make oral and visual presentations to
the Selection Committee and or Charlotte County Airport Authority Board.
The Authority may either accept the proposer's proposal as received or negotiate the
terms and conditions of the proposal. If the Authority elects to negotiate the terms and
conditions of the selected proposer's proposal, the Authority will so notify the proposer of
its intention. If the selected proposer is willing to negotiate the terms of its proposal, the
Authority and the proposer will meet to resolve the final terms and conditions of the
proposal and Agreement. Authority will then tender (send) to proposer a summary
statement of the revised elements of the proposal, as agreed on by Authority and proposer,
along with the Agreement (containing alternate language, if any, agreed on by Authority
and proposer) for execution by the proposer. At any time, however, prior to execution of an
Agreement with a proposer, the Authority may withdraw from negotiations, reject its
previous selection and select another proposer or reject all proposals in its sole discretion.
K.

NOTICE OF AWARD

The successful proposer to whom written notice of award and the Agreement is
tendered shall have ten (10) days after the date of receipt of the final Agreement to execute
the Agreement and deliver the executed Agreement to the Authority along with evidence of
the insurance coverage required under the Agreement. The notice shall state the date it is
mailed. Proposer must execute all such documents and must deliver the documents, and any
other documents required by the RFP to the Authority for approval before the Agreement will
be executed by the Authority.
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The Authority reserves the right to cancel the award of the Concession and the
Agreement without liability, except for the return of the proposal guaranty to the proposer,
at any time before the Agreement has been fully executed by both parties and delivered to
the Concessionaire.
Should the Authority not elect to negotiate the terms of the proposal, it will tender
to the successful proposer an Agreement for its execution in the form of the Agreement
completed to conform to the specifics of proposer's proposal. Failure on the part of the
proposer to execute and deliver such Agreement and the other documents required as
described in the foregoing paragraph within ten (10) days after the date of written notice of
award shall be just cause for cancellation of the award by the Authority and the forfeiture of
the Proposal Guaranty to the Authority, which forfeiture shall be considered not as penalty
but in liquidation of damages sustained. Thereafter, the award may be made to another
proposer or all proposals may be rejected in the Authority's sole discretion as
aforementioned.
L.

ANNULMENT OF AWARD

Failure upon the part of the successful proposer to comply with the requirements of
the foregoing Paragraph II K within the time specified shall, in the sole discretion of the
Authority, be just cause for the annulment of any award to that proposer and the forfeiture
of the proposer's Proposal Guaranty to the Authority, as liquidated damages for the loss that
the Authority will have thereby sustained. Such forfeiture shall be without prejudice to any
other remedies to which the Authority may be legally entitled to on account of such failure.
In such event theAuthority may elect either to accept another proposal or to reject all other
pending proposals with respect to which a Concession has not been then awarded.
M.

RETURN OF PROPOSAL GUARANTIES

The Authority will return or release all unsuccessful proposers’ Proposal Guaranty
within thirty (30) days after the successful execution and delivery of the Agreement to the
awarded proposer, or sooner if a final decision has been made that no proposal will be
accepted.
N.
SIGNATURE ON BONDS
Any party signing any bond herein required as attorney-in-fact must file a certified
copy of his/her power of attorney with the bond. All bonds must be countersigned by a
resident Florida agent of the surety with proof of agency attached.
O.

DISQUALIFICATION OF PROPOSER

Without in any way limiting the Authority's right, in its discretion, to reject any or all
proposals, proposers are advised that any of the following may be considered as sufficient
cause for the disqualification of a proposer and the rejection of a proposal: (i) submission of
more than one proposal hereunder by an individual, firm, partnership or
corporation under the same or different names; (ii) evidence of collusion among proposers;
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(iii) the proposer's being in arrears on any existing contract with the Authority;
(iv) the proposer's being in litigation with the Authority; or (v) the proposer's having
defaulted on a previous contract with the Authority.
P.

IRREGULARITIES

Proposals will be considered irregular and may be rejected for omission, alterations of
form, additions not called for, conditions, limitation, unauthorized alternate proposals or
other irregularities of any kind. The Authority reserves the right to waive any such
irregularities.
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SCHEDULE I
STATE OF FLORIDA
CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

)
)

QUALIFICATION
AFFIDAVIT

[name of
affiant], first being duly sworn, deposes and says:
1.
I am authorized to give this Affidavit on behalf of

hereinafter referred to as the “Proposer” [insert name of Proposer unless Proposer is
an individual, in which case, "myself" and (unless Affiant is an individual), attach
a copy of the relevant authorization to execute the qualification affidavit (e.g.,
partnership agreement or certified copy of corporate resolution).]
2.
The Proposer has met all state and local licensing and other requirements
necessary to fully authorize it to operate a ground transportation concession as defined in
the Authority’s RFP for Ground Transportation Services.
3.
The Proposer has the following experience in the ground transportation
business (experience at airports preferred):
[here fully state experience].
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4.
The Proposer provides the following airport client or other relevant
references, and the names, the location, the dates of operation and a contact person: [here
fully state references (a minimum of five including one bank reference)
with a maximum on 20 pages].
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
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5.
The following is a listing of all public airports at which Proposer has had a
ground transportation concession terminated either voluntarily or involuntarily prior to the
expiration of its terms, together with an explanation of the reasons for termination and the
name and telephone number of a person associated with any such airport who may be
contacted for verification:
[here state all relevant information; if "none", be sure to so state].
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6.

Attached hereto is Proposer’s current financial statement and balance

sheet.
[If that of an individual, he or she must include a sworn statement on the face
thereof that it is full and complete and it is given to the Authority in consideration
for being considered as an applicant for a ground transportation concession at the
Punta Gorda Airport; it must also state the name and address of the applicant's
bank or financial advisor who has been authorized by the bidder to assist the
Authority in verifying the accuracy of information submitted on the financial
statement and balance sheet. If that of a corporation, the minimum that will be
accepted is a financial statement and balance sheet "reviewed" by an
independent certified public accountant.]
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7.
[If applicable, provide the following information.]
Proposer has a franchise relationship with
, a ground transportation company that is not itself a proposer, on which Proposer has a
right to rely on such facilities or services for the entire term of the Agreement as
demonstrated by:
[state facts relied upon by Proposer]

and by the terms of the enclosed copy of the franchise agreement between Proposer and
_ [name of ground transportation company].
Signature of Affiant
Sworn to and subscribed before me this
day of
, 200_.

Notary Public
My Authority Expires:
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SCHEDULE II
PROPOSAL FORM
GROUND TRANSPORTATION CONCESSION PUNTA
GORDA AIRPORT
CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

THIS PROPOSAL IS MADE TO:
Charlotte County Airport Authority 28000
A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida, 33982
Date:
By:
(Firm Name)
The undersigned as "Proposer" for a Ground Transportation Concession (hereinafter, the
"Concession") at Punta Gorda Airport (hereinafter, the "Airport") hereby declares that the
only person or persons interested in this Proposal as principal or principals is or are named
herein and that no person other than herein mentioned has any interest in this Proposal or
in the Agreement to be entered into; that this Proposal is made without connection with any
other person, company or parties making a Proposal; and that it is in all respects fair and in
good faith without collusion or fraud. Proposer represents to the Charlotte County Airport
Authority (hereinafter, the "Authority") that, except as may be disclosed in an Addendum
hereto, no officer, employee or agent of the Authority either has or will have any interest,
either directly or indirectly, in the business of Proposer in the operation of the Concession,
and that no such person shall have any such interest at any time during the term of the
Concession, should it be awarded to Proposer.
Proposer further declares that it has examined all the documents relative to the Concession,
including the Request for Proposals (hereinafter, the "RFP"), the Sample Ground
Transportation Concession Agreement (hereinafter, the "Agreement"), the
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Proposal Guaranty Bond, and has read all of the Addenda furnished prior to the opening
of Proposals, as acknowledged below, and that it has satisfied itself that it has been fully
informed relative to the Concession to be awarded.
Acknowledgment is hereby made of receipt of the following Addenda (identified by number)
since issuance of the RFP.
Addendum No.

Date

Proposer hereby submits by enclosure the Qualification Affidavit and supporting information
required by the RFP and certifies that all information so submitted is both accurate and
complete.
For the right to operate the Ground Transportation Concession at the Airport for a period of
three (3) years with two – one year option periods, Proposer offers to execute the
Agreement and proposes to pay three dollars ($3.00) per Taxi ride, six dollars ($6.00) per
Shuttle ride, subject to rate modifications at the discretion of the Authority or to the
termination or abatement under the terms of the Agreement and not otherwise.
OPERATING PLAN: (See Paragraph II A of RFP)
Proposer is required to provide in the form of a narrative an Operating Plan describing its
proposed operations at the Airport, all with particular emphasis on the level of customer
services and new technology that Proposer intends to provide the traveling public using the
Airport and describing the means Proposer intends to use to deal with complaints and
assure that its programs will in fact be implemented. The Operating Plan must include a
proposed fare schedule as in the form provided as Exhibit “B” Base Fares to the RFP and should also contain an organization chart, including resumes of the
managers having direct responsibility for supervising the operation at the Airport and a brief
description of the duties of each person shown on the organization chart.
The Proposer should include in its Operating Plan, a description of the equipment it will use
in the service, marketing programs, pro forma financial statements and any additional
information that Proposer deems to be pertinent to its selection as the Ground
Transportation Concessionaire by the Authority.

Should the Proposer be awarded the Concession, the following is the address for the mailing
of notices to be inserted in the Agreement:
Name:
Address:
Contact Person:
Telephone:
Facsimile:

E-Mail:

Proposer has enclosed: (check applicable blank)
A cashier's check for $5,000.00 as a Bid Bond
It is understood that the successful Proposer will be given written notice that it has been
selected to be awarded the Concession pursuant to its Proposal. This notification shall
include three (3) copies of the Agreement together with a statement of the insurance
coverage required by the Authority. Proposer agrees to deliver all three copies of the
Agreement, and a performance guarantee to the Authority, appropriate business licenses
and certificates evidencing all insurance coverage required under the Agreement, together
with satisfactory proof of execution within ten (10) days of the date of mailing stated in the
notice.
If any of the language or information in this Proposal conflicts with the RFP or any of the
documents furnished with the RFP, the language of the RFP or of the applicable document
shall govern.
The Proposer further agrees that, in the event the Concession is awarded to it and it fails to
comply with all of the requirements of the preceding paragraphs, as applicable, the Proposal
Guaranty shall be forfeited to the Authority.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Proposal
Document as of the date first above written.
(If Proposer is an INDIVIDUAL,
sign on this line)

(SEAL)

(If Proposer is a PARTNERSHIP, fill
in name of partnership, followed by
the signature of the partner signing)

BY:
Names and Addresses of All Partners:

(SEAL)

(If Proposer is CORPORATION, fill
in the name of the corporation,
followed by
the signature and title of the
official signing)
(Corporation)

(Signature)
By:

(Official Title)
Address

Attest:
Secretary (Corporate
Seal)

The corporation is organized under the laws of the State of
, and authorized by law to do business in the State of Florida and to make this Proposal and
perform all services and furnish materials and equipment required under the RFP
Documents.
The full names and residences of persons or firms interested in the foregoing Proposal as
principal stockholders (20% or more) or officers of the corporation are as follows:

SCHEDULE III
[Not necessary if cashier's check is submitted]
STATE OF FLORIDA

)

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

)
)

PROPOSAL
GUARANTY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we,
, as Principal, and
, licensed to
do business in the State of Florida, as Surety, are held and firmly bound unto the Charlotte
County Airport Authority ("Authority") in the full and just sum of Five Thousand and no/100
($5,000.00) dollars lawful money of the United States, for the payment of which sum well
and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, successors
and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents.
WHEREAS, the Principal has submitted its Proposal, dated
,
20 , for the Ground Transportation Concession at Punta Gorda Airport, Punta Gorda, Florida;
and
WHEREAS, the Authority requires this Bond as further assurance that the Principal will
execute the required Ground Transportation Concession Agreement if it is awarded the
concession;
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CONDITION OF THIS OBLIGATION IS SUCH that
if the Principal shall not withdraw said Proposal until the Agreement has been successfully
executed or until all Proposals therefor have been rejected, and if the Principal shall within
ten (10) days of notification by the Authority of submission of a successful Proposal deliver
to the Authority a Ground Transportation Concession Agreement in the form contained in
the proposal documents and furnish as a performance guarantee, or, in the event of the
failure to do so, if the Principal shall pay to the Authority the sum of Five Thousand and
no/100 ($5,000.00) dollars within said ten (10) day period, then the above obligation shall
be null and void; otherwise, to remain in full force and virtue.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the above bounden parties have executed this instrument
under their several seals this
day of
, 20 , the name and
corporate seal of each corporate party being hereto affixed and these presents duly signed
by its undersigned representative, pursuant to Authority of its governing body.
IN THE PRESENCE OF:
(Witness or Attestation)

(Principal)

[If corporation, affix seal
and attest]

By:

(Address)

(Witness or Attestation)

(Surety)

[If corporation, affix seal
attest]

By:

and
(Address)
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APPENDIX /GROUND TRANSPORTATION CONCESSION SAMPLE AGREEMENT

GROUND TRANSPORTATION CONCESSION AGREEMENT
between
CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY
and
XXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
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This CONCESSION AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of this 1st day of October, 2019, by and between
the CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY, a special district of the State of Florida (hereinafter referred to as
the “Authority”), and XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX, a corporation incorporated under the laws of Florida (hereinafter
referred to as “Operator”);

W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, the Authority owns and operates the Punta Gorda Airport (hereinafter referred to as “Airport”)
located in the county of Charlotte, Punta Gorda, in the State of Florida, and the Authority maintains at the Airport a
passenger terminal building (hereinafter referred to as the “Terminal Building”) to accommodate passengers
departing from and arriving at the Airport; and
WHEREAS, persons using the Airport need a convenient means of transportation for themselves and their
baggage to and from the Airport and surrounding areas as requested by Airport patrons and as identified in Exhibit
“B” to this Concession Agreement (“Pickup and Discharge Points”); and
WHEREAS, the Authority desires to award an exclusive concession to provide ground transportation
services to the traveling public at the Airport and pursuant to that Request For Proposals (“RFP”) dated June 3,
2019 has solicited and accepted proposals from interested parties, including Operator, who wished to be awarded
the ground transportation concession; and
WHEREAS, Operator submitted a proposal dated June 30, 2019 in response to the RFP (“Proposal”) the
terms of which are incorporated herein by reference thereto and is qualified, ready and able to furnish said services
and the facilities for use in connection therewith and Authority has selected Operator for award of the ground
transportation concession;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants and agreements
hereinafter contained, the parties hereto covenant and agree, and bind themselves, their successors and
assigns, as follows:
ARTICLE I
OPERATIONAL RIGHTS
A.

Rights Granted to Operator. Subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter contained, the

Authority hereby grants Operator the exclusive right and privilege to provide Ground Transportation Service
from the Airport. Ground Transportation Service shall mean the following services:
1.

Taxi Service. “Taxi Service” means the unscheduled and on-demand transportation of one or more

passengers in a party, along with their baggage and personal effects, from the Airport to various points as an
exclusive ride. “Exclusive Ride” is when, by request, the passenger has the right to occupy the vehicle to the
exclusion of other passengers and be delivered to his destination without immediate stops.
2.

Shuttle Service. “Shuttle Service” means the scheduled or unscheduled transportation of one or

more passengers, along with their baggage, from the Airport to various points as a Shared Ride. “Shared
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Ride” is when no passenger has the right to occupy the vehicle to the exclusion of other passengers, nor the right to
be delivered to his destination without intermediate stops.
3.

Non-Scheduled Ground Transportation. Non-Scheduled Ground Transportation means

transportation for persons including airline passengers, and baggage as may be requested, on a charter basis, by the
commercial airlines serving the Airport.
4.

Other Services. Such other types of Ground Transportation Services for persons, including

airline passengers and their bags, as may be requested by commercial airlines and members of the general
public, provided, such other types shall first be approved by the Authority.
Operator hereby accepts the rights and privileges herein above granted and agrees to conduct and operate
a business exercising such rights and providing such Ground Transportation Services subject to the terms and
conditions of this Concession Agreement. The exclusive right and privilege granted herein shall be interpreted to
mean that Operator shall be the Authority’s exclusive source of ground transportation designed to accommodate
passengers arriving and departing by scheduled air transportation services at the Airport, and that Operator is
authorized and agrees to promote its services and solicit passengers for said services, subject to the provisions of
ARTICLES VIII and IX hereof, but such exclusive rights shall be subject to and limited by the right of persons,
passengers or patrons of the Airport to use taxicabs or other public transportation services lawfully available for
conveyance of such passengers or patrons to and from the Airport by pre- arrangement between such passenger
and such other transportation service. The Authority will cooperate with Operator to prevent direct solicitation of
passengers by or on behalf of other ground transportation service providers on the Airport or in or about the
Terminal Building for Taxi, Shuttle, Non-Scheduled Ground Transportation and Other Services.
B.

Rights Retained by the Authority. In addition to the rights retained by the Authority under the

other provisions of this Concession Agreement the Authority retains the right, at any time during the Term of this
Concession Agreement, to obtain ground transportation from any available source for the purpose of
transporting passengers and baggage from the Airport to points covered by this Concession Agreement and from
such points to the Airport whenever, due to any cause, Operator is not able to render prompt and adequate
transportation service as contemplated by this Concession Agreement, provided, that the Authority shall
immediately discharge or otherwise cause such other ground transportation service to discontinue operation at
the Airport as soon as Operator shall remedy such deficiency in its service. Authority also retains the right to
permit bus service to and from the Airport.
ARTICLE II
PARKING
The Authority will provide Operator, at no cost to Operator, staging area on the Airport for the parking of a
limited number of the vehicles used by Operator in transportation services granted herein, the exact location to be
designated from time to time by the Authority (Exhibit “A”). Said staging area shall not be used for the parking of
private vehicles, whether or not owned by Operator. In the event Operator should require more than the designated
area for the rendering of the services contemplated in this Concession Agreement, the Authority may furnish such
additional space at such location and at such reasonable cost to Operator for the same as may be determined by the
Authority.
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ARTICLE III TERM
The term of this Concession Agreement shall commence on October 1, 2019 and unless sooner terminated
under the other provisions of this Concession Agreement, shall terminate at the close of business on October 31,
2022.
ARTICLE IV USE
Operator shall use the Premises and the rights and privileges granted to it under this Concession
Agreement for or in connection with the operation of its ground transportation business at the Airport, as
authorized in ARTICLE I -A hereof, and for no other purpose or use whatsoever.
ARTICLE V
FEES, RECORDS AND R E P O R T S
A.

Amount of Fees. For the rights and privileges granted herein, and for its use of the

Premises, Operator agrees to pay fees to the Authority as follows:

1.

Concession Fees. For the concession rights and privileges herein granted by Authority,

Operator agrees to pay to the Authority as Concession Fees of Three Dollars ($3.00) per Taxi ride, Six Dollars
($6.00) per Shuttle Ride, subject to rate modifications at the Authority’s discretion.
B.

Payment of Concession Fees. The fee provided for in Subparagraph A above shall be paid by

Operator to the Authority as follows:
1.

Payment of Concession Fees. Within ten (10) days after the end of each month of the Term,

Operator shall provide to the Authority a written accounting in a form acceptable to the Authority, signed by
an officer of Operator, of its number of trips for such month.
2.

Annual Reconciliation. Within ninety (90) days after the end of each contract year during the

Term hereof, Operator shall prepare and submit to the Authority the statement required in Subparagraph D hereof
with respect to its total Gross Revenues and total Trips for such contract year.
3.

Delinquencies. In the event that Operator is delinquent for a period of thirty (30) days or more in

paying to the Authority any sums payable pursuant to this Concession Agreement, Operator shall pay to the
Authority interest thereon at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum or at the then maximum lawful rate of
interest per annum, whichever is the lesser, from the date such sum was due and payable until paid. Receipt of such
interest by the Authority shall not bar the exercise by the Authority of any other remedy available to it on account
of such delinquency. If any delinquent sums payable under the terms of this Agreement are collected by or through
an attorney at law, Operator agrees to pay an additional fifteen percent (15%) thereof as attorney’s fees.
C.

Definition of Gross Revenues and Total Trips. As used in this Concession Agreement, the term

“Gross Revenues and Total trips” shall mean the gross receipts and Total number of trips of every kind and nature
received by or for the benefit of Operator or any agent of Operator or sub-lessee(s) from the operation of its Ground
Transportation Concession at the Airport, without regard to where its services are contracted for or where such
receipts or trips are obtained and without regard to whether such receipts are in the form of cash, credit, exchange
or otherwise, such receipts to include, but not be limited to, Operator’s receipts and trips from taxi, shuttle and
limousine operations to and from the Airport, whether arranged by individual passengers, by groups or by the
airlines serving the Airport, trips and receipts from package delivery to and from the Airport, and trips and receipts
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from charter service to and from the Airport.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Gross Receipts shall not include the following: (i) any tips for the
Operator’s drivers which are received by the Operator from its customers, provided such amounts are specifically
designated by the customer as a tip and are in fact paid over by the Operator to the driver for whom such tip was
intended; or (ii) any revenues from transporting passengers or property on a trip which neither begins nor ends
nor includes any stop at the Airport, pursuant to a contract between the Operator and a third party, provided
Operator gives written notice to the Authority, in advance, of the existence of such contract and furnishes such
information to the Authority, as the Authority may reasonably require, verifying such contract and the services to
be provided thereunder.
D.

Books of Account and Auditing. Operator shall keep true and complete records and accounts of its

trips and receipts from its ground transportation business, including, without limitation, all elements of Gross
Revenues and all deductions taken by the Operator from its receipts in calculating Gross Revenues. Within ninety
(90) days after the end of each contract year during the Term hereof, Operator shall furnish a true and accurate
statement, in such detail as the Authority shall reasonably require, of all such Gross Revenues and Total Trips
during such year, which statement shall be certified to be correct by an authorized representative of Operator.
Operator agrees to give the Authority access, upon twenty-four (24) hours prior notice, and during reasonable
hours, for inspection of Operator’s books and records, and Operator agrees that it will keep and preserve all
records of its Gross Revenues. Non-Airport Revenues and Total Trips during each contract year for at least three
(3) years after the end of such contract year. The Authority or its representative shall have the right, upon twentyfour hours (24) prior notice, at any time and from time to time to audit all of the records of Operator relating to its
ground transportation business at the Airport, including, but not limited to, Gross Revenues, Total Trips and
Operator, upon request, shall make all such information available for such examination at the Premises in the
Administration Building. If delay or additional costs are incurred in connection with such audit which are caused by
Operator, Operator shall be responsible for such additional costs. If Operator so desires, the Authority or its
representative may conduct the audit at a location other than at the Airport, provided Operator shall pay the
additional expenses of the Authority including, but not limited to, travel expenses, travel time and other related
expenses. If, as a result of an audit, it is established that Operator or any sub-concessionaire of Operator has
understated Gross Revenues or Total Trips for any contract year by five percent (5%) or more, the entire expense
of said audit shall be borne by Operator. Any additional fees due as a result of such audit shall forthwith be paid by
Operator to the Authority with interest thereon at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum, or at the then
maximum lawful rate of interest, whichever is less.
ARTICLE VI
FARES AND SERVICE STANDARDS
A.

Base Fares. The rate schedule (“Base Fares”) for Taxi and Shuttle Service on the effective date

of this Concession Agreement shall be as indicated in Exhibit “B” to this Concession Agreement.
The Base Fares set forth in Exhibit “B” to this Concession Agreement shall continue in effect until changed
by the Operator, but Operator may not add to or change such fares or any future fares without prior notification to,
and the written approval of, the Authority.
B.

Review of Fares by Authority. All requests for new or changed fares shall be filed by Operator in

advance with the Authority in writing and with appropriate justification. The Authority shall have exclusive
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discretion to determine the reasonableness of any proposed new or changed fares. If, after consideration of all
relevant factors, the proposed new or changed fares is approved in writing by the Authority, such charges may be
implemented by the Operator to the extent and in the amount approved by the Authority.
C.

Review of Pickup and Discharge Points by Authority. The various locations at the Airport and the

area served by Operator shall be subject to the approval, disapproval or withdrawal of approval by the Authority of
the Authority in his sole judgment, and the Authority shall have the right to determine the adequacy of service to
and the number and specific locations of Pickup and Discharge Points to be served and to require Operator to
adjust its service patterns accordingly. The failure of Operator to adequately provide the services so determined by
the Authority may be treated as a default under Article XII Paragraph C - 8 hereof.
D.

Minimum Levels of Service. The Operator will meet each flight arriving at the Airport with a

minimum level of service as shall be mutually agreed upon from time to time between the Operator and the
Authority. The failure to agree upon a minimum level of service or the failure to provide such service after
agreement on the matter has been reached, may be treated as a default under Article XII Paragraph C hereof.
E.

Management/Complaints. The Operator shall provide a high degree of customer service intended

to minimize customer complaints to the Authority from the users of Operator’s Ground Transportation Service. A
“Complaint” is defined as any valid written complaint received by the Authority for a problem including but not
limited to the level of service or the timeliness of the service directly caused by Operator or its staff.
Because of the importance of effective management in providing a high degree of customer service to the
traveling public, the Operator shall have on call during each shift an experienced manager to supervise its ground
transportation operations at the Airport. Such manager shall be authorized to represent and act for the Operator in
all matters pertaining to its operations and activities. The Operator shall provide the Authority with a list containing
the identity and phone number for such managers for each duty shift.
A complaint level of more than 3 complaints per month, each of separate incident, shall be an indication of
unsatisfactory customer service by Operator. If at any time that the Authority has any concerns with respect to
Operator’s performance under this Concession Agreement, the Operator’s Chief Executive Officer shall meet with
the Authority within three (3) working days after a request for a meeting to discuss and take appropriate action
with respect to the conditions or circumstances giving rise to the Authority’s concerns.
F.

Authority’s Right in the Event of Service Failure. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein,

whenever Operator, due to any cause whatsoever, fails to satisfy the service standards contained in this Article VI
or is otherwise unable to render prompt and adequate transportation service as contemplated by this Concession
Agreement, the Authority retains the right to obtain substitute, supplemental or alternate Ground Transportation
Service from any available source for the purpose of transporting passengers and baggage to and from the Airport.
The Authority shall immediately discharge or otherwise cause such other Ground Transportation Service to
discontinue operation at the Airport as soon as Operator shall remedy such deficiency in its service.
G.

Financial Records and Reports. The Operator shall also keep full and complete books of accounts

and other records normally accepted in sound accounting practices. Such records shall show the amount of total
Gross Revenues and Total Trips during each monthly period and shall also show the expenses of operation in such
detail as to enable the Authority to determine the reasonableness of fares. Representatives of the Authority from
time to time may examine the Operator’s books and records to determine that approved records are maintained.
Within ninety (90) days after the end of each contract year during the Term hereof, the Operator shall submit to the
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Authority an annual financial statement prepared by a Certified Public Accountant, covering such contract year,
such statement to include a detailed report of revenues, operating expenses, profits and losses and showing all
assets and liabilities and such financial statement and records shall be subject to an annual audit by the Authority,
or at any time deemed advisable by the Authority. The requirements of this Paragraph G shall be in addition to the
record-keeping and reporting requirements of ARTICLE V hereof.
H.

Reports of Passenger Traffic. Within ten (10) days after the close of each calendar month,

Operator will file with the Authority a monthly report on a form satisfactory to the Authority showing separately
the number of passengers transported to and from the Airport during the preceding calendar month for Shuttle
Service and for Taxi Service, shown separately, and any other services provided by the Operator in the performance
of this Concession Agreement, together with such other monthly statistics and financial data as may be mutually
agreed to by the parties hereto.
ARTICLE VII
TYPE OF SERVICE AND EQ UI P M EN T
In the operation of its Ground Transportation Service under this Concession Agreement, Operator shall
comply with the following requirements:
1.

Operator will provide sufficient service of the types herein specified to provide for ground

transportation for all scheduled incoming and outgoing flights of the airlines serving the Airport. If requested,
Operator shall from time to time and as often as the Authority may require, file with the Authority lists of the trips
of the airlines for whose passengers and baggage it is providing service and the departures and arrivals of vehicles
to serve these flights. Operator will also, as often as the Authority may require, provide the Authority with a current
and up-to-date list of all vehicles owned or leased on a long-term basis by it which are used in this service.
2.

In the Airport Ground Transportation Service, Operator may use a mixture of taxis, limousines,

passenger vans or other vehicles as may be required to best serve the public in its desire for ground transportation
between the Airport and various locations in the Airport service area. All vehicles used must be heated and air
conditioned. The Authority shall have the right to specify the number of vehicles in each classification to be
operated under the provisions of this Concession Agreement.
3.

Operator shall furnish at its own expense drivers, dispatchers, clerks and such other employees,

all fully and distinctively uniformed, as may be necessary for the proper conduct of its Ground Transportation
Service and all of such employees shall possess all permits, licenses, approvals and certificates required by any
applicable regulation of the Authority or laws of Charlotte County, the State of Florida, the United States or other
governmental body.
4.

Operator shall maintain during the Term of this Concession Agreement, in addition to the above-

mentioned manpower and permits, all necessary motor vehicles, material and other items requisite to the
performance of the services contemplated by this Concession Agreement.
5.

Operator shall at all times keep its motor vehicles in a good state of repair, clean and neat in

appearance, and any vehicle not meeting this standard must be removed from service by the Operator. All vehicles
of like classification shall be uniform in color and each shall bear the Operator’s insignia, telephone number and an
individual fleet number easily discernable on both right and left sides of the vehicle for purpose of identification.
All taxi-cabs shall be of same color and all passenger vans shall be of the same color (this may be different from the
taxi-cabs) except, with the approval of the Authority, said requirements for uniformity in color may be waived for
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special luxury-type limousine vehicles.
The Authority shall have the right to disapprove the use of any motor vehicles because of color,
mechanical condition, design or general appearance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Operator, in an
emergency, or to meet an unusual or unforeseen demand for service, shall have the right, subject to the approval of
the Authority and for a limited period of time only, to engage from others, vehicles of the classification permitted
under the terms of this Concession Agreement for the purpose of rendering transportation service under the terms
hereof. In no event shall the number of vehicles obtained from others exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the total
number of vehicles owned or leased on a long-term basis and operated by Operator under the terms of this
Concession Agreement.
6.

The passenger van or shuttle service shall be scheduled to the cities designated by the Authority

so that under normal conditions not more than one hour shall elapse between departures to such cities, however,
no passenger shall have to wait more than thirty (30) minutes for such service. Subject to the provisions of Article
VI D, it is understood that service to each city shall be scheduled to provide for the first aircraft scheduled to depart
each day and service for the last plane scheduled to arrive at the end of the day (even if such aircraft is delayed).
7.

Jump seats in the shuttles shall be used only in extreme peaks so that all passengers may be

accommodated in the same type of seat, thereby offering the same standard of comfort in the same operating unit.
8.

Operator shall not allow its drivers to solicit tips from passengers.

9.

Fares shall be collected at the Airport or at the various points for pickup and delivery, but in no

event aboard the vehicle while it is in motion.
10.

Adequate baggage or trunk space to accommodate the normal amount of baggage for a full load

of passengers shall be provided on all vehicles. Such space shall be adequately protected so that the baggage will
not be damaged from exposure to weather or from loading or unloading processes or by moving about while en
route.
11.

Operator shall so govern the movement and stopping of its vehicles on the Airport so as not to

create congestion in the passenger loading and unloading areas or on the driveways in and around the Terminal
Building area or any other driveways or parking areas. The Operator shall not permit any of its vehicles to be
parked on the area described in the preceding sentences (except in the parking areas designated by the Authority
for use by the Operator).
12.

The Operator will abide by all State and Federal regulations on wages and hours of an employee

dealing with the employment relationship between Operator and its subsidiaries or related parties and its
employees, including but not limited to the Federal National Labor Relations Act, the Federal Fair Labor Standards
Act and the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 as amended.
13.

The Operator shall use its best efforts to coordinate its activities with and adjust its activities to the

needs and requirements of the various users of the Terminal and to perform its activities so as not to annoy,
disturb, endanger, unreasonably interfere with or delay the operations or activities of any other Airport tenants or
occupants, or be offensive to others at the Airport.
14.
The Operator will issue to the Operator’s employee(s) an identification badge (ID badge) that
will display their name and other critical information. The Operator’s employee(s) shall display such badges
prominently on their uniforms at all times while on Airport property and while providing Ground Transportation
Service. Before an application for an ID badge can be processed, the Operator shall certify to the Authority that
such employee has passed a drug screening test and that any and all background checks required by the Authority
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and/or the TSA have been completed. The Operator shall maintain a permanent record in its files of the
background information on all its current and former employees who are utilized in the performance of this
Concession Agreement and shall provide to Authority or TSA such information regarding its employees as may be
requested. The Operator further agrees to perform such additional employee background checks, fingerprinting or
other identification measures as may be required by any future security rules or applicable federal regulations.
15.

The Operator shall maintain a drug-free workplace within the meaning of the Drug-free

Workplace Act. When reasonably practicable, Operator shall hire no employee for work on Authority’s Premises
prior to such employee having tested negative for drugs. In addition, existing employees of the Operator must be
subject to drug testing by the Operator upon reasonable suspicion of drug use.
16.

All employees of the Operator while on duty shall wear a uniform and badge clearly identifying

themselves as company employees, and all employees of the Operator while riding as passengers in any of the
Operator’s vehicles shall carry papers identifying themselves as such employees.
17.

Operator shall not solicit, nor shall it permit, any driver, starter, checker or any other person

employed by it in connection with this Ground Transportation Service to solicit or patronize for any restaurant,
hotel, resorts, rental car agency or other business establishment other than through messages played to callers
over the Operators telephone line while callers are on “hold”.
18.

Operator shall require that its employees conduct themselves in a quiet and orderly manner and

not engage in any illegal, immoral or bawdy conduct while on duty and Operator shall not continue to employ any
employee guilty of such actions.
19.

Operator shall always keep the approved established fares posted in each vehicle in full view of

the passengers and also in full view in the office of Operator at the Airport.
20.

Operator may also provide charter service in limousines, van, or larger vehicles at the request

of airlines or other either in local or inter-city service incident to air travel provided such charter service does
not interfere with its obligations always to have vehicles available for the service under this ARTICLE VII of this
Concession Agreement. The Operator may also provide small package and delayed baggage pickup and delivery
service for airlines and others within the Airport trade area provided such package and baggage services do not
interfere with its obligations under this Concession Agreement. However, Operator will not undertake to provide
other ground transportation services to the general public outside of its Airport contracts and obligations without
the prior written consent of the Authority.
ARTICLE VI I I
ADDITIONAL OBLIGATIONS OF OPERATOR
In addition to the obligations of the Operator as set forth in the other provisions of this Concession
Agreement, Operator covenants and agrees during the Term hereof that:
1.

It will install no equipment, fixtures or signs of any kind or type within or upon the Premises, or

construct any improvements or make any alterations to the Premises, without submitting plans therefor to the
Authority and receiving written approval of said plans from the Authority prior to commencing any such
installation, improvement or alteration, which written approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
2.

Except as provided in ARTICLE X hereof, it will be responsible for the payment of all expenses in

connection with the use of the Premises and the rights and privileges granted herein, including without limitation
by reason of enumeration, taxes, permit fees, license fees, and assessments lawfully levied or assessed upon its
property at any time situated upon the Premises, and it will secure all permits and licenses required for
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construction of improvements or operation of its business at the Airport.

3.

When applicable, it shall keep the Premises in a neat, orderly and clean condition and it shall be

responsible for maintaining the Premises, and delivering the same to the Authority at the termination of this
Concession Agreement, in good condition and repair, reasonable wear and tear excepted, and structural
maintenance and repair not caused by its negligence or by its willful act or that of its agents, servants, employees,
customers, invitees or licensees also excepted. Without limiting the generality of this obligation, Operator will, at its
own expense, be responsible as follows: (i) it shall repair and maintain all equipment, furniture, furnishing and
installations which it owns or leases or which are furnished to it; (ii) maintenance of the Premises shall be
conducted and janitorial service shall be performed at a level consistent with that conducted and performed by the
Authority in comparable space. Spare equipment not used in regular daily operations shall be stored in areas
designated by the Authority and separately leased for such storage purposes; and (iii) it shall provide complete and
proper arrangements for handling and disposing of unused equipment, garbage, trash, and other refuse away from
the Airport, caused as a result of Operator’s operations on the Airport.
ARTICLE IX
ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF THE A U T H O R I T Y
The Authority retains for itself any and all rights and powers not especially granted to Operator; however,
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Authority shall have the following specific rights in addition to
the rights of the Authority set forth in the other provisions of this Concession Agreement:
A.

Rights of Entry and Inspection and Other Rights. The Authority shall have the right to enter the

Premises for the purpose of inspecting such Premises and of doing any and all things with reference to said
Premises which the Authority is obligated or authorized to do as set forth herein. The Authority, through its
employees, agents, representatives, contractors, and furnishers or utilities and other services shall have the right
for its own benefit, for the benefit of Operator, or for the benefit of other tenants at the Airport, to maintain upon
the Premises existing and future utility, mechanical, electric and other systems and services and to enter upon the
Premises at all reasonable times to make such repairs, replacements or alterations to such systems or services as
the Authority may deem necessary or advisable, and, from time to time, to construct or install over, in or under, the
Premises, new systems or parts thereof, and to use the Premises for access to other parts of the Airport otherwise
not conveniently accessible; provided, however, that the exercise of such rights shall not unreasonably interfere
with the use and occupancy of the Premises by Operator, and that every reasonable effort shall be made to restore
the Premises to the condition existing prior to the exercise of such rights. Except in an emergency, any
maintenance work in, on, under or over the Premises shall be coordinated with Operator’s local representative
prior to being initiated. The exercise of any or all of such rights by the Authority, or others acting on behalf of the
Authority, shall not be construed to be an eviction of the Operator.
B.

Rights During National Emergency. The Authority expressly reserves the right, during times of

national emergency declared by the President of the United States, to lease the Airport or any part thereof to the
United States Government if said Airport facilities are required for United States Government use. In the event such
a lease is executed, the rights and privileges of this Concession Agreement, insofar as they are inconsistent with the
rights and privileges of the lease of the United States Government, shall be temporarily suspended and feess abated
appropriately.
9

ARTICLE X
OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUTHORITY
The Authority agrees, at its own expense, to be responsible for all structural maintenance and repair,
except for maintenance or repairs necessitated by the negligence or by the willful act of Operator, its agents,
servants, employees, customers, invitees or licensees.
ARTICLE XI
ASSIGNMENT
Operator shall have no right to assign any of its rights and privileges under this Concession Agreement, nor
shall Operator permit any transfer of Operator’s interest in this Concession by operation of law without the prior
written consent of the Authority, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Consent by the Authority to
any assignment or transfer of interest under this Concession Agreement, or subletting of the Premises or any part
thereof shall be limited to the instance stated in such written consent and shall not constitute a release, waiver, or
consent to any other assignment, transfer of interest, or subletting, and notwithstanding any such assignment,
transfer of interest, or subletting, Operator shall continue to be liable for the performance of Operator’s obligations
under this Concession Agreement.
ARTICLE XII TERMINATION
AND DEFAULT
A.

Termination and Timely Surrender. Operator agrees to yield and deliver up to the Authority

possession of the Premises hereunder promptly at the termination of this Concession Agreement, by expiration or
otherwise, in good condition, reasonable wear and tear excepted, and in accordance with Operator’s express
obligations hereunder. Operator shall have the right at any time during the term, or any renewal or extension
hereof, and for thirty (30) days after the termination hereof, to remove any furniture, fixtures, equipment or other
property installed or placed by it at its expense in the Premises; subject, however, to any unpaid feess or fees and
subject to the repair, at Operator’s expense, of any damage to the Premises or the Airport or the property of others
caused by such removal, including all expenses of restoring the same to its previous condition. In the event
Operator shall, prior to the expiration of said thirty (30) day period, fail to
remove any furniture, fixtures, equipment, or other personal property installed or placed by it on the Premises, the
Authority may make such removal, and Operator agrees to pay all expenses for removal, all costs or damage to
Airport property or the property of others damaged by such removal, all storage charges and all expenses of
restoration. The foregoing provisions shall not be construed to imply that Operator shall have any right whatsoever to
place any property on any part of the Airport other than the Premises.
B.

Cancellation by Operator. Operator shall have the right to cancel this Concession Agreement by

written notice to the Authority of its election to do so upon the happening of one or more of the following events:
1.

The permanent closure of the Airport as an Air Carrier Airport by act of any federal, state or local

government agency having competent jurisdiction;
2.

The issuance by any court of competent jurisdiction of an injunction, order, or decree preventing

or restraining the use by Operator of all or any substantial part of the Premises, or preventing or restraining the
use of the Airport for normal Airport purposes or the use of any part thereof which may be used by Operator and
which is necessary for Operator’s operation on the Airport, which remains in force for a period of at least ninety
(90) days;
10

3.

The substantial breach by the Authority of any of the terms, covenants, commitments or

conditions of this Concession Agreement to be kept, performed and observed by the Authority and the failure of the
Authority to remedy such breach, within a period of thirty (30) days after written notice from Operator of the
existence of such breach, or if such event or default cannot with reasonable diligence be removed or cured within a
period of thirty (30) days, then upon the failure of the Authority to commence to cure or remove the same within
said thirty (30) day period and to proceed with due diligence to complete the remedying of said default;
4.

If the United States Government or any of its agencies shall occupy the Airport or any

substantial part thereof to such an extent as to interfere materially and adversely with Operator’s operation for a
period of sixty (60) consecutive days or more;
5.

If scheduled airlines should no longer service the Airport; or

6.

Pursuant to Article XIV - C hereof.

C.

Operator’s Default. If any one or more of the following events (sometimes herein called

“Events of Default”) shall happen:
1.

If Operator shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors;

2.

If Operator shall file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or if a petition seeking its

reorganization or the readjustment of its indebtedness under the federal bankruptcy laws or similar state laws
shall be filed by or against Operator;
3.

If an involuntary petition in bankruptcy shall be filed against Operator and Operator is

thereafter adjudicated a bankrupt thereunder;
4.

If Operator shall consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, or liquidator of all or

substantially all of the property of Operator;
5.
If Operator shall voluntarily abandon and discontinue use of the Premises for the purpose
approved herein for a period of thirty (30) consecutive days;
6.

If Operator shall abandon or discontinue any of its routes or operations without the prior

approval of the Authority;
7.

If Operator shall fail to pay the feesal charges or other money payments required by this

Concession Agreement and such failure shall not be remedied within ten (10) days following receipt by
Operator or written demand from the Authority to do so; or
8.

If Operator shall default in fulfilling any of the other terms, covenants, or conditions to be

fulfilled by it hereunder and shall fail to remedy such default in thirty (30) days after written notice by the
Authority of the existence of such default, or if such default cannot with reasonable diligence be cured within a
period of thirty (30) days, then upon the failure of Operator to commence to cure such default within said thirty
(30) day period and to proceed with due diligence to complete the remedying of said default; or
9.

Pursuant to ARTICLE XIII - C hereof; the Authority shall have the right, without demand or

notice, to re-enter and take possession of the Premises without being guilty of trespass, and at its election, by
written notice to Operator, either (i) to terminate this Concession Agreement in its entirety, or (ii) to terminate
Operator’s right to possession or occupancy of the Premises only without terminating this Concession
Agreement in its entirety, all without prejudice to any other remedies the Authority may have as provided by
law.
If the Authority shall at any time elect to terminate this Concession Agreement in its entirety as
above provided, the Authority, in addition to any other remedies it may have, may recover from Operator all
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damages it may incur by reason of the happening of such event of default, including attorneys fees and the cost of
recovering the Premises and including the worth at the time of such termination of the excess, if any, of the
amount of Concession Fees reserved in this Concession Agreement for the remainder of the Term over the then
reasonable amount, which the Authority could obtain over the remainder of the Term, from using the Premises,
and granting the operating rights provided for herein, to another party or parties, all of which amounts shall be
immediately due and payable by Operator to the Authority.
If the Authority shall at any time elect to terminate Operator’s right to the Premises only without
terminating this Concession Agreement in its entirety, Operator shall remain liable for the payment of fees
hereunder, except to the extent that the Authority may receive such fees by reusing the Premises, after first having
applied any such fees so obtained from reusing the Premises to the payment of the costs of such reusing, including
the costs of attorney’s fees, and the costs of any repairs, alterations necessary or advisable for such reusing. If the
fees collected from reletting is more than sufficient to pay the full amount of the fees reserved hereunder, together
with the aforementioned costs, the Authority shall apply any surplus to the extent thereof to the discharge of any
obligation of Operator to the Authority under the terms of the Concession Agreement, including future installments
of fees and any sum then remaining shall belong to the Authority, and not Operator. The Authority shall use due
diligence to reuse the Premises. Such reletting may be for such term and for such fees as the Authority may deem
advisable, even though the term of any reletting may extend beyond the unexpired portion of the Term of this
Concession Agreement. If the Authority shall have elected to terminate Operators right to possession or occupancy
only, the Authority may, at any time, thereafter, elect to terminate this Concession Agreement in its entirety as
provided above.
If, for any of the reasons specified above, the Authority shall either terminate this Concession Agreement
in its entirety or terminate Operator’s right to possession only, Operator’s right to continue its ground
transportation business at the Airport shall thereupon cease and Operator shall have thirty (30) days within which
to remove all personal property installed in or upon the Premises by Operator, subject to any unpaid fees or fees
subject to the repair, at Operator’s expense, of any damages to the Premises or the Airport or the property of
others caused by such removal, including all expenses of restoring the same to its previous condition. If said
personal property is not so removed, the Authority may have the same removed and placed in storage at Operator’s
cost and expense.
ARTICLE XIII
DAMAGE TO PREMISES BY CASUALTY
A.

Partial Damage. If any part of the Premises or public facilities adjacent to the Premises shall be

partially damaged by fire or other casualty, but such damage does not render the Premises untenantable for the
purposes for which the same are leased hereunder, the same shall be repaired to usable condition with due
diligence by the Authority at its own cost and expense.
B.

Substantial Damage. If any part of the Premises or the public facilities adjacent to the Premises

shall be so extensively damaged by fire or other casualty as to render said Premises untenantable for the purposes
for which the same are leased hereunder, but if said damage is capable of being repaired in sixty
(60) days, the same shall be repaired and the Premises restored to usable condition with due diligence by the
Authority at its own cost and expense. In such case, the fees payable hereunder by Operator to the Authority with
respect to the Premises shall be paid up to the time of such damage and shall thereafter be abated equitably in
proportion to the diminution of the usefulness of the Premises until such time as such damage shall be repaired
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adequately for said Premises to become tenantable for the operation of Operator’s Ground Transportation Service
as described in ARTICLE I hereof. The Authority will use its best efforts to provide Operator with suitable
alternative facilities to continue its operations while repairs are being completed.
C.

Extensive Damage. If any part of the Premises or the public facilities adjacent to the Premises shall

be damaged by fire or other casualty so extensively as to render said Premises untenantable for the purposes for
which the same are being used hereunder and if said damage is incapable of being repaired in sixty (60) days,
either the Authority or the Operator may cancel this Concession Agreement as of the date such damage occurred,
by giving the other written notice of its election to do so within ten (10) days after such damage occurs, but if this
Concession Agreement is not canceled by either the Authority or Operator, the Authority shall, at its own expense,
repair such damage and restore the Premises to usable condition and the fees payable hereunder by Operator to the
Authority with respect to the Premises shall be paid up to the time of such damage and shall thereafter be abated
until such time as such damage shall be repaired adequately for said Premises to become tenantable for the
operation of Operator’s Ground Transportation Service as described in ARTICLE I hereof.
D.
Damage Due to Operator’s Negligence. In the event that the Premises or the public facilities
adjacent to the Premises shall be damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty or otherwise due directly or
indirectly to the negligence or willful act of Operator, or one or more of its employees or agents (acting within the
course or scope of their employment), there shall be no abatement of fees during the restoration of said Premises,
the foregoing provisions of this ARTICLE XIII notwithstanding, and Operator shall have no option to cancel this
Concession Agreement under the provisions of Paragraph C of this ARTICLE XIII and to the extent that the cost of
repairs shall exceed the amount of any insurance proceeds payable to the Authority by reason of such damage or
destruction, Operator shall pay the amount of such cost to the Authority, such payment to be without prejudice to
any other rights or remedies the Authority may have against the Operator by reason of such damage or destruction.
ARTICLE XIV
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE
A.

Indemnification - Authority Held Harmless. Except where otherwise specifically provided herein or

where caused by the willful acts or negligence of the Authority, its agents or employees, it is an express condition of
this Concession Agreement that the Authority and the appointed officials, officers, agents and employees of the
Authority shall be free from any and all claims, debts, demands, liabilities, or causes of action of every kind or
character, whether in law or in equity, by reason of death, injury or damage to any person or persons, or loss of
damage or destruction of property or loss of use thereof, whether it be the person or property of Operator, its
agents or employees, or of any other persons, from any cause or causes whatsoever arising from any event or
occurrence in or upon the Premises or any part thereof, or otherwise arising from Operators operations at the
Airport or as the result of anything done or omitted by Operator, and Operator shall indemnify and save harmless
the Authority, its appointed officials, officers, agents and employees against and from any and all such claims,
demands, debts, liabilities and causes of action including reimbursing the Authority for all expenses, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection therewith. The Authority shall give to Operator prompt and
reasonable written notice of any such claim or action known to it, and Operator shall have the right to investigate,
compromise, and defend the same to the extent of its own interest.
B.

General Insurance Requirements. The following general provisions shall apply to the

insurance required of Operator under this Concession Agreement:
1.

Insurance Required for Duration of Agreement. Any and all insurance required by this Agreement
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shall be maintained by Operator during the entire length of this Concession Agreement, including any extensions
thereto. The Authority shall have the right to inquire into the adequacy of the insurance coverages set forth in this
Agreement and to negotiate such adjustments as reasonably appear necessary.
2.

Mandatory 30-day Notice of Cancellation or Material Change. The Authority shall, without

exception, be given not less than thirty (30) days’ notice prior to cancellation for other than non-payment of
premium or prior to any material change of any insurance required by this Agreement. Non-payment of premium
shall require ten (10) days’ notice of cancellation. Confirmation of this mandatory thirty (30) days’ notice of
cancellation shall appear on the Accord Certificate of Insurance and on all insurance policies required by this
Concession Agreement.
3.

Authority as Additional Insured. The Authority shall be covered as Additional Insured under any

and all insurance required by this Concession Agreement, and such insurance shall be primary with respect to the
Additional Insured. Confirmation of this shall appear on the Accord Certificate of Insurance, and on any applicable
insurance policies.
4.

Authorization and Licensing of Agent. Each and every agent acting as Authorized Representative

on behalf of a company affording coverage shall warrant when signing the Accord Certificate of Insurance that
specific authorization has been granted by the companies for the agent to bind coverage as required and to execute
the Accord Certificate of Insurance as evidence of such coverage. In addition, each and every agent shall warrant
when signing the Accord Certificate of Insurance that the agent is licensed to do business in the State of Florida and
that the company or companies are currently approved by the Florida Department of Transportation.
C.

General Liability Insurance. Operator shall procure and maintain General Liability Insurance in an

amount not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) Bodily Injury and Property Damage combined single
limit.
D.

Automobile Liability Insurance. Operator shall procure and maintain Automobile Liability

Insurance with not less than One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) Bodily Injury and Property Damage combined
single limit. The following extension of coverage shall be provided and shall be indicated on the Certificate of
Insurance:
1.

Commercial General Liability with Broad Form Endorsement;

2.

Owned, hired, leased and non-owned vehicles to be covered (unless waived in writing by the
Authority); and

3.

Garage and Garage Keepers Liability.

In the event Operator does not own any automobiles in its corporate name, non-owned vehicle coverage shall apply
and must be endorsed on the Commercial General Liability coverage required under this Concession Agreement.
E.

Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance. Operator shall procure and maintain

Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance in the following limits, such insurance to cover each and
every employee of Operator:
1.

Workers’ Compensation Employer’s Liability - Statutory;

2.

Employer’s Liability: (a) Bodily Injury by Accident/Disease - $100,000 each accident; (b)

Bodily Injury by Accident/Disease - $100,000 each employee; and (c) Bodily Injury by Accident/Disease $500,000 policy limit.
F.

Fire Insurance. The Authority shall maintain standard fire and extended coverage as well as boiler
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and other vessel insurance on the Terminal Building including, but not limited to, improvements made by
Operator, title to which have vested in the Authority. All such insurance will be to the extent of at least eighty
percent (80%) of full replacement value less a standard disappearing deductible clause.
G.

Waiver of Subrogation. The Authority releases Operator, to the extent of proceeds received by the

Authority from its insurance coverage, from any liability for loss or damage caused by fire or any of the extended
coverage perils included in the Authority’s insurance policies even if such fire or other casualty should
be brought about by the default or negligence of Operator or its subtenants or the agents or employees of any of
them; provided that this release shall be in effect only with respect to loss or damage occurring during the time
that the Authority’s policies for fire and extended coverage insurance contain a clause to the effect that this release
shall not affect the right of the Authority to recover under such policies. The Authority will request each insurance
company writing its fire and extended coverage insurance policies to include such a clause but only so long as it is
includable without extra cost or, if extra cost is chargeable therefor, only so long as Operator pays such extra cost.
If extra cost is chargeable therefor, the Authority will advise Operator of such extra cost, and Operator, at its
election, may pay the same, but shall have no obligation to do so.
Operator released the Authority, to the extent of the proceeds received by the Operator from its insurance
coverage on its property on the Premises from any liability for loss or damage caused by fire or any of the extended
coverage perils included in Operator’s insurance policies covering its property on the Premises even if such fire or
other casualty should be brought about by the default or negligence of the Authority, its agents, or employees;
provided that this release shall be in effect only with respect to loss or damage occurring during the time that
Operator’s policies for fire and extended coverage insurance contain a clause to the effect that this release shall not
affect the right of Operator to recover under such policies.
Operator will request each insurance company writing fire and extended coverage insurance policies covering its
property on the Premises to include such a clause but only so long as it is includable without extra cost, or if extra
cost is chargeable therefor, only so long as the Authority pays such extra cost. If extra cost is chargeable therefor,
Operator will advise the Authority of such extra cost, and the Authority, at its election, may pay the same, but shall
have no obligation to do so.
ARTICLE XV
COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS
Operator covenants and agrees to observe and comply with, and this Concession Agreement shall be subject
to, all requirements of the constituted public authorities, all federal, state and local statutes, laws ordinances, rules,
regulations and standards now and hereafter in force, which may be applicable to the operation of its business at
the Airport, including, but not limited to, such Rules and Regulations as may be adopted by the Authority and,
without in any manner limiting the generality of the foregoing, rules and regulations of the Authority or other
governmental unit pertaining to the use or employment of socially and economically disadvantaged individuals,
laws, rules and regulations pertaining to the minorities, and laws, rules and regulations pertaining to handicapped
persons insofar as they may be applicable to Operator.

ARTICLE XVI ENVIRONMENTAL
CONCERNS
Operator shall not cause or permit any gasoline, oil or hazardous, toxic or dangerous waste, substance or
material to be used or placed on, under, or about the Airport, including the Premises, in violation of any
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governmental laws or regulations or rulings, either federal or state, applicable to environmental concerns,
including, without limitation, the Florida Oil Pollution and Hazardous Substances Control Act, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Toxic
Substances Control Act and the Clean Water Act. In the event Operator becomes aware that any gasoline, oil or
hazardous, toxic or dangerous waste, substance or material has been used or placed by it or its agents, servants or
employees on the Airport, including the Premises, in violation of any such governmental law, regulation or ruling,
Operator shall immediately notify the Authority in writing of such fact, and if such occurrence results from a breach
by Operator of its obligations hereunder, Operator shall, at Operator’s expense, take such remedial action as is
necessary to correct any such violation, remove from the Airport such substances and materials giving rise to any
such violation, and take such action as is necessary to prevent a recurrence of such violation.
Operator shall keep and hold harmless the Authority from and against any and all costs of clean up or
other remedial actions, claims, demands, suits, judgments, fines, penalties, costs and expenses for violations of any
such governmental law, regulation, or ruling resulting from Operator’s operations hereunder upon the Airport,
including the Premises; and Operator shall reimburse the Authority for all expenses, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection therewith. The Authority shall give to Operator prompt and reasonable
written notice of any such claim or action known to it, and Operator shall have the right to investigate,
compromise, and defend the same to the extent of its own interest.
ARTICLE XVII GENERAL
PROVISIONS
A.

Quiet Enjoyment - Peaceful Possession. The Authority represents that it has the right to lease said

Premises and appurtenances together with all the facilities, rights and privileges herein granted, and has full power
and Authority to enter into this Concession Agreement in respect thereto; and the Authority covenants that upon
the performance of the agreements on the part of the Operator to be performed hereunder, Operator shall
peaceably hold and quietly enjoy said Premises, appurtenances, facilities, rights and privileges.
B.

Non-Discrimination. Operator, for itself and its successors in interest and assigns, as a part of the

consideration hereof, does hereby covenant and agree that (1) no person on the ground of race, color or national
origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefit of, or be otherwise subject to discrimination in
the above use of said facilities, (2) that in construction of any improvement on, over or under such Premises and
the furnishing of services thereof, no person on the grounds of race, color, or national origin shall be excluded from
participation in, denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination, (3) that Operator shall use the
Premises in compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal
Regulations, Department of Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Non-discrimination in
Federally-assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation- Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of
1964, and as such Regulation may be amended.
In the event of the breach of any of the above non-discrimination covenants, the Authority shall have the
right to terminate this Concession Agreement and to re-enter and re-possess said Premises, and hold the same as if
this Concession Agreement had never been made or issued, provided, however, that this provision shall not be
effective until the procedures of Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 21 are followed and completed including
exercise or expiration of appeal rights.
C.

Affirmative Action. Operator assures that it will undertake an affirmative action program as

required by 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to the extent the same may be applicable to Operator or to the use of the
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Premises, to insure that no person shall on the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, or sex, be excluded on
these grounds, from participation in or receiving the services or benefits of any program or activity covered by its
Subpart; that it will require that its covered subtenants or concessionaires, if any, provide assurances to Operator
that they similarly will undertake affirmative action programs and that they will require assurance from their
suborganizations, as required by 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to the same effect.
D.

Accessibility to Physically-Handicapped. To the extent the requirements of Section 504 of the

Rehabilitation Act of 1973 and 49 CFR Part 27 apply to the construction of any facilities by Operator on the Premises
or any part thereof, such facilities shall be designed, constructed and operated so that the facility is accessible to,
and usable by, handicapped persons; and in order to assure such design, construction and use, Operator will design
and construct the facility in accordance with the American National Standard Institute “Standard Specifications for
Making Buildings and Facilities Accessible to, and Usable by, the Physically Handicapped (ANSI A 117.1 1961 [r1971]”, which standards are incorporated herein and made a part of this Concession Agreement.
E.

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Program. Operator acknowledges that Authority is subject to

the requirements of 49 CFR 23, Subpart F (“the Regulation”) to maximize the business opportunities at the Airport
to socially and economically disadvantaged persons (“Disadvantaged Business Enterprise” or “DBE”), and the
interpretations of the Regulation that may be made and enforced upon Authority (“DBE Requirements”) from time
to time by the Department of Transportation (“DOT”). Operator agrees to honor and abide by any and all
provisions of its Proposal with respect to DBEs. Operator also agrees that its rights hereunder shall be subordinate
to any such DBE Requirements that shall be placed on Authority by DOT pursuant to the Regulation and to amend
or adjust its practices hereunder to the extent necessary to enable Authority to comply with such DBE
Requirements: provided however, should Operator, in its discretion exercised in good faith, determine that it
cannot comply with any such DBE Requirements then it shall have the right, upon sixty (60) days written notice, to
cancel this Concession Agreement; and further provided, that should Operator fail to comply with any such DBE
Requirements but not exercise its right to cancel this Concession Agreement, Authority may cancel this Concession
Agreement upon sixty (60) days notice to Operator.
F.

Failure to Enforce. The failure by the Authority to enforce, for any period or periods, any of the

terms, covenants and conditions herein contained shall not be deemed a waiver of any rights on the part of the
Authority to enforce said terms, covenants and conditions at a later date, nor shall any failure by the Authority to
enforce any of the terms of this Concession Agreement be construed to be or act as a waiver by the Authority of any
subsequent rights so to enforce, or excuse the failure of Operator to perform its obligations under the Agreement.
G.

Invalid Provisions. It is expressly understood and agreed by and between the parties hereto that in

the event any covenant, condition or provision herein contained is held to be invalid, the invalidity of any such
covenant, condition or provision shall in no way effect any other covenant, condition or provision herein
contained; provided, however, that the invalidity of any such covenant, condition or provision does not materially
prejudice either the Authority or Operator in their respective rights and obligations contained in the valid
covenants, conditions or provisions or the Concession Agreement.
H.

Non-Waiver. The payment or acceptance of fees by the parties hereto for any period after a default

of any of the terms, covenants, and conditions herein contained to be kept, performed and observed by said parties
shall not be deemed as a waiver of any rights on the part of either of them to terminate this Concession Agreement
for any subsequent failure or for the continued failure by the other party so to perform, keep and observe the terms,
conditions or covenants hereof to be performed, kept and observed by such other party. No waiver by either party
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of any of the terms of this Concession Agreement to be kept, performed, and observed by other party shall be
construed to be or act as a waiver of any subsequent default on the part of that party.
I.

Holding Over. In the event Operator shall hold over and remain in possession of the

Premises or exercise the privileges herein granted after expiration of this Concession Agreement without any
written approval thereof, such holding over shall be merely a tenancy at will and at a fee to be fixed by the
Authority, payable upon demand, but otherwise on all terms and conditions herein provided except those
with respect to the Term and fees.
J.

Subordination. This Concession Agreement shall be subject and subordinate to the

provisions of the Federal Airports Act of 1946, as amended, or any future act which replaced the Federal
Airports Act of 1946 relative to the operation, maintenance and development of the Airport or to any
agreement entered into between the Authority and the United States Government pursuant to the Federal
Airport Act of 1946.
K.

Interpretation. This Concession Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the

State of Florida. Nothing in this Concession Agreement shall be construed or interpreted in any manner
whatsoever as limiting, relinquishing, or waiving any rights of ownership enjoyed by the Authority in the Airport
property or in any manner waiving or limiting its control over the operation or maintenance of Airport property
or in derogation of such governmental rights as the Authority may possess, except as is specifically provided for
herein.
L.

Prevention of Performance. In the event the Operator’s performance of its obligation is prevented

or interrupted for a period of time in excess of thirty (30) days by strike, riot, storm, flood, act of God, state of war,
or other emergency or any other cause beyond the control of Operator, it will not be required to perform Ground
Transportation Services hereunder for the period such condition continues, and the Minimum Annual Guarantee
under ARTICLE VI hereof shall be abated for each month during the Term hereof during which such condition
continues. Notwithstanding any such abatement of the Minimum Annual Guarantee, Operator shall continue to
pay to the Authority five percent (5%) of its Gross Revenues during the period of such abatement.
M.
Successor and Assigns Bound by Covenant. All covenants, stipulations and agreements in
this Concession Agreement shall extend to and bind the legal representatives, heirs, successors and assigns including
successor-in-interest by merger or consolidation of the respective parties hereto.
N.

No Partnership Created. No partnership relationship between the parties hereto or joint venture is

created by this Concession Agreement, and Operator is not made the agent or representative of the Authority for any
purpose or in any manner whatsoever .Operator is Independent Operator. It is expressly understood and agreed by
and between the parties hereto that the Operator is and shall be an independent operator responsible to all parties
for all of its acts or omissions and the Authority shall be in no way responsible for its acts or omissions.
O.

Notices. Any notice or other communication from either party to the other pursuant to this

Concession Agreement shall be deemed sufficiently given or communicated if sent by hand delivery or by
certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed to the party for whom intended at the
following address:
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For the Operator:

For the Authority: President/CEO
Charlotte County Airport Authority
28000 A-1 Airport Road
Punta Gorda, Florida 33982
or to such other address as the parties hereto may hereafter direct in writing.
P.

No Personal Liability. No member, director, officer, agent or employee of either party shall be

charged personally or held contractually liable by or to the other party under any terms or provisions of this
Concession Agreement.
Q.

Headings. The article and paragraph headings are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for

reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provision of this Concession Agreement.
R.

Construction. Each term and provision of this Concession Agreement shall be construed to be

both a covenant and a condition.
S.

Survival of Obligations. Any obligation of either of the parties, including the obligation to pay fees,

preserve records, provide indemnity, or do any other act or thing which is required to be performed after the
expiration of the Term hereof, or which by its nature is to be performed after the expiration of the Term hereof,
shall survive the expiration of such Term and shall remain binding upon the party which is required to keep or
perform the same until such obligation has been discharged by such party in full.
T.

Entire Agreement. This instrument contains all the agreements and conditions made between the

parties hereto with respect to the matters contained herein and may not be modified orally or in any other manner
other than by agreement in writing, signed by both parties hereto or their respective successors.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals or caused these presence be
executed by and through their duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.

CHARLOTTE COUNTY AIRPORT AUTHORITY

By:
President/CEO
IN THE PRESENCE OF:
(CORPORATE SEAL)

By:
President
IN THE PRESENCE OF:
(CORPORATE SEAL)
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TO BE DEVELOPED
EXHIBIT “A”
ASSIGNED PREMISES

TO BE DEVELOPED
EXHIBIT “B -1” - BASE FARES
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TO BE DEVELOPED
EXHIBIT “B -2” - BASE FARES
ATCHISON TRANSPORTATION SERVICES, INC
AIRPORT FARES FOR DESIGNATED AREAS
ADDENDUM

PRICE

AREA

$10.00
$14.00
$18.00
$22.00
$24.00

TWO (2) MILE RADIUS
FOUR (4) MILE RADIUS
SIX (6) MILE RADIUS
EIGHT (8) MILE RADIUS
TEN (10) MILE RADIUS

The rates are for one or two people; add $12.00 per person for each person over 2. Rates
are driven mileage based on the best route to a particular location.
All locations within these distances will be charged the rates above.
Areas outside of these distances will be charged based on Zip Codes and/or
mileages.

June 18, 2007

2

EXHIBIT “C” – HISTORICAL GROSS REVENUE & TRANACTIONS

Year

Period
ID

2019

Oct

2019

Nov

2019

Dec

2019

Jan

2019

Feb

2019

Mar

2019

Apr

2019

May

2019

Jun

2019

Jul

2019

Aug

2019

Sep

Projected
Revenue

Total
Trips

1,799
2,012
2,230
1,768
2,085
2,937
7,152

2,384

4,728

1,576

5,112

1,704

5,412

1,804

3,696

1,232

2,304

768

Total Revenue

$ 5,397.00
$ 6,036.00
$ 6,690.00
$ 5,304.00
$ 6,255.00
$ 8,811.00
$ 7,152.00
$ 4,728.00
$ 5,112.00
$ 5,412.00
$ 3,696.00
$ 2,304.00

FORECASTED
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